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PART I – FINANCIAL INFORMATION 
 
Item 1.  Financial Statements 

 
NORTEK, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 

UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET 
(Dollar amounts in millions) 

 
July 4, December 31,
2009 2008

Assets
Current Assets:
Unrestricted cash and cash equivalents 172.0$               182.2$              
Restricted cash 0.8                     0.7                    
Accounts receivable, less allowances

of $14.1 and $14.5 260.8                 260.3                
Inventories:

Raw materials 78.3                   86.0                  
Work in process 22.8                   26.9                  
Finished goods 161.1                 183.4                

262.2                 296.3                

Prepaid expenses 12.7                   12.8                  
Other current assets 8.7                     9.5                    
Prepaid income taxes 9.6                     11.0                  

Total current assets 726.8                 772.8                

Property and Equipment, at Cost:
Land 11.1                   12.1                  
Buildings and improvements 102.4                 103.6                
Machinery and equipment 229.9                 222.6                

343.4                 338.3                
Less accumulated depreciation 150.1                 130.6                

Total property and equipment, net 193.3                 207.7                

Other Assets:
Goodwill 561.5                 810.8                
Intangible assets, less accumulated amortization

of $119.4 and $107.4 123.7                 135.4                
Deferred debt expense 39.4                   43.8                  
Restricted investments and marketable securities 2.4                     2.4                    
Other assets 5.2                     7.4                    

732.2                 999.8                
Total Assets 1,652.3$            1,980.3$           

 
 
 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements. 
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NORTEK, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 

UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET 
(Continued) 

(Dollar amounts in millions, except share data) 
 

 
July 4, December 31,
2009 2008

Liabilities and Stockholder’s Deficit

Current Liabilities:
Notes payable and other short-term obligations 18.4$                 32.7$                
Current maturities of long-term debt 40.1                   13.1                  
Long-term debt (see Note B) 6.1                     8.1                    
Accounts payable 135.7                 152.3                
Accrued expenses and taxes, net 188.3                 213.9                

Total current liabilities 388.6                 420.1                

Other Liabilities:
Deferred income taxes 25.1                   30.7                  
Long-term payable to affiliate (see Note A) 43.0                   43.1                  
Other 156.4                 160.7                

224.5                 234.5                

Notes, Mortgage Notes and Obligations
Payable, Less Current Maturities 1,534.2              1,545.5             

Commitments and Contingencies (see Note F)

Stockholder’s Deficit:
Common stock, $0.01 par value, authorized 3,000 shares;

3,000 issued and outstanding at July 4, 2009 and
December 31, 2008 --- ---

Additional paid-in capital 416.8                 416.7                
Accumulated deficit (890.2)                (612.1)               
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (21.6)                  (24.4)                 

Total stockholder's deficit (495.0)                (219.8)               
Total Liabilities and Stockholder's Deficit 1,652.3$            1,980.3$           

 
 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements. 
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NORTEK, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS 

 
 

July 4, 2009 June 28, 2008

Net Sales 487.8$                      647.1$                      

Costs and Expenses:
Cost of products sold (see Note C) 351.7                        473.3                        
Selling, general and administrative expense, net (see Note C) 95.8                          118.5                        
Goodwill impairment charge (see Note A) 250.0                        ---
Amortization of intangible assets 6.0                            8.4                            

703.5                        600.2                        
Operating (loss) earnings (215.7)                      46.9                          
Interest expense (37.7)                        (31.3)                        
Loss from debt retirement --- (9.9)                          
Investment income 0.1                            0.2                            
(Loss) earnings before (benefit) provision for income taxes (253.3)                      5.9                            
(Benefit) provision for income taxes (7.9)                          2.2                            
Net (loss) earnings (245.4)$                    3.7$                          

(Dollar amounts in millions)

For the second quarter ended

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements. 
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NORTEK, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS 

 
 

July 4, 2009 June 28, 2008

Net Sales 926.8$                      1,187.3$                   

Costs and Expenses:
Cost of products sold (see Note C) 669.2                        864.9                        
Selling, general and administrative expense, net (see Note C) 196.8                        237.0                        
Goodwill impairment charge (see Note A) 250.0                        ---
Amortization of intangible assets 11.9                          15.1                          

1,127.9                     1,117.0                     
Operating (loss) earnings (201.1)                      70.3                          
Interest expense (76.0)                        (58.7)                        
Loss from debt retirement --- (9.9)                          
Investment income 0.2                            0.4                            
(Loss) earnings before provision for income taxes (276.9)                      2.1                            
Provision for income taxes 1.2                            2.5                            

Net loss (278.1)$                    (0.4)$                        

(Dollar amounts in millions)

For the six months ended

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements. 
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NORTEK, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 

 

July 4, 2009 June 28, 2008

Cash Flows from operating activities:
Net loss (278.1)$                     (0.4)$                         

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash
provided by operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization expense 31.6                          36.0                         
Non-cash interest expense, net 5.0                             3.3                             
Non-cash goodwill impairment charge 250.0                         ---
Loss from debt retirement --- 9.9                             
Non-cash stock-based compensation expense 0.1                             0.1                             
Gain on sale of property and equipment (0.3)                           (2.5)                           
Deferred federal income tax benefit (4.1)                           (4.7)                           
Changes in certain assets and liabilities, net of 

effects from acquisitions and dispositions:
Accounts receivable, net (2.4)                           (44.8)                         
Inventories 33.3                           (20.4)                         
Prepaids and other current assets (2.1)                           (4.0)                           
Accounts payable (12.4)                         53.9                           
Accrued expenses and taxes (11.1)                         12.3                           
Long-term assets, liabilities and other, net (2.8)                           5.9                             

Total adjustments to net loss 284.8                         45.0                           
Net cash provided by operating activities 6.7                             44.6                           

Cash Flows from investing activities:
Capital expenditures (6.4)                           (15.9)                         
Net cash paid for businesses acquired (14.1)                         (32.7)                         
Proceeds from the sale of property and equipment 1.9                             6.2                             
Change in restricted cash and marketable securities (0.1)                           ---
Other, net (2.5)                           (1.9)                           

Net cash used in investing activities (21.2)                         (44.3)                         
Cash Flows from financing activities:
Increase in borrowings 22.0                           133.0                         
Payment of borrowings (17.7)                         (66.7)                         
Net proceeds from the sale of Nortek's 10% Senior Secured Notes due 2013 --- 742.2                         
Redemption of Nortek's senior secured credit facility --- (755.5)                       
Fees paid in connection with Nortek's new debt facilities --- (31.7)                         
Equity investment by THL-Nortek Investors, LLC --- 4.2                             
Other, net --- (0.1)                           

Net cash provided by financing activities 4.3                             25.4                           
Net change in unrestricted cash and cash equivalents (10.2)                         25.7                           
Unrestricted cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 182.2                         53.4                           
Unrestricted cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 172.0$                       79.1$                         

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Interest paid 72.8$                         47.4$                         

Income taxes paid, net 10.1$                         6.8$                           

(Dollar amounts in millions)

For the six months ended

 
The impact of changes in foreign currency exchange rates on cash was not material and has been included in Other, net. 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements. 
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NORTEK, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF STOCKHOLDER’S INVESTMENT 
FOR THE SECOND QUARTER ENDED JUNE 28, 2008 
(Dollar amounts in millions) 
 
 

Retained Accumulated
Additional Earnings Other

Paid-in (Accumulated Comprehensive Comprehensive
Capital Deficit) Income (Loss) Income

Balance, March 29, 2008 412.4$              164.5$            38.1$                $                    ---
Net income --- 3.7                   --- 3.7                         
Other comprehensive income:

Currency translation adjustment --- --- 0.9                     0.9                         
Comprehensive loss 4.6$                       

Capital contribution from parent 4.2                     --- ---
Stock-based compensation 0.1                     --- ---
Balance, June 28, 2008 416.7$               168.2$             39.0$                 

 
 
 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements. 
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NORTEK, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF STOCKHOLDER’S INVESTMENT 
FOR THE FIRST SIX MONTHS ENDED JUNE 28, 2008 
(Dollar amounts in millions) 
 
 

Retained Accumulated
Additional Earnings Other

Paid-in (Accumulated Comprehensive Comprehensive
Capital Deficit) Income (Loss) Income

Balance, December 31, 2007 412.4$              168.6$            37.7$                $                    ---
Net loss --- (0.4)                  --- (0.4)                        
Other comprehensive income:

Currency translation adjustment --- --- 1.3                     1.3                         
Comprehensive loss 0.9$                       

Capital contribution from parent 4.2                     --- ---
Stock-based compensation 0.1                     --- ---
Balance, June 28, 2008 416.7$               168.2$             39.0$                 

 
 
 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements. 
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NORTEK, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF STOCKHOLDER’S DEFICIT 
FOR THE SECOND QUARTER ENDED JULY 4, 2009 
(Dollar amounts in millions) 
 
 

Accumulated
Additional Other

Paid-in Accumulated Comprehensive Comprehensive
Capital Deficit (Loss) Income (Loss) Income

Balance, April 4, 2009 416.7$              (644.8)$           (26.0)$               $                    ---
Net loss --- (245.4)              --- (245.4)                    
Other comprehensive (loss) income:

Currency translation adjustment --- --- 5.5                     5.5                         
Pension liability adjustment --- --- (1.1)                    (1.1)                        

Comprehensive loss (241.0)$                  
Stock-based compensation 0.1                     --- ---
Balance, July 4, 2009 416.8$               (890.2)$            (21.6)$                

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements. 
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NORTEK, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF STOCKHOLDER’S DEFICIT 
FOR THE FIRST SIX MONTHS ENDED JULY 4, 2009 
(Dollar amounts in millions) 
 
 

Accumulated
Additional Other

Paid-in Accumulated Comprehensive Comprehensive
Capital Deficit (Loss) Income (Loss) Income

Balance, December 31, 2008 416.7$              (612.1)$           (24.4)$               $                    ---
Net loss --- (278.1)              --- (278.1)                    
Other comprehensive (loss) income:

Currency translation adjustment --- --- 3.8                     3.8                         
Pension liability adjustment --- --- (1.0)                    (1.0)                        

Comprehensive loss (275.3)$                  
Stock-based compensation 0.1                     --- ---
Balance, July 4, 2009 416.8$               (890.2)$            (21.6)$                

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements. 
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NORTEK, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JULY 4, 2009 AND JUNE 28, 2008 
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(A) The unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements presented herein (the “Unaudited Financial 
Statements”) reflect the financial position, results of operations and cash flows of Nortek, Inc. (“Nortek”) and all 
of its wholly-owned subsidiaries, collectively the “Company”, and have been prepared on the basis of a going 
concern.  However, the conditions noted below create uncertainty about Nortek’s and its parent company’s, 
NTK Holdings, Inc. (“NTK Holdings”), ability to meet their debt obligations as they come due or may be 
accelerated as discussed below and the implications of such non payments, including a possible change of 
control at Nortek, as discussed further below.   

 
The Company announced on June 17, 2009 that it had retained financial and legal advisors (combined, the 
“Advisors”) to assist NTK Holdings and Nortek in the analysis of their capital structures in light of the current 
economic conditions.  NTK Holdings, Nortek and the Advisors have had preliminary discussions and outlined 
preliminary proposals as to potential equity and debt restructuring alternatives for NTK Holdings and Nortek 
with an informal committee comprised of certain holders of NTK Holdings’ 10 ¾% Senior Discount Notes due 
2014 and Nortek’s 10% Senior Secured Notes due 2013 and 8 ½% Senior Subordinated Notes due 2014 (the 
“Bondholder Committee”).  No definitive agreement has been reached between NTK Holdings, Nortek and the 
Bondholder Committee as to the terms of any potential equity and debt restructuring. The discussions and 
negotiations are continuing and may result in, among other things: (1) a restructuring of the equity and debt of 
NTK Holdings and Nortek pursuant to a negotiated transaction or under a “pre-packaged” plan of 
reorganization under Title 11 of the United States Bankruptcy Code, (2) a change of control of Nortek as 
discussed further below and (3) events of default and cross defaults under certain of NTK Holdings’ and 
Nortek’s outstanding indebtedness depending on the future decisions to be made by NTK Holdings and Nortek, 
which may or may not result in the acceleration of substantially all of the Company’s indebtedness.  The 
Company has been and continues to be in compliance with the terms of all of the obligations that are subject to 
the Bondholder Committee negotiations.  There can be no assurance that NTK Holdings and Nortek will be 
successful in reaching a definitive agreement with respect to the potential equity and debt restructuring and, if 
not successful, NTK Holdings or Nortek may be compelled to seek other financing arrangements or debt 
restructuring under supervision of an appropriate court proceeding.  NTK Holdings and Nortek expect to 
continue to operate its business in the ordinary course during and following any potential equity and debt 
restructuring. 
 
The Company and its lenders amended the ABL Facility (the “Amendment”) to eliminate the requirement that 
Nortek represent that it is solvent, as defined, when requesting new borrowings under the ABL facility effective 
as of July 4, 2009, and when providing the quarterly compliance certificate effective as of May 20, 2008.  The 
Amendment also provides that the proceeds of any future borrowings under the ABL Facility must be used to 
primarily fund operating expenses and liabilities of Nortek’s operating subsidiaries.  The Company has been 
and continues to be in compliance with the terms of the ABL Facility.    
 

 



NORTEK, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JULY 4, 2009 AND JUNE 28, 2008 
(Continued) 
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The Unaudited Financial Statements do not include any adjustments to reflect the possible future effects on 
the recoverability and classification of assets or the amounts and classifications of liabilities that may result 
from the outcome of these uncertainties.  
 
The Unaudited Financial Statements include the accounts of Nortek and all of its wholly-owned subsidiaries 
after elimination of intercompany accounts and transactions, without audit and, in the opinion of management, 
reflect all adjustments of a normal recurring nature necessary for a fair statement of the interim periods 
presented.  The term “Company” is used for convenience only and is not intended as a precise description of 
any of the separate corporations, each of which manages its own affairs.  
 
Although certain information and footnote disclosures normally included in annual financial statements 
prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles have been omitted, the Company 
believes that the disclosures included are adequate to make the information presented not misleading.  
Operating results for the second quarter and first six months ended July 4, 2009 are not necessarily indicative 
of the results that may be expected for other interim periods or for the year ending December 31, 2009.  
Certain amounts in the prior year’s Unaudited Financial Statements have been reclassified to conform to the 
current period presentation.  The Company has evaluated subsequent events for potential recognition or 
disclosure through the date the financial statements were issued, August 24, 2009.  It is suggested that these 
Unaudited Financial Statements be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and the 
notes included in the Company’s latest annual report on Form 10-K and its latest Current Reports on Form 8-K 
as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”). 

 
The Company and its parent company, NTK Holdings, have substantial debt service obligations.  During 2010, 
NTK Holdings alone has cash debt service obligations of approximately $162.3 million, including a payment of 
approximately $147.4 million due on March 1, 2010 under its 10 3/4% Senior Discount Notes.  The Company 
has significant cash payments due on its indebtedness and certain other specified obligations in 2009 and 
thereafter.  For the second half of 2009, Nortek estimates that it will pay approximately $115.2 million in 
principal and interest payments on its indebtedness.  In the fiscal year ending December 31, 2010, the total of 
principal and interest payments on indebtedness is approximately $146.6 million.  For 2009, the Company’s 
principal sources of liquidity include approximately $124.1 million of unrestricted cash and cash equivalents at 
July 4, 2009, cash flow from its subsidiaries in 2009 and Nortek’s subsidiaries’ unrestricted cash and cash 
equivalent balances of approximately $47.9 million at July 4, 2009. 
 
The ability of NTK Holdings to service its outstanding indebtedness depends on the likelihood of obtaining 
additional capital, restructuring the terms of such indebtedness or obtaining dividends or other payments from 
Nortek.  The ability of NTK Holdings to obtain additional capital is adversely affected by the substantial amount 
of NTK Holdings’ and the Company’s outstanding indebtedness, including indebtedness of Nortek and its 
subsidiaries, which is structurally senior in right of payment to any new debt or equity financing for NTK 
Holdings.  Although Nortek’s 10% Senior Secured Notes due 2013, Nortek’s 8 1/2% Senior Subordinated 
Notes due 2014 and Nortek’s ABL Facility limit Nortek’s ability to make certain payments, including dividends, 
to NTK Holdings, under the indenture that governs Nortek’s 10% Senior Secured Notes due 2013, Nortek has 
the capacity to make certain payments, including dividends, of up to approximately $145.9 million at July 4, 
2009 and Nortek may make a distribution or other payment to NTK Holdings.  However, Nortek is under no 
obligation to make any distribution or other payment to NTK Holdings even if Nortek has available cash and 
the making of such a payment is permitted by the terms of its existing indebtedness.  In light of Nortek’s own 
substantial indebtedness and liquidity needs, Nortek believes there is a substantial likelihood that it will choose 
not to make a distribution or other payment to NTK Holdings sufficient to enable NTK Holdings to make the 
payments due in 2010 on its outstanding indebtedness, including the payment due on March 1, 2010 under its 
10 3/4% Senior Discount Notes.  If NTK Holdings and Nortek are not successful in restructuring their 
indebtedness, the failure by NTK Holdings to make such payments will constitute events of default under the 
terms of the documentation governing such indebtedness and will permit the holders of such indebtedness to 
accelerate the payment of such indebtedness in full.  Such defaults, including cross defaults under NTK 
Holdings’ senior unsecured loan facility, and any related acceleration will likely require additional equity or a 
restructuring of the indebtedness, whether pursuant to privately negotiated transactions or under supervision 
of an appropriate court proceeding.   



NORTEK, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JULY 4, 2009 AND JUNE 28, 2008 
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A restructuring of or default under the indebtedness of NTK Holdings could result in a change of control of 
Nortek.  A change of control may constitute an event of default under Nortek’s ABL Facility and would also 
require Nortek to offer to purchase its 10% Senior Secured Notes due 2013 and 8 1/2% Senior Subordinated 
Notes due 2014 at 101% of the principal amount thereof, together with accrued and unpaid interest, and a 
default of Nortek’s ABL Facility would trigger a cross-default under the indentures governing substantially all of 
NTK Holdings’ and Nortek’s indebtedness.  The failure of Nortek to complete the purchase of any notes 
tendered pursuant to such offer, whether due to lack of funds or otherwise, would constitute an event of 
default under the indentures governing such notes.  Such defaults, including cross defaults under substantially 
all of Nortek’s outstanding indebtedness, and any related acceleration will likely require additional equity or a 
restructuring of the indebtedness, whether pursuant to privately negotiated transactions or under supervision 
of an appropriate court proceeding.   
 
The Company operates on a calendar year and for its interim periods operates on a 4-4-5 fiscal calendar, 
where each fiscal quarter is comprised of two 4-week periods and one 5-week period, with each week ending 
on a Saturday.  The Company’s fiscal year always begins on January 1 and ends on December 31.  As a 
result, the Company’s first and fourth quarters may have more or less days included than a traditional 4-4-5 
fiscal calendar, which consists of 91 days.  The second quarters ended July 4, 2009 (“second quarter of 
2009”) and June 28, 2008 (“second quarter of 2008”) each include 91 days.  The first six months ended July 4, 
2009 (“six months of 2009”) and June 28, 2008 (“six months of 2008”) include 185 days and 180 days, 
respectively. 
 
The Company is a diversified manufacturer of innovative, branded residential and commercial building 
products, operating within four reporting segments:  
 

• the Residential Ventilation Products (“RVP”) segment, 
• the Home Technology Products (“HTP”) segment,  
• the Residential Air Conditioning and Heating Products (“R-HVAC”) segment, and 
• the Commercial Air Conditioning and Heating Products (“C-HVAC”) segment. 

 
Through these segments, the Company manufactures and sells, primarily in the United States, Canada and 
Europe, a wide variety of products for the professional remodeling and replacement markets, the residential 
and commercial construction markets, the manufactured housing market and the do-it-yourself (“DIY”) market.   
 
During the fourth quarter of 2008, the Company changed the composition of its reporting segments to report 
the R-HVAC segment separately.  In accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) 
No. 131, “Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information”, the Company has restated 
prior period segment disclosures to reflect the new composition. 
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Goodwill and Other Long-Lived Assets 
 
The Company has classified as goodwill the cost in excess of fair value of the net assets (including tax 
attributes) of companies acquired in purchase transactions, net of any subsequent impairment losses.  At July 
4, 2009 and December 31, 2008, the Company had approximately $561.5 million and $810.8 million of 
goodwill recorded on its unaudited condensed consolidated balance sheet.  Goodwill, by reporting segment, at 
July 4, 2009 and December 31, 2008 was as follows: 

 
Residential Home Residential Commercial
Ventilation Technology HVAC HVAC
Products Products Products Products Consolidated

Balance as of December 31, 2008 341.0$      351.4$       43.0$        75.4$                    810.8$          
Estimated impairment loss --- (250.0)         --- --- (250.0)            
Impact of changes in foreign currency

translation and other 0.6             0.3              (0.1)            (0.1)                       0.7                 
Balance as of July 4, 2009 341.6$       101.7$        42.9$         75.3$                    561.5$           

(Amounts in millions)

 
The Company accounts for acquired goodwill and intangible assets in accordance with SFAS No. 141, 
“Business Combinations” (“SFAS No. 141”), SFAS No. 141(R), “Business Combinations” (“SFAS No. 141(R)”), 
SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets” (“SFAS No. 142”) and SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for 
the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets” (“SFAS No. 144”) which requires considerable judgment in 
the valuation of acquired goodwill and other long-lived assets and the ongoing evaluation of goodwill and other 
long-lived assets impairment.  Under SFAS No. 142, goodwill and intangible assets determined to have 
indefinite useful lives are not amortized.  Instead, these assets are evaluated for impairment on an annual 
basis, or more frequently when an event occurs or circumstances change between annual tests that would 
more likely than not reduce the fair value of the reporting unit below its carrying value, including, among 
others, a significant adverse change in the business climate.  The Company has set the annual evaluation 
date as of the first day of its fiscal fourth quarter.  The reporting units evaluated for goodwill impairment by the 
Company have been determined to be the same as the Company’s operating segments in accordance with 
the criteria in SFAS No. 142 and SFAS No. 141(R) for determining reporting units and include RVP, HTP, R-
HVAC and C-HVAC (see Note D).   
 
During 2008, the Company recognized a goodwill impairment charge totaling approximately $710.0 million 
based upon an interim impairment test performed during the third quarter and finalized in the fourth quarter.  
As of December 31, 2008, the Company completed another interim impairment test, but no additional charges 
were recognized.   
 
During the first six months of 2009, the Company’s businesses continue to experience a difficult market 
environment due primarily to weak residential new construction, remodeling and residential air conditioning 
markets.  Based on these macro-economic assumptions, the Company believes that EBITDA will continue to 
decline in 2009 and then begin to rebound in 2010 with continued growth through 2014.  The Company’s prior 
long-term forecasts had expected the rebound in EBITDA to begin to occur in the second half of 2009.  As a 
result, the Company significantly lowered its cash flow forecasts for 2009 and 2010 for all of the reporting units 
and for 2011 through 2014 for the HTP, R-HVAC and C-HVAC reporting units.  As a result, the Company 
concluded in the second quarter of 2009 that indicators of potential goodwill impairment were present and 
therefore the Company needed to perform an interim test of goodwill impairment in accordance with SFAS No. 
142. 
 
In accordance with SFAS No. 142, the Company prepared a “Step 1 Test” as of July 4, 2009 that compared 
the estimated fair value of each reporting unit to its carrying value.  The Company utilized a combination of a 
discounted cash flow approach (“DCF Approach”) and an EBITDA multiple approach (“EBITDA Multiple 
Approach”) in order to value the Company’s reporting units for the interim Step 1 Test.   
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The DCF Approach required that the Company forecast future cash flows of the reporting units and discount 
the cash flow stream based upon a weighted average cost of capital that was derived, in part, from 
comparable companies within similar industries.  The discounted cash flow calculations also included a 
terminal value calculation that was based upon an expected long-term growth rate for the applicable reporting 
unit.  The Company believes that its procedures for estimating discounted future cash flows, including the 
terminal valuation, were reasonable and consistent with market conditions at the time of estimation.   
 
The EBITDA Multiple Approach required that the Company estimate a valuation multiple of EBITDA derived 
from comparable companies, and apply those derived multiples to the applicable reporting unit EBITDA for 
selected EBITDA measurement periods.   
 
The interim Step 1 valuations were determined using a weighted average of 70% of the DCF Approach and 
30% for the EBITDA Multiple Approach, as the Company believes that the DCF Approach is a more 
representative measurement of the long-term fair value of the reporting units and, as such, a higher weighting 
of valuation probability was appropriate in the overall weighted average computation of fair value.   
 
The results of the Step 1 Tests performed in the second quarter of 2009 indicated that the carrying value of 
the HTP reporting unit exceeded the estimated fair value determined by the Company and, as such, a “Step 2 
Test” was required for this reporting unit.   The estimated fair values of the RVP, R-HVAC and C-HVAC 
reporting units exceeded the carrying values so no further impairment analysis was required for these 
reporting units. 
 
The Company believes that its assumptions used to determine the fair values for the RVP, R-HVAC and C- 
HVAC reporting units were reasonable.  If different assumptions were to be used, particularly with respect to 
estimating future cash flows, the weighted average costs of capital, terminal growth rates, EBITDA, and 
selected EBITDA multiples, different estimates of fair value may result and there could be the potential that an 
impairment charge could result for RVP, R-HVAC and C-HVAC and an additional impairment charge could be 
required for HTP.  Actual operating results and the related cash flows of these reporting units could differ from 
the estimated operating results and related cash flows.  Based on the Company’s estimates at July 4, 2009, 
the impact of reducing the Company’s fair value estimates for the RVP and C-HVAC reporting units by 10% 
would have no impact on the Company’s goodwill assessment for these reporting units.  For the R-HVAC 
reporting unit, the impact of reducing the Company’s fair value estimates as of July 4, 2009 by 10% would 
have reduced the estimated fair value to an amount below the carrying value for this reporting unit and, 
therefore, would have required the Company to perform additional impairment analysis for this reporting unit.   
 
The preliminary Step 2 Test for the HTP reporting unit for the second quarter of 2009 required the Company to 
measure the potential impairment loss by allocating the estimated fair value of the reporting unit, as 
determined in Step 1, to the reporting unit’s assets and liabilities, with the residual amount representing the 
implied fair value of goodwill.  To the extent the implied fair value of goodwill was less than the carrying value, 
an impairment loss was recognized.  As such, the Step 2 Test required the Company to perform a theoretical 
purchase price allocation for the reporting unit to determine the implied fair value of goodwill as of the 
evaluation date.  Due to the complexity of the analysis required to complete the Step 2 Test and the timing of 
the Company’s determination of the goodwill impairment, the Company had not yet finalized its Step 2 Test at 
August 24, 2009.  In accordance with the guidance in SFAS No. 142, the Company has completed a 
preliminary assessment of the expected impact of the Step 2 Test using reasonable estimates for the 
theoretical purchase price allocation and recorded a preliminary estimate of the goodwill impairment loss for 
the HTP reporting unit for the second quarter of 2009 of approximately $250.0 million.  The preliminary 
estimate of goodwill impairment loss is expected to be finalized in the second half of 2009.    
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The following procedures are, among others, the more significant analyses that the Company needs to 
complete in order to finalize its Step 2 Test: 

 
• Finalize appraisals to determine the estimated fair value of property and equipment, and intangible 

assets within the HTP reporting unit, 
• Finalize analyses within the HTP reporting unit to determine the estimated fair value adjustment 

required to inventory, and 
• Finalize deferred tax analyses for the HTP reporting unit. 

 
In connection with the preliminary Step 2 Test, the Company made what it considered to be reasonable 
estimates of each of the above items in order to determine its preliminary best estimate of the goodwill 
impairment loss under the theoretical purchase price allocation required for Step 2 Test.  The completion of 
the final analyses described above may result in significant changes to the estimates used and, therefore, may 
have a significant impact on the final HTP goodwill impairment loss recorded in 2009.  In addition, there can 
be no assurance that the Company will not identify other issues during the completion of the Step 2 Test that 
may have a significant impact on the final HTP goodwill impairment loss recorded for 2009. 
 
In accordance with SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets” (“SFAS 
No. 144”), the Company evaluates the recoverability of long-lived assets, which primarily consist of property 
and equipment and definite lived intangible assets (the “Long-Lived Assets”), when events or business 
conditions warrant it, including whenever an interim goodwill impairment test is required.  SFAS No. 144 
requires that long-lived assets be assessed for recoverability, and any impairment be recorded, prior to the 
goodwill impairment test.  As a result of the Company’s conclusion that an interim impairment test of goodwill 
was required during the second quarter of 2009, the Company performed an interim test for the recoverability 
of the Long-Lived Assets, and determined that there was no impairment in the second quarter of 2009.  

 
The interim evaluation of the recoverability of long-lived assets, other than goodwill, was based on 
expectations of non-discounted future cash flows compared to the carrying value of the long-lived asset 
groups in accordance with SFAS No. 144.  If the sum of the expected non-discounted future cash flows was 
less than the carrying amount of the Long-Lived Assets, the Company would recognize an impairment loss.  
The Company’s cash flow estimates were based upon historical cash flows, as well as future projected cash 
flows received from subsidiary management in connection with a Company-wide interim forecasting process. 
The estimates also included a terminal valuation for the applicable asset group based upon a multiple of 
earnings before interest expense, net, depreciation and amortization expense, and income taxes (“EBITDA”).  
The Company estimated the EBITDA multiple by reviewing comparable company information and other 
industry data.  The Company believes that its procedures for estimating gross future cash flows, including the 
terminal valuations, are reasonable and consistent with market conditions at the time the testing was 
performed. 
 
Fair Value 
 
In September 2006, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued SFAS No. 157, “Fair Value 
Measurements” (“SFAS No. 157”).  SFAS No. 157 was effective for the Company beginning January 1, 2008, 
including interim periods within the year ending December 31, 2008.  SFAS No. 157 replaces multiple existing 
definitions of fair value with a single definition, establishes a consistent framework for measuring fair value and 
expands financial statement disclosures regarding fair value measurements.  SFAS No. 157 applies only to 
fair value measurements that already are required or permitted by other accounting standards and does not 
require any new fair value measurements.   
 
In February 2008, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position (“FSP”) SFAS No. 157-1, “Application of FASB 
Statement No. 157 to FASB Statement No. 13 and Its Related Interpretive Accounting Pronouncements That 
Address Leasing Transactions” (“FSP No. 157-1”), and FSP SFAS No. 157-2, “Effective Date of FASB 
Statement No. 157” (“FSP No. 157-2”).  FSP No. 157-1 removes leasing from the scope of SFAS No. 157.  
FSP No. 157-2 delayed the effective date of SFAS No. 157 from 2008 to 2009 for all non-financial assets and 
non-financial liabilities, except those that are recognized or disclosed at fair value in the financial statements 
on a recurring basis (at least annually).   
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The adoption of SFAS No. 157, FSP No. 157-1 and FSP No. 157-2 for the Company’s financial and non-
financial assets and liabilities in the first quarter of 2008 and the first quarter of 2009, respectively, did not 
have a material impact on the Company’s financial position or results of operations.   
 
In October 2008, the FASB issued FSP 157-3, “Determining Fair Value of a Financial Asset in a Market That 
Is Not Active” (“FSP 157-3”).  FSP 157-3 expands upon the implementation guidance in SFAS No. 157 for 
estimating the present value of future cash flows for some hard-to-value financial instruments, such as 
collateralized debt obligations.  FSP 157-3 was effective upon issuance, including prior periods for which 
financial statements had not been issued.  The adoption of FSP 157-3 did not have a material impact on the 
Company’s financial position or results of operations. 
 
In April 2009, the FASB issued three FSPs related to fair value measurements.  These positions are intended 
to provide additional guidance regarding fair value measurements and other-than-temporary impairments of 
securities.  Included in this new guidance are:  
 

• FSP FAS 107-1 and Accounting Principles Board 28-1, “Interim Disclosures about Fair Value of 
Financial Instruments” (“FSP FAS 107-1”), which requires disclosures regarding fair value of financial 
instruments to be reported on an interim, as well as on an annual basis; 

 
• FSP FAS 157-4, “Determining Fair Values When the Volume and Level of Activity for the Asset or 

Liability Have Significantly Decreased and Identifying Transactions That Are Not Orderly” (“FSP FAS 
157-4”), which provides additional guidance regarding (1) estimating the fair value of an asset or 
liability when the volume and level of activity for the asset or liability have significantly declined and (2) 
identifying transactions that are not orderly, as well as requiring disclosures in interim periods of the 
inputs and valuation techniques used to measure fair value; and 
 

• FSP FAS 115-2 and FAS 124-2, “Recognition and Presentation of Other-Than-Temporary-
Impairments” (“FSP FAS 115-2), which modifies the requirements for recognizing other-than-
temporary impairments and changes the impairment model for debt securities.  In addition, FSP FAS 
115-2 requires additional disclosures relating to debt and equity securities, both in the interim and 
annual periods. 

 
FSP FAS 107-1, FSP FAS 157-4 and FSP FAS 115-2 are effective for interim and annual periods ending after 
June 15, 2009, with early adoption permitted.  The adoption of these pronouncements during the second 
quarter of 2009 did not have a material impact on the Company’s financial position or results of operations. 
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Fair Value of Financial Instruments  
 

Following is information about the fair value of each class of financial instruments for which it is practicable 
to estimate that value: 
 
Cash and Cash Equivalents --  
The carrying amount approximates fair value because of the short maturity of those instruments.  
 
Restricted Investments and Marketable Securities -- 
The fair value of investments is based on quoted market prices.  The fair value of investments was not 
materially different from their cost basis at July 4, 2009 or December 31, 2008.  
 
Long-Term Debt -- 
At July 4, 2009 and December 31, 2008, the fair value of long-term indebtedness was approximately 
$595.2 million lower and $721.2 million lower, respectively, than the amount on the Company’s 
consolidated balance sheet, before unamortized discount, based on available market quotations (see Note 
B).  

 
Assets and Liabilities Measured on a Non-Recurring Basis 
 

For each major category of assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a non-recurring basis during 
the period, SFAS No. 157 requires quantitative disclosures.  
 
In the second quarter of 2009, HTP reporting unit goodwill with a carrying value amount of approximately 
$351.7 million was written down to its implied fair value of approximately $101.7 million.  This resulted in 
an estimated non-cash goodwill impairment charge of approximately $250.0 million, which was included in 
the unaudited condensed consolidated statement of operations for the second quarter and six months of 
2009.  
 
The HTP reporting unit's assets itemized below were measured at fair value on a non-recurring basis 
during the second quarter of 2009 using a combination of the DCF Approach and the EBITDA Multiple 
Approach:  

 
   

 
 

Fair Value 
Measurement 

 Quoted Prices in 
Active Markets 

for Identical 
Assets  

(“Level 1”) 

 Significant 
Other 

Observable 
Inputs 

(“Level 2”) 

  
Significant 

Unobservable 
Inputs  

(“Level 3”) 

  
 

Total 
Impaired 
Losses 

  (Amounts in millions) 
           
Goodwill  $  101.7  ---  ---  $  101.7  $  250.0 
           

 
Stock-Based Compensation of Employees, Officers and Directors  
 
The Company follows the modified-prospective transition method of accounting for stock-based compensation 
in accordance with SFAS No. 123 (revised 2004), “Share-Based Payment” (“SFAS No. 123R”).  Under the 
modified-prospective transition method, the Company is required to recognize compensation cost for share-
based payments to employees based on their grant-date fair value.  Measurement and attribution of 
compensation cost for awards that were granted prior to, but not vested as of the date SFAS No. 123R was 
adopted, are based on the same estimate of the grant-date fair value and the same attribution method used 
previously under SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation”.   
 
At July 4, 2009, certain employees and consultants held approximately 23,227 C-1 units and approximately 
40,309 C-2 units, which represent equity interests in THL-Nortek Investors, LLC (“Investors LLC”), the parent 
of NTK Holdings, that function similar to stock awards.  The C-1 units vest pro rata on a quarterly basis over a 
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three-year period and approximately 23,186 and 23,116 were vested at July 4, 2009 and December 31, 2008, 
respectively.  The total grant date fair value of the C-1 units is approximately $1.2 million, all of which has 
been amortized at July 4, 2009.  The C-2 units only vest in the event that certain performance-based criteria, 
as defined, are met.  At July 4, 2009 and December 31, 2008, there was approximately $1.6 million of 
unamortized stock-based employee compensation with respect to the C-2 units, which will be recognized in 
the event that it becomes probable that the C-2 units or any portion thereof will vest.  The C-1 and C-2 units 
were valued using the Black-Scholes option pricing model to determine the freely-traded call option value 
based upon information from comparable public companies, which was then adjusted to reflect the discount 
period, the minority interest factor and the lack of marketability factor to arrive at the final valuations. 
 
Long-term payable to affiliate 
 
At July 4, 2009 and December 31, 2008, the Company had approximately $43.0 million and $43.1 million, 
respectively, recorded on the accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated balance sheet related to a 
long-term payable to affiliate.  This payable primarily relates to deferred taxes related to NTK Holdings which 
have been transferred to Nortek.   
 
The following table presents a summary of the activity in the long-term payable to affiliate for the six months 
ended July 4, 2009: 

 
 (Amounts in millions) 
  
Balance at December 31, 2008 $    43.1 
Payment of miscellaneous expenses for NTK 

Holdings 
 

       (0.1) 
Balance at July 4, 2009 $    43.0 

 
 
New Accounting Pronouncements 
 
In June 2009, the FASB issued SFAS No. 168, “The FASB Accounting Standards Codification and the 
Hierarchy of Generally Accepted Accounting Principles” (“SFAS No. 168”).  SFAS No. 168 establishes the 
FASB Accounting Standards Codification (“the Codification”) as the sole source of authoritative GAAP 
recognized by the FASB to be applied by nongovernmental entities.  Rules and interpretive releases of the 
SEC are also sources of authoritative GAAP for SEC registrants.  On the effective date of SFAS No. 168, the 
Codification will supersede all then-existing non-SEC accounting and reporting standards.  All other non-
grandfathered non-SEC accounting literature not included in the Codification will become non-authoritative.  
SFAS No. 168 is effective for financial statements issued for interim and annual periods ending after 
September 15, 2009.  The Company expects to adopt the provisions of SFAS No. 168 for the third quarter of 
2009, and is currently evaluating the impact of adopting SFAS No. 168 on its consolidated financial 
statements. 
 
In May 2009, the FASB issued SFAS No. 165 “Subsequent Events” (“SFAS No. 165”).  SFAS No. 165 sets 
forth: (1) the period after the balance sheet date, but before the financial statements are issued or available to 
be issued, during which management of a reporting entity should evaluate events or transactions that may 
occur for potential recognition or disclosure in the financial statements; (2) the circumstances under which an 
entity should recognize events or transactions occurring after the balance sheet date in its financial 
statements; and (3) the disclosures that an entity should make about events or transactions that occurred after 
the balance sheet date.  SFAS No. 165 also requires the disclosure of the date through which an entity has 
evaluated subsequent events and the basis for that date.  SFAS No. 165 is effective for interim and annual 
reporting periods ending after June 15, 2009.  The adoption of this pronouncement in the second quarter of 
2009 did not have a material impact on the Company’s financial position or results of operations. 
 
In March 2008, the FASB issued SFAS No. 161, “Disclosure about Derivative Instruments and Hedging 
Activities – An Amendment of FASB Statement No. 133 (“SFAS No. 161”).  SFAS No. 161 requires additional 
disclosures about an entity’s derivative and hedging activities in order to improve the transparency of financial 
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reporting.  SFAS No. 161 was effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years and interim periods 
beginning after November 15, 2008, with early application encouraged.  The adoption of SFAS No. 161 on 
January 1, 2009 did not have a material impact on the Company’s financial position or results of operations. 
 
In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 160, “Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Financial 
Statements - an amendment of ARB No. 51” (“SFAS No. 160”).  SFAS No. 160 requires that noncontrolling (or 
minority) interests in subsidiaries be reported in the equity section of the company’s balance sheet, rather than 
in a mezzanine section of the balance sheet between liabilities and equity.  SFAS No. 160 also changes the 
manner in which the net income of the subsidiary is reported and disclosed in the controlling company’s 
income statement.  SFAS No. 160 also establishes guidelines for accounting for changes in ownership 
percentages and for deconsolidation.  SFAS No. 160 is effective for financial statements for fiscal years 
beginning on or after December 1, 2008 and interim periods within those years.  The Company adopted SFAS 
No. 160 effective January 1, 2009.  The adoption of SFAS No. 160 did not have a material impact on the 
Company’s financial position or results of operations. 
 
In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141(R), “Business Combinations” (“SFAS No. 141(R)”).  SFAS 
No. 141(R) replaces SFAS No. 141, “Business Combinations”, but retains the requirement that the purchase 
method of accounting for acquisitions be used for all business combinations.  SFAS No. 141(R) expands on 
the disclosures previously required by SFAS No. 141, better defines the acquirer and the acquisition date in a 
business combination, and establishes principles for recognizing and measuring the assets acquired 
(including goodwill), the liabilities assumed and any noncontrolling interests in the acquired business.  SFAS 
No. 141(R) also requires an acquirer to record an adjustment to income tax expense for changes in valuation 
allowances or uncertain tax positions related to acquired businesses.  SFAS No. 141(R) is effective for all 
business combinations with an acquisition date in the first annual period following December 15, 2008.  The 
Company adopted SFAS No. 141(R) effective January 1, 2009.  Approximately $1.2 million of the Company’s 
unrecognized tax benefits as of December 31, 2008 was recognized and reduced the Company’s tax expense 
in the first quarter ended April 4, 2009, rather than goodwill as stated under previous accounting principles.   
 

(B) At December 31, 2008, the Company’s Best subsidiary was not in compliance with a maintenance covenant 
with respect to two loan agreements with aggregate borrowings outstanding of approximately $6.8 million.  
Non-compliance with these two long-term debt agreements would have resulted in non-compliance with two 
other long-term debt agreements totaling approximately $5.3 million at December 31, 2008.  The Company’s 
Best subsidiary obtained waivers from the bank, which indicated that the Company’s Best subsidiary was not 
required to comply with the maintenance covenant as of December 31, 2008.  The next measurement date for 
the maintenance covenant is for the year ended December 31, 2009 and the Company believes that it is 
probable that its Best subsidiary will not be in compliance with the maintenance covenant when their 
assessment of the required calculation is completed in the first quarter of 2010.  The Company and its Best 
subsidiary are currently in negotiations to refinance these two loan agreements; however as of July 4, 2009, a 
definitive agreement was not signed.  As a result, the Company has classified approximately $6.1 million and 
$8.1 million of outstanding borrowings under such “long-term debt” agreements as a current liability on its 
consolidated balance sheet at July 4, 2009 and December 31, 2008, respectively.  The Company and its Best 
subsidiary will continue to negotiate the refinancing of these debt obligations; however no assurance can be 
given that it will be successful in obtaining a refinancing, amendment or waiver on terms acceptable to the 
Company, or at all.  Accordingly, Nortek could be required to repay the long-term portion of approximately $6.1 
million at December 31, 2009 related to these loans in an event of non-compliance. 
 
In the second half of 2009, the Company expects to repay approximately $30.0 million of indebtedness under 
Nortek’s ABL Facility and accordingly has classified that amount as a current maturity of long-term debt in the 
accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated balance sheet at July 4, 2009.   
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The agreements that govern the terms of the Company’s debt, including the indentures that govern Nortek’s 
10% Senior Secured Notes and Nortek’s 8 1/2% senior subordinated notes and the credit agreement that 
governs Nortek’s ABL Facility, contain covenants that restrict the Company’s ability and the ability of its 
subsidiaries to incur additional indebtedness, pay dividends or make other distributions, make loans or 
investments, incur certain liens, enter into transactions with affiliates and consolidate, merge or sell assets. 
 
The indentures that govern Nortek’s 10% Senior Secured Notes and Nortek’s 8 1/2% Senior Subordinated 
Notes limit Nortek’s ability to make certain payments, including dividends, loans or investments or the 
redemption or retirement of any equity interests and indebtedness subordinated to the notes.  These 
limitations are based on a calculation of net income, equity issuances, receipt of capital contributions and 
return on certain investments (as defined by the respective indentures) since August 27, 2004.  The amount of 
the permitted payments depends in part on baskets which are available only if Nortek meets certain financial 
tests.  No assurance can be given that Nortek will have sufficient capacity under these limitations to make 
payments to NTK Holdings to enable it to satisfy its debt service obligations.  As of July 4, 2009, Nortek had 
the capacity to make certain payments, including dividends, of up to approximately $145.9 million.  Nortek is 
under no obligation to make any distribution or other payment to NTK Holdings even if Nortek has available 
cash and the making of such a payment is permitted by the terms of its existing indebtedness (see Note A).   
 
In May 2009, Moody’s affirmed its debt ratings for Nortek and NTK Holdings of “Caa2” and affirmed its 
negative outlook.  Moody’s rating affirmation reflected the Company’s high leverage, reduced financial 
flexibility and the anticipated continuing difficulties in the new home construction market and depressed home 
values on the Company’s 2009 financial performance.  The negative ratings outlook reflects Moody’s concern 
that the market for the Company’s products will remain under significant pressure so long as new housing 
starts do not rebound and that the repair and remodeling market could contract further in 2009.  Additionally, 
Moody’s was concerned whether the Company’s cost cutting initiatives would be successful enough to offset 
pressure on the Company’s sales.   
 
In April 2009, Standard & Poor's (“S&P”) Ratings Services lowered its corporate credit rating on Nortek and 
issued a negative outlook.  Additionally S&P lowered the issue-level rating on Nortek's 10% senior secured 
notes due 2013 and on Nortek’s 8 1/2% senior subordinated notes due 2014.  In addition, S&P lowered the 
corporate credit rating on NTK Holdings and lowered the issue-level rating on NTK Holdings’ 10 3/4% senior 
discount notes due 2014.  These rating actions reflect S&P’s expectations that NTK Holdings and Nortek's 
ability to service its current capital structure over the next year will be challenged as difficult operating 
conditions are likely to continue due to depressed new residential construction markets and an expected 
decline in remodeling and commercial construction activity. 
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(C) During the second quarter of 2009 and second quarter of 2008, the Company’s results of operations include 
the following expense (income) items recorded in cost of products sold and selling, general and administrative 
expense, net in the accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated statement of operations: 
 

2009 2008

(1) Fees and expenses incurred in the HTP segment in connection with the 
dispute and settlement with one of its former suppliers $           --- 4.5$                      

(2) Income from change in estimate of loss on the Company's indemnification
related to a lease guarantee (3.2)                ---

(3) Gain from the sale of manufacturing facilities in the RVP segment (0.3)                (2.5)                       
(4) Charges related to reserves for amounts due from customers in 

all four segments 2.0                 ---
(5) Net foreign exchange losses (gains) related to transactions, including

intercompany debt not indefinitely invested in Nortek's subsidiaries 1.4                 (1.5)                       
(6) Costs and expenses incurred in the RVP segment in connection with the

start up of a range hood facility in Mexico (a) --- 1.4                        
(7) Severance charges incurred related to certain reduction in workforce 

initiatives in the RVP, HTP and R-HVAC segments (b) 1.3                 ---
(8) Advisory fees related to the Company's analysis of its capital structure 0.9                 ---

For the second quarter of *

(Amounts in millions)

 
* Unless otherwise indicated, all items noted in the above table have been recorded in selling, general 

and administrative expense, net in the accompanying consolidated statement of operations. 
 
(a) Recorded in cost of products sold. 
 
(b) Approximately $0.9 million of these severance charges incurred related to certain reduction in 

workforce initiatives was recorded in cost of products sold. 
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During the six months of 2009 and six months of 2008, the Company’s results of operations include the 
following expense (income) items recorded in cost of products sold and selling, general and administrative 
expense, net in the accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated statement of operations: 
 

2009 2008

(1) Fees and expenses incurred in the HTP segment in connection with the 
dispute and settlement with one of its former suppliers $           --- 4.7$                     

(2) Income from change in estimate of loss on the Company's indemnification
related to a lease guarantee (3.2)              ---

(3) Charges related to reserves for amounts due from customers in 
all four segments 2.8               ---

(4) Gain from the sale of manufacturing facilities in the RVP segment (0.3)              (2.5)                      
(5) Severance charges incurred related to certain reduction in workforce 

initiatives in the RVP, HTP and R-HVAC segments (b) 2.2               ---
(6) Net foreign exchange losses (gains) related to transactions, including

intercompany debt not indefinitely invested in Nortek's subsidiaries 1.5               (1.4)                      
(7) Costs and expenses incurred in the RVP segment in connection with the

start up of a range hood facility in Mexico (a) --- 1.4                       
(8) Advisory fees related to the Company's analysis of its capital structure 0.9               ---

For the six months of *

(Amounts in millions)

 
* Unless otherwise indicated, all items noted in the above table have been recorded in selling, general 

and administrative expense, net in the accompanying consolidated statement of operations. 
 
(a) Recorded in cost of products sold. 
 
(b) Approximately $1.3 million of these severance charges incurred related to certain reduction in 

workforce initiatives was recorded in cost of products sold. 
 
Nortek and Nortek Holdings, Inc. have a management agreement with an affiliate of Thomas H. Lee Partners, 
L.P. providing for certain financial and strategic advisory and consultancy services.  Nortek expensed 
approximately $0.5 million for each of the second quarters of 2009 and 2008, respectively, and expensed 
approximately $1.0 million for each of the six months of 2009 and 2008, respectively, related to this management 
agreement in the accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated statement of operations. 
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(D) The Company is a diversified manufacturer of innovative, branded residential and commercial building 
products, operating within four reporting segments:  

 
• the Residential Ventilation Products (“RVP”) segment, 
• the Home Technology Products (“HTP”) segment,  
• the Residential Air Conditioning and Heating Products (“R-HVAC“) segment, and 
• the Commercial Air Conditioning and Heating Products (“C-HVAC“) segment. 

 
Through these segments, the Company manufactures and sells, primarily in the United States, Canada and 
Europe, a wide variety of products for the professional remodeling and replacement markets, the residential 
and commercial construction markets, the manufactured housing market and the do-it-yourself (“DIY”) market.   
 
During 2008, the Company changed the composition of its reporting segments to report the R-HVAC segment 
separately.  In accordance with SFAS No. 131, “Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related 
Information”, the Company has restated prior period segment disclosures to reflect the new composition. 
 
The RVP segment manufactures and sells room and whole house ventilation products and other products 
primarily for the professional remodeling and replacement markets, the residential new construction market 
and the DIY market.  The principal products sold by this segment include:  

 
• kitchen range hoods,  
• exhaust fans (such as bath fans and fan, heater and light combination units), and  
• indoor air quality products. 

 
The HTP segment manufactures and sells a broad array of products designed to provide convenience and 
security for residential and certain commercial applications.  The principal products sold by this segment are:  

 
• audio / video distribution and control equipment, 
• speakers and subwoofers, 
• security and access control products, 
• power conditioners and surge protectors, 
• audio / video wall mounts and fixtures,  
• lighting and home automation controls, and 
• structured wiring. 

 
The R-HVAC segment manufactures and sells heating, ventilating and air conditioning systems for site-built 
residential and manufactured housing structures and certain commercial markets.  The principal products sold 
by the segment are: 

 
• split-system air conditioners, 
• heat pumps, 
• air handlers, and 
• furnaces and related equipment. 

 
The C-HVAC segment manufactures and sells heating, ventilating and air conditioning systems for custom-
designed commercial applications to meet customer specifications.  The principal products sold by the 
segment are large custom roof top cooling and heating products. 
 
The Company evaluates segment performance based on operating earnings before allocations of corporate 
overhead costs.  Intersegment net sales and intersegment eliminations are not material for any of the periods 
presented.  The financial statement impact of all purchase accounting adjustments, including intangible assets 
amortization and goodwill, are reflected in the applicable operating segment, which are the Company’s 
reporting units.  In the tables below, Unallocated includes corporate related items, intersegment eliminations 
and certain income and expense items not allocated to reportable segments. 
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Unaudited net sales, operating (loss) earnings and pre-tax loss for the Company’s reporting segments for the 
second quarter ended July 4, 2009 and June 28, 2008 were as follows:   
 

July 4, 2009 June 28, 2008

Net sales:
Residential ventilation products 139.4$                  187.0$                  
Home technology products 99.9                      131.2                    
Residential air conditioning and heating products 137.5                    177.5                    
Commercial air conditioning and heating products 111.0                    151.4                    

Consolidated net sales 487.8$                  647.1$                  

Operating (loss) earnings:
Residential ventilation products (1) 11.9$                    16.0$                    
Home technology products (2) (247.1)                  7.8                        
Residential air conditioning and heating products (3) 10.6                      14.6                      
Commercial air conditioning and heating products (4) 13.7                      15.3                      

Subtotal (210.9)                  53.7                      
Unallocated:
Stock-based compensation charges (0.1)                      (0.1)                      
Income from change in estimate of loss on the Company's

 indemnification related to a lease guarantee 3.2                        ---
Advisory fees related to the Company's analysis of 

its capital structure (0.9)                      ---
Foreign exchange gains on transactions,

including intercompany debt 0.4                        ---
Unallocated, net (7.4)                      (6.7)                      

Consolidated operating (loss) earnings (215.7)                  46.9                      
Interest expense (37.7)                    (31.3)                    
Loss from debt retirement --- (9.9)                      
Investment income 0.1                        0.2                        

(Loss) earnings before (benefit) provision for income taxes (253.3)$                5.9$                      

For the second quarter ended

(Dollar amounts in millions)
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(1) The operating results of the RVP segment for the second quarter ended July 4, 2009 include: 
• approximately $1.2 million of severance charges incurred related to certain reduction in 

workforce initiatives, 
• net foreign exchange losses of approximately $0.7 million related to transactions, including 

intercompany debt not indefinitely invested in Nortek’s subsidiaries,  
• a gain of approximately $0.3 million from the sale of a manufacturing facility, and 
• a charge related to reserves for amounts due from customers of approximately $0.2 million. 

 
The operating results of the RVP segment for the second quarter ended June 28, 2008 include: 

• a gain of approximately $2.5 million from the sale of a manufacturing facility,  
• costs and expenses incurred in connection with the start up of a range hood facility in 

Mexico of approximately $1.4 million, and  
• net foreign exchange gains of approximately $1.4 million related to transactions, including 

intercompany debt not indefinitely invested in Nortek’s subsidiaries.  
 

(2) The operating results of the HTP segment for the second quarter ended July 4, 2009 include an 
estimated non-cash goodwill impairment charge of approximately $250.0 million and a charge 
related to reserves for amounts due from customers of approximately $0.6 million.  
 
The operating results of the HTP segment for the second quarter ended June 28, 2008 include 
approximately $4.5 million of fees and expenses recorded in connection with the settlement of a 
dispute with one of its former suppliers and net foreign exchange gains of approximately $0.2 million 
related to transactions.   
 

(3) The operating results of the R-HVAC segment for the second quarter ended July 4, 2009 include 
approximately $0.1 million of severance charges incurred related to certain reduction in workforce 
initiatives and a charge related to reserves for amounts due from customers of approximately $0.1 
million. 
 

(4) The operating results of the C-HVAC segment for the second quarter ended July 4, 2009 include a 
charge related to reserves for amounts due from customers of approximately $1.1 million and net 
foreign exchange losses of approximately $1.1 million related to transactions, including 
intercompany debt not indefinitely invested in Nortek’s subsidiaries. 
 
The operating results of the C-HVAC segment for the second quarter ended June 28, 2008 include 
net foreign exchange losses of approximately $0.1 million related to transactions, including 
intercompany debt not indefinitely invested in Nortek’s subsidiaries.   
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Unaudited net sales, operating (loss) earnings and pre-tax loss for the Company’s reporting segments for the 
first six months ended July 4, 2009 and June 28, 2008 were as follows:   
 

July 4, 2009 June 28, 2008

Net sales:
Residential ventilation products 289.3$                  375.2$                  
Home technology products 198.3                    255.3                    
Residential air conditioning and heating products 219.9                    297.6                    
Commercial air conditioning and heating products 219.3                    259.2                    

Consolidated net sales 926.8$                  1,187.3$               

Operating (loss) earnings:
Residential ventilation products (1) 20.9$                    31.9$                    
Home technology products (2) (246.0)                  18.1                      
Residential air conditioning and heating products (3) 5.3                        15.6                      
Commercial air conditioning and heating products (4) 29.9                      19.0                      

Subtotal (189.9)                  84.6                      
Unallocated:
Stock-based compensation charges (0.1)                      (0.1)                      
Income from change in estimate of loss on the Company's

 indemnification related to a lease guarantee 3.2                        ---
Advisory fees related to the Company's analysis of 

its capital structure (0.9)                      ---
Foreign exchange gains on transactions,

including intercompany debt 0.4                        0.1                        
Unallocated, net (13.8)                    (14.3)                    

Consolidated operating (loss) earnings (201.1)                  70.3                      
Interest expense (76.0)                    (58.7)                    
Loss from debt retirement --- (9.9)                      
Investment income 0.2                        0.4                        

(Loss) earnings before provision for income taxes (276.9)$                2.1$                      

For the six months ended

(Dollar amounts in millions)
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(1) The operating results of the RVP segment for the six months ended July 4, 2009 include: 
• approximately $1.5 million of severance charges incurred related to certain reduction in 

workforce initiatives, 
• net foreign exchange losses of approximately $1.1 million related to transactions, including 

intercompany debt not indefinitely invested in Nortek’s subsidiaries,  
• a charge related to reserves for amounts due from customers of approximately $0.3 million, 

and 
• a gain of approximately $0.3 million from the sale of a manufacturing facility. 

 
The operating results of the RVP segment for the six months ended June 28, 2008 include: 

• a gain of approximately $2.5 million from the sale of a manufacturing facility  
• costs and expenses incurred in connection with the start up of a range hood facility in 

Mexico of approximately $1.4 million, and  
• net foreign exchange gains of approximately $0.9 million related to transactions, including 

intercompany debt not indefinitely invested in Nortek’s subsidiaries.   
 

(2) The operating results of the HTP segment for the six months ended July 4, 2009 include: 
• an estimated non-cash goodwill impairment charge of approximately $250.0 million, 
• a charge related to reserves for amounts due from customers of approximately $1.2 million, 
• approximately $0.4 million of severance charges incurred related to certain reduction in 

workforce initiatives, and  
• net foreign exchange losses of approximately $0.2 million related to transactions.  

 
The operating results of the HTP segment for the first six months ended June 28, 2008 include 
approximately $4.7 million of fees and expenses recorded in connection with the settlement of a 
dispute with one of its former suppliers and net foreign exchange gains of approximately $0.2 million 
related to transactions.   
 

(3) The operating results of the R-HVAC segment for the first six months ended July 4, 2009 include 
approximately $0.3 million of severance charges incurred related to certain reduction in workforce 
initiatives and a charge related to reserves for amounts due from customers of approximately $0.1 
million. 
 

(4) The operating results of the C-HVAC segment for the first six months ended July 4, 2009 include a 
charge related to reserves for amounts due from customers of approximately $1.2 million and net 
foreign exchange losses of approximately $0.6 million related to transactions, including 
intercompany debt not indefinitely invested in Nortek’s subsidiaries. 
 
The operating results of the C-HVAC segment for the first six months ended June 28, 2008 include 
net foreign exchange gains of approximately $0.2 million related to transactions, including 
intercompany debt not indefinitely invested in Nortek’s subsidiaries.   
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Unaudited depreciation expense, amortization expense and capital expenditures for the Company’s reporting 
segments for the second quarter ended July 4, 2009 and June 28, 2008 were as follows: 
 

July 4, 2009 June 28, 2008

Depreciation Expense:
Residential ventilation products 3.7$                      4.1$                      
Home technology products 1.5                        1.6                        
Residential air conditioning and heating products 2.8                        2.7                        
Commercial air conditioning and heating products 1.4                        1.7                        
Other 0.2                        0.1                        

Consolidated depreciation expense 9.6$                      10.2$                    

Amortization expense:
Residential ventilation products (1) 2.1$                      3.4$                      
Home technology products 2.9                        3.3                        
Residential air conditioning and heating products (2) 0.3                        0.2                        
Commercial air conditioning and heating products 1.2                        1.3                        
Other --- 0.2                        

Consolidated amortization expense 6.5$                      8.4$                      

Capital Expenditures:
Residential ventilation products 1.2$                      3.3$                      
Home technology products 0.4                        0.7                        
Residential air conditioning and heating products 0.2                        2.4                        
Commercial air conditioning and heating products 2.1                        2.2                        

Consolidated capital expenditures 3.9$                      8.6$                      

(Dollar amounts in millions)

For the second quarter ended

 
 

 
(1) Includes a non-cash amortization of excess purchase price allocated to inventory recorded to cost of 

products sold of approximately $0.3 million for the second quarter ended July 4, 2009. 
 

(2) Includes a non-cash amortization of excess purchase price allocated to inventory recorded to cost of 
products sold of approximately $0.2 million for the second quarter ended July 4, 2009. 
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Unaudited depreciation expense, amortization expense and capital expenditures for the Company’s reporting 
segments for the first six months ended July 4, 2009 and June 28, 2008 were as follows: 
 

July 4, 2009 June 28, 2008

Depreciation Expense:
Residential ventilation products 7.1$                      8.3$                      
Home technology products 3.1                        3.2                        
Residential air conditioning and heating products 5.6                        5.7                        
Commercial air conditioning and heating products 3.1                        3.4                        
Other 0.3                        0.3                        

Consolidated depreciation expense 19.2$                    20.9$                    

Amortization expense:
Residential ventilation products (1) 3.8$                      5.3$                      
Home technology products 5.7                        6.6                        
Residential air conditioning and heating products (2) 0.5                        0.3                        
Commercial air conditioning and heating products 2.4                        2.6                        
Other --- 0.3                        

Consolidated amortization expense 12.4$                    15.1$                    

Capital Expenditures:
Residential ventilation products 1.8$                      7.4$                      
Home technology products 0.8                        1.5                        
Residential air conditioning and heating products 0.9                        4.1                        
Commercial air conditioning and heating products 2.9                        2.9                        

Consolidated capital expenditures 6.4$                      15.9$                    

(Dollar amounts in millions)

For the six months ended

 
 

(1) Includes a non-cash amortization of excess purchase price allocated to inventory recorded to cost of 
products sold of approximately $0.3 million for the first six months ended July 4, 2009. 

 
(2) Includes a non-cash amortization of excess purchase price allocated to inventory recorded to cost of 

products sold of approximately $0.2 million for the first six months ended July 4, 2009. 
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Unaudited segment assets for the Company’s reporting segments at July 4, 2009 and December 31, 
2008 were as follows: 

 
July 4, December 31,
2009 2008

Segment Assets:
Residential ventilation products 638.4$              671.2$               
Home technology products 322.4                603.8                 
Residential air conditioning and heating products 237.4                209.1                 
Commercial air conditioning and heating products 225.1                249.0                 

1,423.3             1,733.1              
Unallocated:
Cash and cash equivalents, including 

current restricted cash 172.8                182.9                 
Prepaid income taxes 9.6                    11.0                   
Other assets, including long-term restricted

investments and marketable securities 46.6                  53.3                   

Consolidated assets 1,652.3$           1,980.3$            

(Dollar amounts in millions)

 
 

(E) The Company provided income taxes on an interim basis based upon the estimated annual effective tax rate 
for 2009 and 2008.  The following reconciles the federal statutory income tax rate to the effective tax rate of 
approximately (0.4)% and 119.0% for the first six months ended July 4, 2009 and June 28, 2008: 

 For the first six months ended 

 July 4, 2009 June 28, 2008  

Income tax at the federal statutory rate 35.0% 35.0% 
Net change from federal statutory rate:   

Goodwill impairment (29.3) --- 
Decrease (increase) in FIN 48 reserves, including interest 0.4 57.4 
State income tax provision, net of federal  

income tax effect 
 

(1.1) 
 

13.0 
Tax effect resulting from foreign activities (0.2) 3.0 
Non-deductible expenses (0.2) 2.8 
Increase in valuation allowance related to deferred tax assets (5.2) --- 
Other, net     0.2       7.8  

Income tax at effective rate    (0.4)%   119.0% 
   

 
During the third quarter of 2008, the Company evaluated the realizability of its domestic deferred tax assets as 
a result of economic conditions, the Company’s operating results and the Company’s revised forecast, 
including the increase in future interest expense as a result of the debt refinancing that occurred in May 2008.  
As a result of this analysis during the third quarter of 2008, the Company established a valuation allowance of 
approximately $14.6 million against domestic deferred tax assets in existence as of December 31, 2007.  In 
addition, for the year ended December 31, 2008, the Company recorded a valuation allowance against certain 
tax assets related to domestic and foreign operating losses generated in 2008 of approximately $40.9 million.  
For the six months ended July 4, 2009, the Company provided an additional federal, foreign and state 
valuation allowance of approximately $14.4 million.  In assessing the need for a valuation allowance, the 
Company assessed the available means of recovering its deferred tax assets, including the ability to carry 
back net operating losses, available deferred tax liabilities, tax planning strategies and projections of future 
taxable income.  The Company concluded that it is more likely than not, based upon all available evidence, 
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that a valuation allowance is required for substantially all of its net domestic deferred tax assets, and certain 
foreign deferred tax assets and net operating losses. 
 
As of January 1, 2009, the Company had a liability of approximately $18.2 million for unrecognized tax 
benefits related to various federal, foreign and state income tax matters.  During the six months ended July 4, 
2009, the Company recorded a reduction (tax benefit) to this reserve of approximately $1.2 million as a result 
of the lapse in the statute of limitations on certain foreign tax items.  As a result of additional provisions to the 
reserve during the second quarter and six months of 2009, the liability for uncertain tax positions at July 4, 
2009 was approximately $17.9 million.  The corresponding amount of gross uncertain tax benefits was 
approximately $29.1 million and $28.6 million at July 4, 2009 and December 31, 2008, respectively. 
 
As of July 4, 2009, the Company has approximately $3.5 million in unrecognized benefits relating to various 
state tax issues, for which the statute of limitations is expected to expire in the fourth quarter of 2009. 
 
As of January 1, 2009, the Company accrued approximately $4.5 million of interest related to uncertain tax 
positions.  As of July 4, 2009, the total amount of accrued interest related to uncertain tax positions is 
approximately $4.5 million. The Company accounts for interest and penalties related to uncertain tax positions 
as part of its provision for federal and state taxes. 

 
(F) At July 4, 2009, the Company’s former subsidiary, Ply Gem, guaranteed approximately $16.2 million of third 

party obligations relating to rental payments through June 30, 2016 under a facility leased by a former 
subsidiary, which was sold on September 21, 2001.  Nortek indemnified these guarantees in connection with 
the sale of Ply Gem on February 12, 2004 and has an estimated liability related to this indemnified guarantee 
of approximately $0.7 million at July 4, 2009 in accordance with FASB Interpretation No. 45, “Guarantor’s 
Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of 
Others” (“FIN 45”).  The buyer of the former subsidiary provided certain indemnifications and other rights to 
Nortek for any payments that it might be required to make pursuant to this guarantee.  Should the buyer of the 
former subsidiary cease making payments, or fail to make payments in full, then Nortek may be required to 
make payments on its indemnification.  Should such payments be required, the Company cannot be certain 
that the buyer of the former subsidiary will meet its financial obligations with respect to its indemnification of 
Nortek.  At July 4, 2009, in accordance with SFAS No. 5, “Accounting for Contingencies”, the Company has a 
contingent loss of approximately $3.3 million recorded in its unaudited condensed consolidated balance sheet 
in connection with this arrangement, representing management’s best estimate.  During the second quarter of 
2009, the Company reduced its estimate by approximately $3.2 million, which resulted in a reduction to selling, 
general and administrative expense, net in the accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated statement of 
operations. 

 
The Company has indemnified third parties for certain matters in a number of transactions involving 
dispositions of former subsidiaries.  The Company has recorded liabilities in relation to these indemnifications, 
including the indemnified guarantee noted above, of approximately $13.5 million and $17.1 million at July 4, 
2009 and December 31, 2008, respectively.  Approximately $4.7 million of short-term liabilities and 
approximately $8.8 million of long-term liabilities are recorded in accrued expenses and other long-term 
liabilities, respectively, in the accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated balance sheet at July 4, 2009 
related to these indemnifications. 
 
The Company records insurance liabilities and related expenses for health, workers compensation, product 
and general liability losses and other insurance reserves and expenses in accordance with either the 
contractual terms of its policies or, if self-insured, the total liabilities that are estimable and probable as of the 
reporting date.  Insurance liabilities are recorded as current liabilities to the extent payments are expected to 
be made in the succeeding year by the Company with the remaining requirements classified as long-term 
liabilities.  The accounting for self-insured plans requires that significant judgments and estimates be made 
both with respect to the future liabilities to be paid for known claims and incurred but not reported claims as of 
the reporting date.  The Company considers historical trends when determining the appropriate insurance 
reserves to record in the consolidated balance sheet.  In certain cases where partial insurance coverage 
exists, the Company must estimate the portion of the liability that will be covered by existing insurance policies 
to arrive at the net expected liability to the Company.  The majority of the Company’s approximately $63.1 
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million of recorded insurance liabilities at July 4, 2009 relate to product liability accruals of approximately $42.8 
million. 
 
Changes in the Company’s combined short-term and long-term product liability accruals during the second 
quarter ended July 4, 2009 and June 28, 2008 are as follows: 

 
 For the second quarter ended 

 July 4, 2009 June 28, 2008 

 (Amounts in millions) 
   
Balance, beginning of the period $    42.0 $    35.8 
Provision during the period 2.7 3.3 
Payments made during the period (2.3) (1.4) 
Other adjustments         0.4         0.2 

Balance, end of the period $    42.8 $    37.9 
   

 
Changes in the Company’s combined short-term and long-term product liability accruals during the six months 
ended July 4, 2009 and June 28, 2008 are as follows: 

 
 For the six months ended 

 July 4, 2009 June 28, 2008 

 (Amounts in millions) 
   
Balance, beginning of the period $    39.5 $    35.0 
Provision during the period 6.3 6.2 
Payments made during the period (3.4) (3.5) 
Other adjustments         0.4         0.2 

Balance, end of the period $    42.8 $    37.9 
   

 
The Company sells a number of products and offers a number of warranties including, in some instances, 
extended warranties for which the Company receives proceeds.  The specific terms and conditions of these 
warranties vary depending on the product sold and the country in which the product is sold.  The Company 
estimates the costs that may be incurred under its warranties, with the exception of extended warranties, and 
records a liability for such costs at the time of sale.  Deferred revenue from extended warranties is recorded at 
the estimated fair value and is amortized over the life of the warranty and reviewed to ensure that the amount 
recorded is equal to or greater than estimated future costs.  Factors that affect the Company’s warranty liability 
include the number of units sold, historical and anticipated rates of warranty claims, cost per claim and new 
product introduction.  The Company periodically assesses the adequacy of its recorded warranty claims and 
adjusts the amounts as necessary. 
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Changes in the Company’s combined short-term and long-term warranty accruals during the second quarter 
ended July 4, 2009 and June 28, 2008 are as follows: 

 
 For the second quarter ended 

 July 4, 2009 June 28, 2008 

 (Amounts in millions) 
   
Balance, beginning of the period $    51.8 $    48.7 
Warranties provided during the period 7.3 8.7 
Settlements made during the period (6.9) (7.4) 
Changes in liability estimate, including 

expirations  
 

        1.2 

 
       0.6 

Balance, end of the period $    53.4 $    50.6 
 
Changes in the Company’s combined short-term and long-term warranty accruals during the six months 
ended July 4, 2009 and June 28, 2008 are as follows: 

 
 For the six months ended 

 July 4, 2009 June 28, 2008 

 (Amounts in millions) 
   
Balance, beginning of the period $    51.5 $    47.3 
Warranties provided during the period 14.4 16.0 
Settlements made during the period (13.3) (13.9) 
Changes in liability estimate, including 

expirations  
 

        0.8 

 
       1.2 

Balance, end of the period $    53.4 $    50.6 
 
The Company is subject to other contingencies, including legal proceedings and claims arising out of its 
businesses that cover a wide range of matters, including, among others, environmental matters, contract and 
employment claims, product liability, warranty and modification and adjustment or replacement of component 
parts of units sold, which include product recalls.  Product liability, environmental and other legal proceedings 
also include matters with respect to businesses previously owned.  The Company has used various 
substances in its products and manufacturing operations which have been or may be deemed to be hazardous 
or dangerous, and the extent of its potential liability, if any, under environmental, product liability and workers’ 
compensation statutes, rules, regulations and case law is unclear.  Further, due to the lack of adequate 
information and the potential impact of present regulations and any future regulations, there are certain 
circumstances in which no range of potential exposure may be reasonably estimated. 
 
While it is impossible to ascertain the ultimate legal and financial liability with respect to contingent liabilities, 
including lawsuits, the Company believes that the aggregate amount of such liabilities, if any, in excess of 
amounts provided or covered by insurance, will not have a material adverse effect on the consolidated financial 
position, results of operations or liquidity of the Company.  It is possible, however, that future results of 
operations for any particular future period could be materially affected by changes in the Company’s 
assumptions or strategies related to these contingencies or changes that are not within the Company’s control. 
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(G) The Company and its subsidiaries have various pension plans, supplemental retirement plans for certain 
officers, profit sharing and other post-retirement benefit plans requiring contributions to qualified trusts and 
union administered funds. 

 
Pension and profit sharing expense charged to operations aggregated approximately $2.1 million and $1.9 
million for the second quarter ended July 4, 2009 and June 28, 2008, respectively, and aggregated 
approximately $3.3 million and $3.5 million for the six months ended July 4, 2009 and June 28, 2008, 
respectively. 
 
The Company’s policy is to generally fund currently at least the minimum required annual contribution of its 
various qualified defined benefit plans.  At July 4, 2009, the Company estimated that approximately $2.8 
million would be contributed to the Company’s defined benefit pension plans in 2009, of which approximately 
$1.3 million was contributed through the first six months of 2009.   
 
The Company’s unaudited net periodic benefit cost (income) for its defined benefit plans for the second quarter 
ended July 4, 2009 and June 28, 2008 consists of the following components: 
 

 For the second quarter ended 

 July 4, 2009 June 28, 2008 

 (Dollar amounts in millions) 
   
Service cost $     0.2 $    0.2 
Interest cost 2.3 3.4 
Expected return on plan assets (1.9) (3.7) 
Recognized actuarial loss       0.1        --- 

Net periodic benefit cost (income)  $    0.7 $   (0.1) 
 
The Company’s unaudited net periodic benefit cost (income) for its defined benefit plans for the six months ended 
July 4, 2009 and June 28, 2008 consists of the following components: 
 

 For the six months ended 

 July 4, 2009 June 28, 2008 

 (Dollar amounts in millions) 
   
Service cost $     0.3 $    0.3 
Interest cost 4.6 5.9 
Expected return on plan assets (3.7) (6.4) 
Recognized actuarial loss       0.3        --- 

Net periodic benefit cost (income)  $    1.5 $   (0.2) 
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The Company’s unaudited net periodic benefit cost for its subsidiary’s Post-Retirement Health Benefit Plan for the 
second quarter ended July 4, 2009 and June 28, 2008 consists of the following components: 

 
 For the second quarter ended 

 July 4, 2009 June 28, 2008 

 (Dollar amounts in millions) 
   

Interest cost $    0.1 $     0.1 

Net periodic post-retirement health cost $    0.1 $     0.1 
 
The Company’s unaudited net periodic benefit cost for its subsidiary’s Post-Retirement Health Benefit Plan for the 
six months ended July 4, 2009 and June 28, 2008 consists of the following components: 

 
 For the six months ended 

 July 4, 2009 June 28, 2008 

 (Dollar amounts in millions) 
   

Interest cost $     0.2 $     0.2 
Amortization of prior service cost      (0.1)         --- 

Net periodic post-retirement health cost $     0.1 $     0.2 
 

(H) On August 17, 2009, the Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary Cleanpak International, Inc. announced plans to 
shut down manufacturing operations at its Clackamas, Oregon plant, including termination of all 163 workers, 
and to relocate such operations to the Huntair, Inc. plant in Tualatin, Oregon.  The Company will be meeting with 
the Sheet Metal Workers Local 16 Union to discuss the effects of the plant shutdown.  It is anticipated that the 
manufacturing operations at Clackamas will cease by the end of 2009.  The costs of the shutdown, including any 
severance, relocation expenses and facility lease costs are estimated to be between $3.0 million and $4.0 
million and have not been reflected in the Company’s Unaudited Financial Statements as of or for the periods 
ended July 4, 2009. 
 

(I) Nortek’s 10% Senior Secured Notes and Nortek’s 8 1/2% Notes are guaranteed by all of Nortek’s current and 
certain future domestic subsidiaries (the “Guarantors”), as defined, with the exception of certain domestic 
subsidiaries, as defined, which are excluded from the 10% Senior Secured Note and the 8 1/2% Note 
guarantees. The Guarantors are wholly-owned either directly or indirectly by Nortek and jointly and severally 
guarantee Nortek’s obligations under the 10% Senior Secured Notes and the 8 1/2% Notes.  None of Nortek’s 
subsidiaries organized outside of the United States guarantee the 10% Senior Secured Notes or the 8 1/2% 
Notes. 

 
Consolidating balance sheets related to Nortek, its guarantor subsidiaries and non-guarantor subsidiaries as 
of July 4, 2009 and December 31, 2008 and the related consolidating statements of operations and cash 
flows for the second quarter and six months ended July 4, 2009 and June 28, 2008 are reflected below in 
order to comply with the reporting requirements for guarantor subsidiaries. 
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Unaudited Condensed Consolidating Balance Sheet 
As of July 4, 2009 
 

Guarantor Non-Guarantor  Nortek
Parent Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated

ASSETS:
Current Assets:
Unrestricted cash and cash equivalents 124.1$            14.3$                33.6$                $                   --- 172.0$           
Restricted cash 0.1                  0.7                    --- --- 0.8                 
Accounts receivable, less allowances --- 204.8                56.0                  --- 260.8             
Intercompany receivables (payables) 3.0                  (2.3)                  (0.7)                   --- ---
Inventories --- 212.4                49.8                  --- 262.2             
Prepaid expenses 0.8                  8.4                    3.5                    --- 12.7               
Other current assets 0.4                  2.0                    6.3                    --- 8.7                 
Prepaid income taxes (18.7)            25.3                3.0                   --- 9.6               
     Total current assets 109.7              465.6                151.5                --- 726.8             
Property and Equipment, at Cost:
Total property and equipment, net 0.8                  121.6                70.9                  --- 193.3             
Other Long-term Assets:
Investment in subsidiaries and long-term
   receivable from (to) subsidiaries 1,043.2           (75.3)                (65.4)                 (902.5)                ---
Goodwill --- 549.0                12.5                  --- 561.5             
Intangible assets, less accumulated amortization --- 101.9                21.8                  --- 123.7             
Other assets 43.7                2.7                    0.6                    --- 47.0               
     Total other long-term assets 1,086.9           578.3                (30.5)                 (902.5)                732.2             
     Total assets 1,197.4$         1,165.5$           191.9$              (902.5)$              1,652.3$        
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDER'S
     (DEFICIT) INVESTMENT:
Current Liabilities:
Notes payable and other short-term obligations $                --- $                  --- 18.4$                $                   --- 18.4$             
Current maturities of long-term debt 30.0                4.8                    5.3                    --- 40.1               
Long-term debt --- --- 6.1                    --- 6.1                 
Accounts payable 0.9                  89.6                  45.2                  --- 135.7             
Accrued expenses and taxes, net 37.2                112.0                39.1                  --- 188.3             
     Total current liabilities 68.1                206.4                114.1                --- 388.6             
Other Liabilities:
Deferred income taxes 18.0                (6.3)                  13.4                  --- 25.1               
Long-term payable to affiliate 43.0                --- --- --- 43.0               
Other long-term liabilities 49.9                96.7                  9.8                    --- 156.4             
 110.9              90.4                  23.2                  --- 224.5             
Notes, Mortgage Notes and Obligations
     Payable, Less Current Maturities 1,513.4           19.7                  1.1                    --- 1,534.2          

Stockholder's (deficit) investment (495.0)            849.0                53.5                  (902.5)                (495.0)            
     Total liabilities and stockholder's (deficit) investment 1,197.4$         1,165.5$           191.9$              (902.5)$              1,652.3$        

(Dollar amounts in millions)
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Unaudited Condensed Consolidating Balance Sheet 
As of December 31, 2008 
 

Guarantor Non-Guarantor  Nortek
Parent Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated

ASSETS:
Current Assets:
Unrestricted cash and cash equivalents 144.1$            7.5$                  30.6$                $                   --- 182.2$           
Restricted cash --- 0.7                    --- --- 0.7                 
Accounts receivable, less allowances --- 175.9                84.4                  --- 260.3             
Intercompany receivables (payables) 2.4                  (6.1)                  3.7                    --- ---
Inventories --- 242.7                53.6                  --- 296.3             
Prepaid expenses --- 8.7                    4.1                    --- 12.8               
Other current assets 0.2                  1.3                    8.0                    --- 9.5                 
Prepaid income taxes (16.3)            24.3                3.0                   --- 11.0             
     Total current assets 130.4              455.0                187.4                --- 772.8             
Property and Equipment, at Cost:
Total property and equipment, net 0.8                  130.5                76.4                  --- 207.7             
Other Long-term Assets:
Investment in subsidiaries and long-term
   receivable from (to) subsidiaries 1,276.1           (82.8)                (69.8)                 (1,123.5)             ---
Goodwill --- 799.6                11.2                  --- 810.8             
Intangible assets, less accumulated amortization --- 111.5                23.9                  --- 135.4             
Other assets 49.7                2.8                    1.1                    --- 53.6               
     Total other long-term assets 1,325.8           831.1                (33.6)                 (1,123.5)             999.8             
     Total assets 1,457.0$         1,416.6$           230.2$              (1,123.5)$           1,980.3$        
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDER'S
     (DEFICIT) INVESTMENT:
Current Liabilities:
Notes payable and other short-term obligations $                --- $                  --- 32.7$                $                   --- 32.7$             
Current maturities of long-term debt --- 7.7                    5.4                    --- 13.1               
Long-term debt --- --- 8.1                    --- 8.1                 
Accounts payable 2.9                  83.4                  66.0                  --- 152.3             
Accrued expenses and taxes, net 42.3                127.5                44.1                  --- 213.9             
     Total current liabilities 45.2                218.6                156.3                --- 420.1             
Other Liabilities:
Deferred income taxes 12.8                4.4                    13.5                  --- 30.7               
Long-term payable to affiliate 43.1                --- --- --- 43.1               
Other long-term liabilities 52.9                99.4                  8.4                    --- 160.7             
 108.8              103.8                21.9                  --- 234.5             
Notes, Mortgage Notes and Obligations
     Payable, Less Current Maturities 1,522.8           20.7                  2.0                    --- 1,545.5          

Stockholder's (deficit) investment (219.8)            1,073.5             50.0                  (1,123.5)             (219.8)            
     Total liabilities and stockholder's (deficit) investment 1,457.0$         1,416.6$           230.2$              (1,123.5)$           1,980.3$        

(Dollar amounts in millions)
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Unaudited Condensed Consolidating Statement of Operations 
For the second quarter ended July 4, 2009 
 

Guarantor Non-Guarantor  Nortek
Parent Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated

Net Sales $           --- 410.6$            105.1$                  (27.9)$            487.8$              

Costs and expenses:
Costs of products sold --- 292.4              87.2                      (27.9)              351.7                
Selling, general and administrative expenses, net 5.1                 76.6                14.1                      --- 95.8                  
Goodwill impairment charge --- 250.0              --- --- 250.0                
Amortization of intangible assets --- 5.2                0.8                       --- 6.0                  

5.1                624.2            102.1                  (27.9)              703.5              
Operating (loss) earnings (5.1)                (213.6)             3.0                        --- (215.7)              
Interest expense (36.7)              (0.4)                 (0.6)                      --- (37.7)                
Investment income 0.1                --- --- --- 0.1                  
(Loss) income before charges and allocations 

to subsidiaries and equity in subsidiaries' 
(loss) earnings before income taxes (41.7)              (214.0)             2.4                        --- (253.3)              

Charges and allocations to subsidiaries and 
equity in subsidiaries' (loss) earnings 
before income taxes (211.6)            (1.5)                 0.7                        212.4              ---

(Loss) earnings before (benefit)
provision for income taxes (253.3)            (215.5)             3.1                        212.4              (253.3)              

(Benefit) provision for income taxes (7.9)                17.4                3.3                        (20.7)              (7.9)                  
Net (loss) earnings (245.4)$          (232.9)$           (0.2)$                    233.1$            (245.4)$            

(Dollar amounts in millions)
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Unaudited Condensed Consolidating Statement of Operations 
For the second quarter ended June 28, 2008 
 

Guarantor Non-Guarantor  Nortek
Parent Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated

Net Sales $           --- 533.9$            151.8$                  (38.6)$            647.1$              

Costs and expenses:
Costs of products sold --- 387.7              124.2                    (38.6)              473.3                
Selling, general and administrative expenses, net 6.5                 88.9                23.1                      --- 118.5                
Amortization of intangible assets 0.2                7.0                1.2                       --- 8.4                  

6.7                483.6            148.5                  (38.6)              600.2              
Operating (loss) earnings (6.7)                50.3                3.3                        --- 46.9                  
Interest expense (29.9)              (0.7)                 (0.7)                      --- (31.3)                
Loss from debt retirement (9.9)                --- --- --- (9.9)                  
Investment income --- 0.1                0.1                       --- 0.2                  
(Loss) income before charges and allocations 

to subsidiaries and equity in subsidiaries' 
earnings (loss) before income taxes (46.5)              49.7                2.7                        --- 5.9                    

Charges and allocations to subsidiaries and 
equity in subsidiaries' earnings (loss)
before income taxes 52.4               (12.7)               0.6                        (40.3)              ---

Earnings (loss) before provision
(benefit) for income taxes 5.9                 37.0                3.3                        (40.3)              5.9                    

Provision (benefit) for income taxes 2.2                 14.5                0.6                        (15.1)              2.2                    
Net earnings (loss) 3.7$               22.5$              2.7$                      (25.2)$            3.7$                  

(Dollar amounts in millions)
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Unaudited Condensed Consolidating Statement of Operations 
For the six months ended July 4, 2009 
 

Guarantor Non-Guarantor  Nortek
Parent Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated

Net Sales $           --- 763.8$            218.7$                  (55.7)$            926.8$              

Costs and expenses:
Costs of products sold --- 547.2              177.7                    (55.7)              669.2                
Selling, general and administrative expenses, net 11.5               151.0              34.3                      --- 196.8                
Goodwill impairment charge --- 250.0              --- --- 250.0                
Amortization of intangible assets --- 10.4              1.5                       --- 11.9                

11.5              958.6            213.5                  (55.7)              1,127.9           
Operating (loss) earnings (11.5)              (194.8)             5.2                        --- (201.1)              
Interest expense (74.0)              (0.8)                 (1.2)                      --- (76.0)                
Investment income 0.1                --- 0.1                       --- 0.2                  
(Loss) income before charges and allocations 

to subsidiaries and equity in subsidiaries' 
(loss) earnings before income taxes (85.4)              (195.6)             4.1                        --- (276.9)              

Charges and allocations to subsidiaries and 
equity in subsidiaries' (loss) earnings 
before income taxes (191.5)            (9.6)                 1.4                        199.7              ---

(Loss) earnings before provision
(benefit) for income taxes (276.9)            (205.2)             5.5                        199.7              (276.9)              

Provision (benefit) for income taxes 1.2                 21.4                4.7                        (26.1)              1.2                    
Net (loss) earnings (278.1)$          (226.6)$           0.8$                      225.8$            (278.1)$            

(Dollar amounts in millions)
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Unaudited Condensed Consolidating Statement of Operations 
For the six months ended June 28, 2008 
 

Guarantor Non-Guarantor  Nortek
Parent Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated

Net Sales $           --- 965.4$            289.1$                  (67.2)$            1,187.3$           

Costs and expenses:
Costs of products sold --- 695.1              237.0                    (67.2)              864.9                
Selling, general and administrative expenses, net 14.0               177.8              45.2                      --- 237.0                
Amortization of intangible assets 0.3                12.8              2.0                       --- 15.1                

14.3              885.7            284.2                  (67.2)              1,117.0           
Operating (loss) earnings (14.3)              79.7                4.9                        --- 70.3                  
Interest expense (55.8)              (1.4)                 (1.5)                      --- (58.7)                
Loss from debt retirement (9.9)                --- --- --- (9.9)                  
Investment income 0.1                0.1                0.2                       --- 0.4                  
(Loss) income before charges and allocations 

to subsidiaries and equity in subsidiaries' 
earnings (loss) before income taxes (79.9)              78.4                3.6                        --- 2.1                    

Charges and allocations to subsidiaries and 
equity in subsidiaries' earnings (loss)
before income taxes 82.0               (23.2)               1.2                        (60.0)              ---

Earnings (loss) before provision
(benefit) for income taxes 2.1                 55.2                4.8                        (60.0)              2.1                    

Provision (benefit) for income taxes 2.5                 22.2                1.9                        (24.1)              2.5                    
Net (loss) earnings (0.4)$              33.0$              2.9$                      (35.9)$            (0.4)$                

(Dollar amounts in millions)
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Unaudited Condensed Consolidating Cash Flow Statement 
For the six months ended July 4, 2009 
 

Guarantor Non-Guarantor Nortek
Parent Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Consolidated

Cash Flows from operating activities:
Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities (95.0)$         83.5$            18.2$                 6.7$               
Cash Flows from investing activities:
Capital expenditures --- (4.4)              (2.0)                    (6.4)                
Net cash paid for businesses acquired --- (14.1)            --- (14.1)              
Proceeds from the sale of property and equipment 1.4              0.5                --- 1.9                 
Change in restricted cash and investments (0.1)             --- --- (0.1)                
Other, net (0.2)           (0.8)            (1.5)                    (2.5)              
     Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 1.1            (18.8)          (3.5)                    (21.2)            
Cash Flows from financing activities:
Increase in borrowings 20.0            --- 2.0                     22.0               
Payment of borrowings --- (4.0)              (13.7)                  (17.7)              
Long-term intercompany advance 53.9          (53.9)          --- ---
     Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 73.9          (57.9)          (11.7)                  4.3               
Net change in unrestricted cash and cash equivalents (20.0)           6.8                3.0                     (10.2)              
Unrestricted cash and cash equivalents at the beginning
  of the period 144.1        7.5              30.6                   182.2           
Unrestricted cash and cash equivalents at the end
  of the period 124.1$       14.3$           33.6$                 172.0$          

(Dollar amounts in millions)
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Unaudited Condensed Consolidating Cash Flow Statement 
For the six months ended June 28, 2008 
 

Guarantor Non-Guarantor Nortek
Parent Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Consolidated

Cash Flows from operating activities:
Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities (51.5)$         79.5$            16.6$                 44.6$             
Cash Flows from investing activities:
Capital expenditures --- (9.7)              (6.2)                    (15.9)              
Net cash paid for businesses acquired --- (32.7)            --- (32.7)              
Proceeds from the sale of property and equipment --- 6.2                --- 6.2                 
Other, net (0.8)           (0.9)            (0.2)                   (1.9)              
     Net cash used in investing activities (0.8)           (37.1)          (6.4)                   (44.3)            
Cash Flows from financing activities:
Increase in borrowings 125.0          --- 8.0                     133.0             
Payment of borrowings (46.8)           (11.0)            (8.9)                    (66.7)              
Net proceeds from the sale of the 10% Senior 

Secured Notes due 2013 742.2          --- --- 742.2             
Redemption of Nortek's senior secured credit facility (755.5)         --- --- (755.5)            
Fees paid in connection with new debt facilities (31.7)           --- --- (31.7)              
Equity investment by THL-Nortek Investors, LLC 4.2              --- --- 4.2                 
Long-term intercompany advance 33.1            (33.1)            --- ---
Other, net (0.1)           --- --- (0.1)              
     Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 70.4          (44.1)          (0.9)                   25.4             
Net change in unrestricted cash and cash equivalents 18.1            (1.7)              9.3                     25.7               
Unrestricted cash and cash equivalents at the beginning
  of the period 20.5          8.9              24.0                  53.4             
Unrestricted cash and cash equivalents at the end
  of the period 38.6$         7.2$             33.3$                 79.1$            

(Dollar amounts in millions)
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AND THE SECOND QUARTER AND FIRST SIX MONTHS ENDED JUNE 28, 2008 
 
Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations 
 
Nortek, Inc. (“Nortek”) and its wholly-owned subsidiaries (collectively, the “Company”) are diversified manufacturers 
of innovative, branded residential and commercial building products, operating within four reporting segments:  
 

• the Residential Ventilation Products (“RVP”) segment, 
• the Home Technology Products (“HTP”) segment,  
• the Residential Air Conditioning and Heating Products (“R-HVAC”) segment, and 
• the Commercial Air Conditioning and Heating Products (“C-HVAC”) segment. 

 
Through these segments, the Company manufactures and sells, primarily in the United States, Canada and 
Europe, a wide variety of products for the professional remodeling and replacement markets, the residential and 
commercial construction markets, the manufactured housing market and the do-it-yourself (“DIY”) market.   
 
During the fourth quarter of 2008, the Company changed the composition of its reporting segments to report the R-
HVAC segment separately.  In accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 131, 
“Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information”, the Company has restated prior period 
segment disclosures to reflect the new composition. 
 
The RVP segment manufactures and sells room and whole house ventilation products and other products primarily 
for the professional remodeling and replacement markets, the residential new construction market and the DIY 
market.  The principal products sold by this segment include:  
 

• kitchen range hoods,  
• exhaust fans (such as bath fans and fan, heater and light combination units), and  
• indoor air quality products. 

 
The HTP segment manufactures and sells a broad array of products designed to provide convenience and security 
for residential and certain commercial applications.  The principal products sold by this segment are:  

 
• audio / video distribution and control equipment, 
• speakers and subwoofers, 
• security and access control products, 
• power conditioners and surge protectors, 
• audio / video wall mounts and fixtures,  
• lighting and home automation controls, and 
• structured wiring. 

 
The R-HVAC segment manufactures and sells heating, ventilating and air conditioning systems for site-built 
residential and manufactured housing structures and certain commercial markets.  The principal products sold by 
the segment are: 
 

• split-system air conditioners, 
• heat pumps, 
• air handlers, and 
• furnaces and related equipment. 

 
The C-HVAC segment manufactures and sells heating, ventilating and air conditioning systems for custom-
designed commercial applications to meet customer specifications.  The principal products sold by the segment are 
large custom roof top cooling and heating products. 
 
In the results of operations presented below, Unallocated includes corporate related items, intersegment 
eliminations and certain income and expense not allocated to its segments. 
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Financial Statement Presentation 
 
The unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements presented herein (the “Unaudited Financial 
Statements”) reflect the financial position, results of operations and cash flows of Nortek and all of its wholly-owned 
subsidiaries, and have been prepared on the basis of a going concern.  However, the conditions noted further 
below in “Liquidity and Capital Resources” create uncertainty about Nortek’s and its parent company’s, NTK 
Holdings, Inc. (“NTK Holdings”), ability to meet their debt obligations as they come due or may be accelerated and 
the implications of such non payments, including a possible change of control at Nortek.  The Unaudited Financial 
Statements do not include any adjustments to reflect the possible future effects on the recoverability and 
classification of assets or the amounts and classifications of liabilities that may result from the outcome of these 
uncertainties.  
 
The Company operates on a calendar year and for its interim periods operates on a 4-4-5 fiscal calendar, where 
each fiscal quarter is comprised of two 4-week periods and one 5-week period, with each week ending on a 
Saturday.  The Company’s fiscal year always begins on January 1 and ends on December 31.  As a result, the 
Company’s first and fourth quarters may have more or less days included than a traditional 4-4-5 fiscal calendar, 
which consists of 91 days.  The second quarters ended July 4, 2009 (“second quarter of 2009”) and June 28, 2008 
(“second quarter of 2008”) each include 91 days.  The first six months ended July 4, 2009 (“six months of 2009”) 
and June 28, 2008 (“six months of 2008”) include 185 days and 180 days, respectively. 
 
The Company has evaluated subsequent events for potential recognition or disclosure through the date the 
financial statements were issued, August 24, 2009.   
 
The “Results of Operations” and “Liquidity and Capital Resources” sections which follow contain various tables that 
are intended to assist the reader in comparing current results with the prior period. 
 
Critical Accounting Policies 
 
The Company’s discussion and analysis of its financial condition and results of operations are based upon the 
Company’s Unaudited Financial Statements, which have been prepared in accordance with U.S. generally 
accepted accounting principles on a going concern basis.  (See “Liquidity and Capital Resources” and the Notes to 
the Unaudited Financial Statements included elsewhere herein.)  Certain of the Company’s accounting policies 
require the application of judgment in selecting the appropriate assumptions for calculating financial estimates.  By 
their nature, these judgments are subject to an inherent degree of uncertainty.  The Company periodically evaluates 
the judgments and estimates used for its critical accounting policies to ensure that such judgments and estimates 
are reasonable for its interim and year-end reporting requirements.  These judgments and estimates are based on 
the Company’s historical experience, current trends and information available from other sources, as appropriate.  If 
different conditions result from those assumptions used in the Company’s judgments, the results could be materially 
different from the Company’s estimates.   
 
T
 

he Company’s critical accounting policies include: 

• Revenue Recognition, Accounts Receivable and Related Expenses, 
• Inventory Valuation, 
• Income Taxes, 
• Goodwill and Other Long-Lived Assets, 
• Pensions and Post-Retirement Health Benefits, 
• Warranty, Product Recalls and Safety Upgrades, 
• Insurance Liabilities, including Product Liability, and 
• Contingencies. 
 

The Company’s critical accounting policies with respect to the Company’s accounting for goodwill and related 
goodwill impairment charges are summarized below.  Further detail regarding the Company’s other critical 
accounting policies can be found in the consolidated financial statements and the notes included in NTK Holdings’ 
latest annual report on Form 10-K as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”). 
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Goodwill 
 
The Company accounts for acquired goodwill in accordance with Statement of Financial Standards (“SFAS”) No. 
141, “Business Combinations” (“SFAS No. 141”), SFAS No. 141(R), “Business Combinations” (“SFAS No. 141(R)”) 
and SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets” (“SFAS No. 142”) which involves judgment with respect 
to the determination of the purchase price and the valuation of the acquired assets and liabilities in order to 
determine the final amount of goodwill.  The Company believes that the estimates that it has used to record its 
acquisitions are reasonable and in accordance with SFAS No. 141 and SFAS No. 142. 
 
The Company accounts for goodwill impairment in accordance with SFAS No. 142, which requires considerable 
judgment in the ongoing evaluation of goodwill impairment.  Under SFAS No. 142, goodwill and intangible assets 
determined to have indefinite useful lives are not amortized.  Instead, these assets are evaluated for impairment on 
an annual basis, or more frequently when an event occurs or circumstances change between annual tests that 
would more likely than not reduce the fair value of the reporting unit below its carrying value, including, among 
others, a significant adverse change in the business climate.  Goodwill is considered to be potentially impaired 
when the net book value of a reporting unit exceeds its estimated fair value as determined in accordance with the 
Company’s valuation procedures.  The Company has set the annual evaluation date as of the first day of its fiscal 
fourth quarter.  The reporting units evaluated for goodwill impairment by the Company have been determined to be 
the same as the Company’s operating segments in accordance with the criteria in SFAS No. 142 for determining 
reporting units and include Residential Ventilation Products (“RVP”), Home Technology Products (“HTP”) and the 
residential and commercial segments of Air Conditioning and Heating Products (“R-HVAC” and “C-HVAC”). 
 
The Company utilizes a combination of a discounted cash flow approach (the “DCF Approach”) and an EBITDA 
multiple approach (the “EBITDA Multiple Approach”) in order to value the Company’s reporting units required to be 
tested for impairment by SFAS No. 142.  The DCF Approach requires that the Company forecast future cash flows 
of the reporting units and discount the cash flow stream based upon a weighted average cost of capital (“WACC”) 
that is derived, in part, from comparable companies within similar industries.  The discounted cash flow calculations 
also include a terminal value calculation that is based upon an expected long-term growth rate for the applicable 
reporting unit.  The EBITDA Multiple Approach requires that the Company estimate certain valuation multiples of 
EBITDA derived from comparable companies and apply those derived EBITDA multiples to the applicable reporting 
unit EBITDA for the selected EBITDA measurement periods.  The Company then uses a weighted average of 70% 
of the DCF Approach and 30% for the EBITDA Multiple Approach, as the Company believes that the DCF Approach 
is a more representative measurement of the long-term fair value of the reporting units and, as such, a higher 
weighting of valuation probability is appropriate in the overall weighted average computation of fair value.   
 
Prior to the annual goodwill impairment evaluation in the fourth quarter each year, the Company performs the 
following analyses, among others, on a quarterly basis in order to determine if events or circumstances have 
changed such that it is more likely than not that the fair value of any of the Company’s reporting units are below the 
respective carrying amounts: 
 

- The Company reviews public information from its competitors and other industry information to determine if 
there are any significant adverse trends in the competitor’s businesses such as significant declines in 
market capitalization or significant goodwill impairment charges that could be an indication that the goodwill 
of the Company’s reporting units are potentially impaired. 

 
- The Company updates its long-term 5-year financial projections and compares the amounts to the prior 

long-term 5-year projections to determine if there has been a significant adverse change that could 
materially lower the Company’s prior valuation conclusions for any of the reporting units under both the 
DCF and EBITDA Multiple Approaches.   

 
- The Company updates its analyses of the WACC rates for each reporting unit in order to determine if there 

have been any significant increases in the rates, which could materially lower the Company’s prior valuation 
conclusions for any of the reporting units under the DCF Approach. 
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- The Company updates its analyses of comparable company EBITDA multiples in order to determine if there 
have been any significant decreases in the multiples, which could materially lower the Company’s prior 
valuation conclusions for any of the reporting units under the EBITDA Multiple Approach. 

 
- The Company determines the current carrying value for each reporting unit as of the end of the quarter and 

compares it the prior quarter amount in order to determine if there has been any significant increase that 
could impact the Company’s prior goodwill impairment assessments. 

 
- The Company will also, as necessary, run pro forma models substituting the new assumption information 

derived from the above analyses to determine the impact that such assumption changes would have had 
on the prior valuations.  These pro forma calculations assist the Company in determining whether or not the 
new valuation assumption information would have resulted in a significant decrease in the fair value of any 
of the reporting units. 

 
Based on this analysis, the Company makes a final determination for each reporting unit as to whether or not an 
interim “Step 1 Test” is required under SFAS No. 142 for the quarter.  The SFAS No. 142 Step 1 Test compares the 
estimated fair value of each reporting unit to its carrying value and if the estimated fair value is lower than the 
carrying value then there is an indication of goodwill impairment under SFAS No. 142 and a “Step 2 Test” is 
required.  If the estimated fair value of the reporting unit exceeds the carrying value then no further goodwill 
impairment testing is required by SFAS No. 142. 
 
In connection with its second quarter 2009 SFAS No. 142 analysis, the Company determined that Step 1 Testing 
under SFAS No. 142 was required for each of the reporting units, primarily due to the Company’s reductions in the 
long-term 5-year forecasts for each reporting unit as discussed further below. 
 
As indicated above, the Company uses a combination of a DCF Approach weighted at 70% and an EBITDA 
Multiple Approach weighted at 30% in order to determine the estimated fair values under Step 1 Testing, which is 
consistent with the valuation approach that the Company used to determine the estimated fair values for the 
reporting units for the Company’s final Step 1 Testing under SFAS No. 142 during 2008, which included an interim 
test as of December 31, 2008, an annual test as of September 28, 2008 and an interim test as of September 27, 
2008. 
 
The key assumptions used by the Company in order to determine the appropriate WACC rates for the DCF 
Approach for each reporting unit are the following: 
 

- A risk free rate based on the 20-year Treasury Bond yield. 
 
- A market risk premium of 6% based on the Company’s assessment of the additional risk associated with 

equity investment that is determined in part through the use of published historical equity risk studies as 
adjusted for the business risk index for each reporting unit.  The business risk index is derived from 
comparable companies and measures the estimated stock price volatility.  

 
- Comparable company and market interest rate information are used to determine the cost of debt and the 

appropriate long-term capital structure in order to weight the cost of debt and the cost of equity into an 
overall WACC. 

 
- A size risk premium based on the value of the reporting unit that is determined through the use of published 

historical size risk premia data. 
 

- A specific risk premium for the cost of equity, as necessary, which factors in overall economic and stock 
market volatility conditions at the time the WACC is estimated.  The Company used 2% as the specific risk 
premium as of December 31, 2008 and July 4, 2009 for the WACC rates disclosed below.         
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The following is a summary of the WACC rates by reporting unit used for the DCF Approach as of July 4, 2009 and 
December 31, 2008, which was the most Company’s most recent prior valuation date under SFAS No. 142. 
 

Reporting Unit 7-04-09 12-31-08   

RVP 11.8% 12.0% 
HTP 12.4 12.8 
R-HVAC 17.2 18.0 
C-HVAC 17.2 18.0 

 
The reduction in the RVP and HTP WACC rates from December 31, 2008 to July 4, 2009 is principally due to a 
0.3% reduction in the risk free rate assumption.  The reduction in the R-HVAC and C-HVAC WACC rates from 
December 31, 2008 to July 4, 2009 is principally due a 0.6% reduction in the market risk premium as a result of a 
lower business risk index and the 0.3% reduction in the risk free rate assumption.  The principal differences 
between the RVP and HTP WACC rates and the R-HVAC and C-HVAC rates are higher size risk premiums for R-
HVAC and C-HVAC due to their smaller size and a higher equity component to the long-term capital structure. 
 
The Company’s latest long-term 5-year forecast includes the following macroeconomic assumptions, among others: 
 

- A continued downward outlook for 2009 due to (i) tepid demand from homebuilders, (ii) a challenging 
environment for existing home sales and (iii) decreased discretionary spending by consumers and 
businesses. 

 
- The Company expects U.S. housing starts, which is a key driver of demand for the Company’s products, to 

bottom out in 2009 and achieve growth beginning in 2010 and continuing through the forecast period. 
 

- Residential fixed investment is expected to resume growth in 2010 while non-residential construction is not 
expected to increase until 2011  

 
Based on these macro-economic assumptions, the Company believes that EBITDA will continue to decline in 2009 
and then begin to rebound in 2010 with continued growth through 2014.  The Company’s prior long-term forecasts 
had expected the rebound in EBITDA to begin to occur in the second half of 2009.  As a result, the Company 
significantly lowered its cash flow forecasts for 2009 and 2010 for all of the reporting units and for 2011 through 
2014 for the HTP, R-HVAC and C-HVAC reporting units. 
 
The combined impact of the change in the WACC rates used and the change in the long-term forecasts resulted in 
an approximately 3.6% increase in the DCF Approach valuations for RVP from the prior valuation as of December 
31, 2008 and decreases of approximately 42.5%, 17.7% and 26.3% in the DCF Approach valuations for HTP, R-
HVAC and C-HVAC, respectively, from the prior valuations as of December 31, 2008.   The Company believes that 
its assumptions used to determine the fair value for the respective reporting units under the DCF Approach are 
reasonable.  If different assumptions were used, particularly with respect to estimating future cash flows, weighted 
average costs of capital and terminal growth rates, different estimates of fair value may result and there could be 
the potential that an impairment charge could result for RVP, R-HVAC and C-HVAC and an additional impairment 
charge could be required for HTP.  Actual operating results and the related cash flows of the reporting units could 
differ from the estimated operating results and related cash flows. 
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For the EBITDA Multiple Approach, the Company reviewed comparable company information to determine EBITDA 
multiples and concluded that 7.0x was an appropriate EBITDA multiple to use for each of the reporting units for the 
selected EBITDA measurement periods of forecasted 2009 and 2010 EBITDA.  The valuations using forecasted 
2009 and 2010 EBITDA were weighted equally in arriving at the Company’s overall EBITDA Multiple valuation 
conclusions that comprise 30% of the total valuation weighting.  In the prior valuations as of December 31, 2008, 
the Company used 6.5x for the comparable periods for RVP, 8.0x for the comparable periods for HTP, 4.5x to 6x for 
the comparable periods for R-HVAC and 5.0x to 5.5x for the comparable periods for C-HVAC.  As indicated above, 
the EBITDA Multiple valuations as compared to the prior valuations as of December 31, 2008 were also impacted 
by changes in the forecasted EBITDA amounts for the selected periods.  The combined impact of the change in the 
EBITDA multiples used and the change in the EBITDA forecasts resulted in decreases of approximately 5.5% and 
51.8% in the EBITDA Multiple Approach valuations for RVP and HTP, respectively, from the prior valuation as of 
December 31, 2008 and increases of approximately 23.4% and 12.0% in the EBITDA Multiple Approach valuations 
for R-HVAC and C-HVAC, respectively, from the prior valuations as of December 31, 2008.  The Company believes 
that its assumptions used to determine the fair value for the respective reporting units under the EBITDA Multiple 
Approach are reasonable.  If different assumptions were used, particularly with respect to estimating future EBITDA 
and selected EBITDA multiples, different estimates of fair value may result and there could be the potential that an 
impairment charge could result for RVP, R-HVAC and C-HVAC and an additional impairment charge could be 
required for HTP.  Actual operating results and the related cash flows of the reporting units could differ from the 
estimated operating results and related cash flows. 
 
On an overall weighted basis consisting of 70% DCF Approach and 30% EBITDA Multiple Approach, the estimated 
fair value increased by 1.1% for RVP and decreased by 45.1%, 6.9% and 14.4% for HTP, R-HVAC and C-HVAC, 
respectively, from the estimated fair value as of December 31, 2008.   
 
The results of the Step 1 Tests performed in the second quarter of 2009 indicated that the carrying value of the HTP 
reporting unit exceeded the estimated fair value determined by the Company and, as such, a “Step 2 Test” was 
required for this reporting unit.   The estimated fair values of the RVP, R-HVAC and C-HVAC reporting units 
exceeded the carrying values so no further impairment analysis was required for these reporting units. 
 
The Company believes that its assumptions used to determine the fair values for the RVP, R-HVAC and C- HVAC 
reporting units were reasonable.  As discussed above, if different assumptions were to be used, particularly with 
respect to estimating future cash flows, the weighted average costs of capital, terminal growth rates, EBITDA, and 
selected EBITDA multiples, different estimates of fair value may result and there could be the potential that an 
impairment charge could result.  Actual operating results and the related cash flows of these reporting units could 
differ from the estimated operating results and related cash flows.  The Company estimates that as of July 4, 2009 
the fair value estimates, including the impact of the assumed long-term growth rates, for RVP, R-HVAC and C-
HVAC would have needed to be reduced by 16.3%, 8.6% and 17.7%, respectively, before the Company would 
have been required to perform additional impairment analysis for these reporting units as those decreases would 
have reduced the estimated fair value to an amount below the carrying value for these reporting units. 
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The preliminary Step 2 Test for the HTP reporting unit for the second quarter of 2009 required the Company to 
measure the potential impairment loss by allocating the estimated fair value of the reporting unit, as determined in 
Step 1, to the reporting unit’s assets and liabilities, with the residual amount representing the implied fair value of 
goodwill.  To the extent the implied fair value of goodwill was less than the carrying value, an impairment loss was 
recognized.  As such, the Step 2 Test required the Company to perform a theoretical purchase price allocation for 
the reporting unit to determine the implied fair value of goodwill as of the evaluation date.  Due to the complexity of 
the analysis required to complete the Step 2 Test and the timing of the Company’s determination of the goodwill 
impairment, the Company had not yet finalized its Step 2 Test at August 24, 2009.  In accordance with the guidance 
in SFAS No. 142, the Company has completed a preliminary assessment of the expected impact of the Step 2 Test 
using reasonable estimates for the theoretical purchase price allocation and recorded a preliminary estimate of the 
goodwill impairment loss for the HTP reporting unit for the second quarter of 2009 of approximately $250.0 million.  
The preliminary estimate of goodwill impairment loss is expected to be finalized in the second half of 2009.    
 
The following procedures are, among others, the more significant analyses that the Company needs to complete in 
order to finalize its Step 2 Test: 
 

• Finalize appraisals to determine the estimated fair value of property and equipment, and intangible 
assets within the HTP reporting unit, 

• Finalize analyses within the HTP reporting unit to determine the estimated fair value adjustment 
required to inventory, and 

• Finalize deferred tax analyses for the HTP reporting unit. 
 

In connection with the preliminary Step 2 Test, the Company made what it considered to be reasonable estimates 
of each of the above items in order to determine its preliminary best estimate of the goodwill impairment loss under 
the theoretical purchase price allocation required for Step 2 Test.  The completion of the final analyses described 
above may result in significant changes to the estimates used and, therefore, may have a significant impact on the 
final HTP goodwill impairment loss recorded in 2009.  In addition, there can be no assurance that the Company will 
not identify other issues during the completion of the Step 2 Test that may have a significant impact on the final 
HTP goodwill impairment loss recorded for 2009. 
 
The Company also incurred a goodwill impairment charge during 2008 of approximately $710.0 million, which 
consisted of approximately $444.0 million, approximately $77.0 million and approximately $189.0 million for the 
RVP, HTP and R-HVAC reporting units, respectively.  The principal driver of the need for these impairment charges 
in 2008 were reductions in the cash flow forecasts that resulted in significantly lower fair value estimates for RVP, 
HTP and R-HVAC from prior valuations.  The reduced cash flow forecasts for 2008 reflected the Company’s 
estimate of the impact of the worldwide economic downturn at that time but the assumed impact of the downturn in 
the prior forecasts was less severe than was actually the case in the first half of 2009 and the Company had 
believed that the economic turnaround would begin to occur in the second half of 2009.  The severity of the 
downturn and the Company’s current belief that the economic recovery will not begin until 2010 particularly 
impacted the HTP reporting unit and resulted in the need for a further impairment charge in 2009.    
 
Although the Company believes that the forecasts and valuations assumptions used are reasonable, the worldwide 
economic situation remains highly volatile and if the downturn persists or the recovery is slower than anticipated 
then the Company may be required to take additional goodwill impairment charges in the future.  Accordingly, there 
can be no assurance that the future forecasted operating results of the Company will be achieved or that future 
goodwill impairment charges will not need to be recorded.    
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Results of Operations 
 
The following table presents the financial information for the Company’s reporting segments for the second quarter ended July 
4, 2009 and June 28, 2008: 
 

July 4, 2009 June 28, 2008 $ %

Net sales:
Residential ventilation products 139.4$             187.0$              (47.6)$       (25.5)           %
Home technology products 99.9                 131.2                (31.3)         (23.9)           
Residential air conditioning and heating products 137.5               177.5                (40.0)         (22.5)           
Commercial air conditioning and heating products 111.0               151.4                (40.4)         (26.7)           

Consolidated net sales 487.8$             647.1$              (159.3)$     (24.6)           %
Operating (loss) earnings:
Residential ventilation products (1) 11.9$               16.0$                (4.1)$         (25.6)           %
Home technology products (2) (247.1)             7.8                    (254.9)       *
Residential air conditioning and heating products (3) 10.6                 14.6                  (4.0)           (27.4)           
Commercial air conditioning and heating products (4) 13.7                 15.3                  (1.6)           (10.5)           

Subtotal (210.9)             53.7                  (264.6)       *
Unallocated:
Stock-based compensation charges (0.1)                 (0.1)                   --- ---
Income from change in estimate of loss on the Company's

 indemnification related to a lease guarantee 3.2                   --- 3.2            *
Advisory fees related to the Company's analysis of 

its capital structure (0.9)                 --- (0.9)           *
Foreign exchange gains on transactions,

including intercompany debt 0.4                   --- 0.4            *
Unallocated, net (7.4)                 (6.7)                   (0.7)           (10.4)           

Consolidated operating (loss) earnings (215.7)$           46.9$                (262.6)$     * %
Depreciation and amortization expense:
Residential ventilation products (5) 5.8$                 7.5$                  (1.7)$         (22.7)           %
Home technology products 4.4                   4.9                    (0.5)           (10.2)           
Residential air conditioning and heating products (6) 3.1                   2.9                    0.2            6.9              
Commercial air conditioning and heating products 2.6                   3.0                    (0.4)           (13.3)           
Unallocated 0.2                   0.3                    (0.1)           (33.3)           

16.1$               18.6$                (2.5)$         (13.4)           %
Operating (loss) earnings margin:
Residential ventilation products (1) 8.5                   % 8.6                    %

Home technology products (2) * 5.9                    
Residential air conditioning and heating products (3) 7.7                   8.2                    
Commercial air conditioning and heating products (4) 12.3                 10.1                  

Consolidated (44.2)               % 7.2                    %

Depreciation and amortization
  expense as a % of net sales:
Residential ventilation products (5) 4.2                   % 4.0                    %

Home technology products 4.4                   3.7                    
Residential air conditioning and heating products (6) 2.3                   1.6                    
Commercial air conditioning and heating products 2.3                   2.0                    

Consolidated 3.3                   % 2.9                    %

Net Change

(Dollar amounts in millions)

For the second quarter ended

 
* not meaningful or not applicable 
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(1) The operating results of the RVP segment for the second quarter ended July 4, 2009 include: 
• approximately $1.2 million of severance charges incurred related to certain reduction in workforce 

initiatives, 
• net foreign exchange losses of approximately $0.7 million related to transactions, including 

intercompany debt not indefinitely invested in Nortek’s subsidiaries,  
• a gain of approximately $0.3 million from the sale of a manufacturing facility, and 
• a charge related to reserves for amounts due from customers of approximately $0.2 million. 

 
The operating results of the RVP segment for the second quarter ended June 28, 2008 include: 

• a gain of approximately $2.5 million from the sale of a manufacturing facility,  
• costs and expenses incurred in connection with the start up of a range hood facility in Mexico of 

approximately $1.4 million, and  
• net foreign exchange gains of approximately $1.4 million related to transactions, including 

intercompany debt not indefinitely invested in Nortek’s subsidiaries.  
 

(2) The operating results of the HTP segment for the second quarter ended July 4, 2009 include an estimated 
non-cash goodwill impairment charge of approximately $250.0 million and a charge related to reserves for 
amounts due from customers of approximately $0.6 million.  

 
The operating results of the HTP segment for the second quarter ended June 28, 2008 include approximately 
$4.5 million of fees and expenses recorded in connection with the settlement of a dispute with one of its former 
suppliers and net foreign exchange gains of approximately $0.2 million related to transactions.   

 
(3) The operating results of the R-HVAC segment for the second quarter ended July 4, 2009 include 

approximately $0.1 million of severance charges incurred related to certain reduction in workforce initiatives 
and a charge related to reserves for amounts due from customers of approximately $0.1 million. 

 
(4) The operating results of the C-HVAC segment for the second quarter ended July 4, 2009 include a charge 

related to reserves for amounts due from customers of approximately $1.1 million and net foreign exchange 
losses of approximately $1.1 million related to transactions, including intercompany debt not indefinitely 
invested in Nortek’s subsidiaries. 

 
The operating results of the C-HVAC segment for the second quarter ended June 28, 2008 include net foreign 
exchange losses of approximately $0.1 million related to transactions, including intercompany debt not 
indefinitely invested in Nortek’s subsidiaries.   

 
(5) Includes a non-cash amortization of excess purchase price allocated to inventory recorded to cost of products 

sold of approximately $0.3 million for the second quarter ended July 4, 2009. 
 

(6) Includes a non-cash amortization of excess purchase price allocated to inventory recorded to cost of products 
sold of approximately $0.2 million for the second quarter ended July 4, 2009. 
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The following table presents the financial information for the Company’s reporting segments for the first six months ended July 
4, 2009 and June 28, 2008: 
 

July 4, 2009 June 28, 2008 $ %

Net sales:
Residential ventilation products 289.3$            375.2$              (85.9)$       (22.9)           %
Home technology products 198.3              255.3                (57.0)         (22.3)           
Residential air conditioning and heating products 219.9              297.6                (77.7)         (26.1)           
Commercial air conditioning and heating products 219.3              259.2                (39.9)         (15.4)           

Consolidated net sales 926.8$            1,187.3$           (260.5)$     (21.9)           %
Operating (loss) earnings:
Residential ventilation products (1) 20.9$              31.9$                (11.0)$       (34.5)           %
Home technology products (2) (246.0)             18.1                  (264.1)       *
Residential air conditioning and heating products (3) 5.3                  15.6                  (10.3)         (66.0)           
Commercial air conditioning and heating products (4) 29.9                19.0                  10.9          57.4            

Subtotal (189.9)             84.6                  (274.5)       *
Unallocated:
Stock-based compensation charges (0.1)                 (0.1)                   --- ---
Income from change in estimate of loss on the Company's

 indemnification related to a lease guarantee 3.2                  --- 3.2            *
Advisory fees related to the Company's analysis of 

its capital structure (0.9)                 --- (0.9)           *
Foreign exchange gains on transactions,

including intercompany debt 0.4                  0.1                    0.3            *
Unallocated, net (13.8)               (14.3)                 0.5            3.5              

Consolidated operating (loss) earnings (201.1)$           70.3$                (271.4)$     * %
Depreciation and amortization expense:
Residential ventilation products (5) 10.9$              13.6$                (2.7)$         (19.9)           %
Home technology products 8.8                  9.8                    (1.0)           (10.2)           
Residential air conditioning and heating products (6) 6.1                  6.0                    0.1            1.7              
Commercial air conditioning and heating products 5.5                  6.0                    (0.5)           (8.3)             
Unallocated 0.3                  0.6                    (0.3)           (50.0)           

31.6$              36.0$                (4.4)$         (12.2)           %
Operating (loss) earnings margin:
Residential ventilation products (1) 7.2                  % 8.5                    %

Home technology products (2) * 7.1                    
Residential air conditioning and heating products (3) 2.4                  5.2                    
Commercial air conditioning and heating products (4) 13.6                7.3                    

Consolidated (21.7)               % 5.9                    %

Depreciation and amortization
  expense as a % of net sales:
Residential ventilation products (5) 3.8                  % 3.6                    %

Home technology products 4.4                  3.8                    
Residential air conditioning and heating products (6) 2.8                  2.0                    
Commercial air conditioning and heating products 2.5                  2.3                    

Consolidated 3.4                  % 3.0                    %

Net Change

(Dollar amounts in millions)

For the six months ended

 
* not meaningful or not applicable 
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(1) The operating results of the RVP segment for the six months ended July 4, 2009 include: 

• approximately $1.5 million of severance charges incurred related to certain reduction in workforce 
initiatives, 

• net foreign exchange losses of approximately $1.1 million related to transactions, including 
intercompany debt not indefinitely invested in Nortek’s subsidiaries, 

• a charge related to reserves for amounts due from customers of approximately $0.3 million, and 
• a gain of approximately $0.3 million from the sale of a manufacturing facility. 

 
The operating results of the RVP segment for the six months ended June 28, 2008 include: 

• a gain of approximately $2.5 million from the sale of a manufacturing facility  
• costs and expenses incurred in connection with the start up of a range hood facility in Mexico of 

approximately $1.4 million, and  
• net foreign exchange gains of approximately $0.9 million related to transactions, including 

intercompany debt not indefinitely invested in Nortek’s subsidiaries.   
 

(2) The operating results of the HTP segment for the six months ended July 4, 2009 include: 
• an estimated non-cash goodwill impairment charge of approximately $250.0 million, 
• a charge related to reserves for amounts due from customers of approximately $1.2 million, 
• approximately $0.4 million of severance charges incurred related to certain reduction in workforce 

initiatives, and  
• net foreign exchange losses of approximately $0.2 million related to transactions.  

 
The operating results of the HTP segment for the first six months ended June 28, 2008 include approximately 
$4.7 million of fees and expenses recorded in connection with the settlement of a dispute with one of its former 
suppliers and net foreign exchange gains of approximately $0.2 million related to transactions. 

 
(3) The operating results of the R-HVAC segment for the first six months ended July 4, 2009 include 

approximately $0.3 million of severance charges incurred related to certain reduction in workforce initiatives 
and a charge related to reserves for amounts due from customers of approximately $0.1 million. 
 

(4) The operating results of the C-HVAC segment for the first six months ended July 4, 2009 include a charge 
related to reserves for amounts due from customers of approximately $1.2 million and net foreign exchange 
losses of approximately $0.6 million related to transactions, including intercompany debt not indefinitely 
invested in Nortek’s subsidiaries. 

 
The operating results of the C-HVAC segment for the first six months ended June 28, 2008 include net foreign 
exchange gains of approximately $0.2 million related to transactions, including intercompany debt not 
indefinitely invested in Nortek’s subsidiaries.   

 
(5) Includes a non-cash amortization of excess purchase price allocated to inventory recorded to cost of products 

sold of approximately $0.3 million for the first six months ended July 4, 2009. 
 

(6) Includes a non-cash amortization of excess purchase price allocated to inventory recorded to cost of products 
sold of approximately $0.2 million for the first six months ended July 4, 2009. 
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The following table presents the financial information for the second quarter ended July 4, 2009 and June 28, 2008.  The 
results of operations for the second quarter ended July 4, 2009 are not necessarily indicative of the results of operations to 
be expected for any other interim period or the full year. 

 

July 4, 2009 June 28, 2008         $              %       

Net sales 487.8$                647.1$                (159.3)$          (24.6)            %

Cost of products sold (1) 351.7                  473.3                  121.6             25.7             
Selling, general and administrative expense, net (1) 95.8                    118.5                  22.7               19.2             
Goodwill impairment charge (2) 250.0                  --- (250.0)            *
Amortization of intangible assets 6.0                      8.4                      2.4                 28.6             
Operating (loss) earnings (215.7)                46.9                    (262.6)            *
Interest expense (37.7)                  (31.3)                  (6.4)                (20.4)            
Loss from debt retirement --- (9.9)                    9.9                 100.0           
Investment income 0.1                      0.2                      (0.1)                (50.0)            
(Loss) earnings before (benefit) provision

 for income taxes (253.3)                5.9                      (259.2)            *
(Benefit) provision for income taxes (7.9)                    2.2                      10.1               *
Net (loss) earnings (245.4)$              3.7$                    (249.1)$          * %

the second quarter of 2009
Change in earnings in

as compared to the
For the second quarter ended

(Dollar amounts in millions)

second quarter of 2008

July 4, 2009 June 28, 2008
Net sales 100.0                  % 100.0                  % --- %
Cost of products sold (1) 72.1                    73.2                    1.1              
Selling, general and administrative expense, net (1) 19.6                    18.3                    (1.3)            
Goodwill impairment charge (2) 51.3                    --- (51.3)          
Amortization of intangible assets 1.2                      1.3                      0.1              
Operating (loss) earnings (44.2)                  7.2                      (51.4)          
Interest expense (7.7)                    (4.8)                    (2.9)            
Loss from debt retirement --- (1.5)                    1.5              
Investment income --- --- ---
(Loss) earnings before (benefit) provision

 for income taxes (51.9)                  0.9                      (52.8)          
(Benefit) provision for income taxes (1.6)                    0.3                      1.9              
Net (loss) earnings (50.3)                  % 0.6                      % (50.9)          %

Change in percentage for

second quarter of 2008

Percentage of net sales for
the second quarter ended

the second quarter of 2009
as compared to the

 
(1) See Note C of the Notes to the Unaudited Financial Statements included elsewhere herein. 
 
(2) See Note A of the Notes to the Unaudited Financial Statements included elsewhere herein. 
 
* not meaningful or not applicable 
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The following table presents the financial information for the first six months ended July 4, 2009 and June 28, 2008.  The 
results of operations for the first six months ended July 4, 2009 are not necessarily indicative of the results of operations to 
be expected for any other interim period or the full year. 

 

July 4, 2009 June 28, 2008         $              %       

Net sales 926.8$                1,187.3$             (260.5)$          (21.9)            %

Cost of products sold (1) 669.2                  864.9                  195.7             22.6             
Selling, general and administrative expense, net (1) 196.8                  237.0                  40.2               17.0             
Goodwill impairment charge (2) 250.0                  --- (250.0)            *
Amortization of intangible assets 11.9                    15.1                    3.2                 21.2             
Operating (loss) earnings (201.1)                70.3                    (271.4)            *
Interest expense (76.0)                  (58.7)                  (17.3)              (29.5)            
Loss from debt retirement --- (9.9)                    9.9                 100.0           
Investment income 0.2                      0.4                      (0.2)                (50.0)            
(Loss) earnings before provision for income taxes (276.9)                2.1                      (279.0)            *
Provision for income taxes 1.2                      2.5                      1.3                 52.0             
Net loss (278.1)$              (0.4)$                  (277.7)$          * %

For the six months ended

(Dollar amounts in millions)

first six months of 2008

the first six months of 2009
Change in earnings in

as compared to the

July 4, 2009 June 28, 2008
Net sales 100.0                  % 100.0                  % --- %
Cost of products sold (1) 72.2                    72.8                    0.6              
Selling, general and administrative expense, net (1) 21.2                    20.0                    (1.2)            
Goodwill impairment charge (2) 27.0                    --- (27.0)          
Amortization of intangible assets 1.3                      1.3                      ---
Operating (loss) earnings (21.7)                  5.9                      (27.6)          
Interest expense (8.2)                    (4.9)                    (3.3)            
Loss from debt retirement --- (0.8)                    0.8              
Investment income --- --- ---
(Loss) earnings before provision for income taxes (29.9)                  0.2                      (30.1)          
Provision for income taxes 0.1                      0.2                      0.1              
Net loss (30.0)                  % --- % (30.0)          %

Change in percentage for

first six months of 2008

Percentage of net sales for
the first six months ended

the first six months of 2009
as compared to the

 
(1) See Note C of the Notes to the Unaudited Financial Statements included elsewhere herein. 
 
(2) See Note A of the Notes to the Unaudited Financial Statements included elsewhere herein. 
 
* not meaningful or not applicable 
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Critical factors affecting the Company’s future performance, including the level of the Company’s sales, profitability 
and cash flows, are the levels of residential remodeling and replacement activity and new residential and non-
residential construction activity.  The level of new residential and non-residential construction activity and, to a 
lesser extent, the level of residential remodeling and replacement activity are affected by seasonality and cyclical 
factors such as interest rates, inflation, consumer spending habits, employment levels and other macroeconomic 
factors, over which the Company has no control.  Any decline in economic activity as a result of these or other 
factors typically results in a decline in new construction and, to a lesser extent, residential remodeling and 
replacement purchases, which would result in a decrease in the Company’s sales, profitability and cash flows.   
 
The severe impact of the worldwide crisis in the credit and financial markets in the second half of 2008 and the first 
half of 2009, the instability in the troubled mortgage market, rising unemployment and decreasing home values 
have had a negative impact on residential new construction activity, consumer disposable income and spending on 
home remodeling and repair expenditures.  These factors have had an adverse effect on the Company’s operating 
results for the first half of 2009 and are expected to continue throughout the second half of 2009.  Key industry 
activity affecting the Company’s businesses in the United States for the second quarter and six months of 2009, 
and the fourth quarter and full year of 2008 were as follows: 
 
  % Increase / (Decrease) 
 Sources 2nd 

Quarter 
Six Months 4th Quarter Full Year 

 of Data 2009 2009 2008 2008     

Private residential construction spending 1 (31)% (33)% (28)% (29)% 
Total housing starts 1 (46)% (48)% (44)% (33)% 
New home sales 1 (29)% (35)% (42)% (38)% 
Existing home sales 3 (3)% (5)% (6)% (13)% 
Residential improvement spending 1 3% (2)% (3)% (14)% 
Central air conditioning and heat pump shipments 2 (15)% (18)% (26)% (9)% 
Private non-residential construction spending 1 (5)% (4)% 4% 13% 
Manufactured housing shipments 1 (44)% (45)% (28)% (15)% 
Residential fixed investment spending 4 (27)% (26)% (20)% (23)% 

 
Source of data: 
 
(1) U.S. Census Bureau 
(2) Air Conditioning and Refrigeration Institute 
(3) National Association of Realtors 
(4) U.S. Bureau of Economic Analysis 

 
In addition, according to the Canada Mortgage and Housing Corporation, Canadian housing starts decreased 
approximately 46% and 44% in the second quarter and six months of 2009 as compared to the same periods of 
2008, and decreased approximately 15% and 8% in the fourth quarter and full year of 2008 as compared to the 
same periods of 2007. 
 
During 2008, and continuing into the first half of 2009, the Company instituted cost reduction measures by 
implementing initiatives to significantly reduce discretionary spending and achieve reductions in workforce across 
all of its businesses given the rapidly changing and challenging economic environment.  As a result of these 
initiatives, the Company expects to reduce expense levels by an amount between $50 million and $60 million in 
2009 over 2008 levels, of which the Company estimates approximately $19.7 million and $39.5 million in cost 
reductions were achieved during the second quarter and first half of 2009, respectively, as compared to the same 
periods of 2008.  The Company’s total selling, general and administrative expense, net was approximately $22.7 
million and $40.2 million lower, while overhead expense, including freight costs, charged to cost of products sold 
was approximately $25.6 million and $39.0 million lower for the second quarter and first half of 2009, respectively, 
over the same periods of 2008.  These lower expense levels reflect both reductions in spending levels and lower 
expenses, in part, as a result of a decline in sales volume.  There can be no assurance that these cost reduction 
measures will continue to be successful.   
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The Company’s reporting segments have a significant number of different products across a wide range of price 
points and numerous distribution channels that do not always allow meaningful quantitative analysis to be 
performed with respect to the effect on net sales of changes in units sold or the price per unit sold.  However, 
whenever the underlying causes of material increases or decreases in consolidated net sales can be adequately 
analyzed and quantified, the Company attempts to make appropriate disclosure of such reasons, including changes 
in price, volume and the mix of products sold. 
 
The demand for certain of the Company’s products is seasonal, particularly in the Northeast and Midwest regions of 
the United States where inclement weather during winter months usually reduces the level of building and 
remodeling activity in both home improvement and new construction markets, thereby reducing the Company’s 
sales levels during the first and fourth quarters.   
 
Second quarter and first six months ended July 4, 2009 as compared to the second quarter and first six 
months ended June 28, 2008 
 
Net Sales.  As discussed further in the following paragraphs, consolidated net sales for the second quarter of 2009 
decreased by approximately $159.3 million, or 24.6%, as compared to the second quarter of 2008.  Consolidated 
net sales for the first six months ended July 4, 2009 (“six months of 2009”) decreased by approximately $260.5 
million, or 21.9%, as compared to the first six months ended June 28, 2008 (“six months of 2008”).  The effect of 
changes in foreign currency exchange rates reduced net sales by approximately $12.7 million and $30.8 million in 
the second quarter and six months of 2009, respectively.  Excluding the effect of changes in foreign currency 
exchange rates consolidated net sales for the second quarter and six months of 2009 decreased approximately 
$146.6 million and $229.7 million, respectively, as compared to the same periods of 2008. 
 
In the RVP segment, net sales for the second quarter of 2009 decreased approximately $47.6 million or 25.5% as 
compared to the second quarter of 2008 and decreased approximately $85.9 million or 22.9% for the six months of 
2009 as compared to the six months of 2008.  Net sales in the RVP segment for the second quarter and six months 
of 2009 reflect a decrease of approximately $6.9 million and $16.0 million, respectively, attributable to the effect of 
changes in foreign currency exchange rates. 
 
Excluding the effect of changes in foreign currency exchange rates, net sales in the RVP segment for the second 
quarter and six months of 2009 decreased approximately $40.7 million and $69.9 million, respectively, as compared 
to the same periods of 2008.  This decrease reflects lower sales volume of bathroom exhaust fans and kitchen 
range hoods, slightly offset by higher average unit sales prices of bathroom exhaust fans.  The average unit sales 
price of kitchen range hoods for the second quarter and six months of 2009 decreased slightly as compared to the 
same periods of 2008.  Higher average unit sales prices of bathroom exhaust fans reflect, in part, the impact of the 
sale of new products with higher price points and an increase in the relative percentage of products sold with higher 
sales price points as compared to 2008.  Kitchen range hoods and bathroom exhaust fans are the largest product 
categories sold in the RVP segment, accounting for approximately 78.6% and 78.9% of the RVP segment’s total 
gross sales for the second quarter and six months of 2009, respectively.  Sales of range hoods and bathroom 
exhaust fans for the RVP segment’s domestic subsidiaries decreased approximately 19.1% and 17.4% in the 
second quarter and six months of 2009, respectively, and, excluding the effect of changes in foreign currency 
exchange rates, sales of range hoods and bathroom exhaust fans for the RVP segment’s foreign subsidiaries 
decreased approximately 29.1% and 24.4% in the second quarter and six months of 2009, respectively. 
 
In the HTP segment, net sales for the second quarter of 2009 decreased approximately $31.3 million or 23.9% as 
compared to the second quarter of 2008 and decreased approximately $57.0 million or 22.3% for the six months of 
2009 as compared to the six months of 2008.  Net sales in the HTP segment for the second quarter and six months 
of 2009 include a decrease of approximately $0.1 million and $0.4 million, respectively, attributable to the effect of 
changes in foreign currency exchange rates.  Excluding the effect of changes in foreign currency exchange rates, 
net sales in the HTP segment for the second quarter and six months of 2009 decreased approximately $31.2 million 
and $56.6 million, respectively.  A decrease in sales volume of products sold within this segment, coupled with 
higher sales returns as a percentage of gross sales, drove the decrease in net sales year over year.   
 
In the R-HVAC segment, net sales for the second quarter of 2009 decreased approximately $40.0 million or 22.5% 
as compared to the second quarter of 2008 and decreased approximately $77.7 million or 26.1% for the six months 
of 2009 as compared to the six months of 2008.  This decrease is primarily a result of lower sales volume of HVAC 
products sold to residential site built and manufactured housing customers as a result of the overall economic 
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downturn in the housing industry.  The Company’s net sales to customers serving the manufactured housing 
markets, principally consisting of air conditioners and furnaces, constituted approximately 4.1% and 5.1% of the 
Company’s consolidated net sales for the second quarter of 2009 and 2008, respectively, and constituted 
approximately 4.0% and 4.8% of the Company’s consolidated net sales for the six months of 2009 and 2008, 
respectively.   
 
In the C-HVAC segment, net sales for the second quarter of 2009 decreased approximately $40.4 million or 26.7% 
as compared to the second quarter of 2008 and decreased approximately $39.9 million or 15.4% for the six months 
of 2009 as compared to the six months of 2008.  Net sales in the C-HVAC segment for the second quarter and six 
months of 2009 include a decrease of approximately $5.7 million and $14.4 million, respectively, attributable to the 
effect of changes in foreign currency exchange rates.  Excluding the effect of changes in foreign currency exchange 
rates, net sales in the C-HVAC segment for the second quarter and six months of 2009 decreased approximately 
$34.7 million and $25.5 million, respectively.  This decrease is due, in part, to a decrease in sales volume of air 
handlers by certain of the segment’s U.S and Canadian subsidiaries, partially offset by approximately $3.9 million of 
net sales deferred in 2008, under a large contract, and recognized as revenue upon the resolution and collection of 
retainage in the first quarter of 2009, and, to a lesser extent, from price increases implemented in 2008.  Backlog for 
C-HVAC products was approximately $151.6 million at July 4, 2009, approximately $202.0 million at December 31, 
2008 and approximately $237.5 million at June 28, 2008.  The decrease in backlog at July 4, 2009 as compared to 
December 31, 2008 reflects a decrease in orders during the past several months for jobs expected to be delivered 
principally over the second half of 2009.  The decrease in backlog at July 4, 2009 as compared to June 28, 2008 
reflects, in part, the completion of a sizeable job during 2008 resulting in a decrease to backlog of approximately 
$72.7 million. 
 
Foreign net sales, which are attributed based on the location of the Company’s subsidiary responsible for the sale, 
were approximately 17.7% and 19.7% of consolidated net sales for the second quarter of 2009 and 2008, 
respectively, and were approximately 19.7% and 20.9% of consolidated net sales for the six months of 2009 and 
2008, respectively.  Net sales from the Company’s Canadian subsidiaries were approximately 9.9% and 8.9% of 
consolidated net sales for the second quarter of 2009 and 2008, respectively, and were approximately 10.6% and 
9.0% of consolidated net sales for the six months of 2009 and 2008, respectively.  Net sales from the Company’s 
Canadian subsidiaries include net sales from the Company’s RVP and C-HVAC segments.  Net sales from the 
Company’s European subsidiaries were approximately 6.0% and 8.5% of consolidated net sales for the second 
quarter of 2009 and 2008, respectively, and were approximately 6.9% and 9.5% of consolidated net sales for the six 
months of 2009 and 2008, respectively.  Net sales from the Company’s European subsidiaries include net sales 
primarily from the Company’s RVP and C-HVAC segments and to a lesser extent the Company’s HTP segment. 
 
Cost of Products Sold.  Consolidated cost of products sold for the second quarter of 2009 was approximately 
$351.7 million as compared to approximately $473.3 million for the second quarter of 2008 and was approximately 
$669.2 million for the six months of 2009 as compared to approximately $864.9 million for the six months of 2008.  
Cost of products sold as a percentage of net sales decreased from approximately 73.2% for the second quarter of 
2008 to approximately 72.1% for the second quarter of 2009 and decreased from approximately 72.8% for the six 
months of 2008 to approximately 72.2% primarily as a result of the factors described below. 
 
The Company continually reviews the costs of its product lines and seeks opportunities to increase prices to help 
offset the rising costs of raw materials and transportation when possible.  During 2008, the Company implemented 
certain price increases, which have carried over into the first half of 2009, in each of its four segments to help offset 
higher costs.   
 
Overall, consolidated material costs for the second quarter of 2009 were approximately $229.3 million, or 47.0% of 
net sales, as compared to approximately $315.6 million, or 48.8% of net sales, for the second quarter of 2008.  
Consolidated material costs for the six months of 2009 were approximately $426.4 million, or 46.0% of net sales, as 
compared to approximately $569.1 million, or 47.9% of net sales for the six months of 2008.  During the second 
quarter and six months of 2009, the Company experienced lower material costs as compared to the same periods 
of 2008 related primarily to purchases of steel, copper and aluminum and related purchased components, such as 
compressors and fans/blowers.  Strategic sourcing initiatives and improvements in manufacturing processes also 
contributed to the decrease in material costs in the second quarter and six months of 2009 as compared to the 
same periods of 2008.   
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Direct labor costs for the second quarter of 2009 were approximately $27.8 million, or 5.7% of net sales, as 
compared to approximately $37.6 million or 5.8% of net sales, for the second quarter 2008.  Direct labor costs for 
the six months of 2009 were approximately $55.7 million, or 6.0% of net sales, as compared to approximately $69.6 
million or 5.9% of net sales, for the six months 2008. 
 
Overhead, including freight, costs for the second quarter of 2009 were approximately $94.5 million, or 19.4% of net 
sales, as compared to approximately $120.1 million, or 18.6% of net sales, for the second quarter of 2008.  
Overhead costs for the six months of 2009 were approximately $187.1 million, or 20.2% of net sales, as compared 
to approximately $226.1 million, or 19.0% of net sales, for the six months of 2008. 
 
The increase in the percentage of overhead costs to net sales for the second quarter and six months of 2009, and 
to a lesser extent the increase in the percentage of direct labor costs to net sales for the six months of 2009, is due, 
in part, to a decrease in sales volume which results in lower absorption rates.  The increase in the percentage of 
overhead costs to net sales also reflects the effect of lower sales volume and the fixed nature of certain overhead 
costs. 
 
Freight costs were approximately 4.9% and 4.7% of net sales for the second quarter of 2009 and 2008, 
respectively, and were approximately 4.7% and 5.0% for the six months of 2009 and 2008, respectively.  During the 
six months of 2009, the Company experienced decreased freight costs primarily due to decreased fuel surcharges 
as compared to the six months of 2008.  Continued strategic sourcing initiatives and other cost reduction measures 
also help to mitigate fluctuations in fuel costs.  These cost reduction measures reduced the overall effect of freight 
costs on cost of goods sold as a percentage of net sales for the six months of 2009 as compared to the same 
period of 2008.  
 
Overall, changes in the cost of products sold (including material, direct labor, overhead and freight costs) as a 
percentage of net sales for one period as compared to another period may reflect a number of factors including 
changes in the relative mix of products sold, the effect of changes in sales prices, material costs and changes in 
productivity levels. 
 
In the RVP segment, cost of products sold for the second quarter of 2009 was approximately $102.2 million or 
73.3% of the segment’s net sales, as compared to approximately $141.0 million, or 75.4% of the segment’s net 
sales for the second quarter of 2008.  In the RVP segment, cost of products sold for the six months of 2009 was 
approximately $215.7 million or 74.6% of the segment’s net sales, as compared to approximately $280.5 million, or 
74.8% of the segment’s net sales for the six months of 2008.  The decrease in the percentage of cost of products 
sold to net sales in the second quarter and six months of 2009 reflects a decrease in material costs as a 
percentage of net sales and to a lesser extent, in the second quarter of 2009, a decrease in overhead costs as a 
percentage of net sales.  Cost of products sold in the RVP segment for the second quarter and six months of 2009 
also reflects (1) a decrease of approximately $5.6 million and $12.8 million, respectively, related to the effect of 
changes in foreign currency exchange rates, (2) an increase in product liability expense of approximately $0.3 
million and $1.0 million, respectively, as compared to the same periods of 2008 and (3) approximately $0.8 million 
and $0.9 million, respectively, of severance charges incurred related to certain reduction in workforce initiatives.  
Cost of products sold in the RVP segment for the second quarter and six months of 2008 includes costs and 
expenses incurred in connection with the start up of a range hood facility in Mexico of approximately $1.4 million.  
 
In the HTP segment, cost of products sold for the second quarter of 2009 was approximately $59.6 million or 59.6% 
of the segment’s net sales, as compared to approximately $72.7 million, or 55.4% of the segment’s net sales for the 
second quarter of 2008.  In the HTP segment, cost of products sold for the six months of 2009 was approximately 
$116.5 million or 58.7% of the segment’s net sales, as compared to approximately $140.4 million, or 55.0% of the 
segment’s net sales for the six months of 2008.  The increase in the percentage of cost of products sold to net sales 
is primarily as a result of an increase in material costs as a percentage of net sales, and to a lesser extent, lower 
sales without a proportionate decrease in overhead costs.  Cost of products sold in the HTP segment for the 
second quarter and six months of 2009 also reflects (1) a decrease of approximately $0.1 million and $0.2 million, 
respectively, related to the effect of changes in foreign currency exchange rates and (2) approximately $0.2 million 
of severance charges incurred related to certain reduction in workforce initiatives.   
 
In the R-HVAC segment, cost of products sold for the second quarter of 2009 was approximately $111.9 million, or 
81.4% of the segment’s net sales, as compared to approximately $146.2 million, or 82.4% of the segment’s net 
sales, for the second quarter of 2008.  In the R-HVAC segment, cost of products sold for the six months of 2009 
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was approximately $185.7 million, or 84.5% of the segment’s net sales, as compared to approximately $248.8 
million, or 83.6% of the segment’s net sales, for the six months of 2008.  The decrease in cost of products sold as a 
percentage of net sales for the second quarter of 2009 primarily reflects a decrease in material costs as a 
percentage of net sales resulting primarily from the purchase of steel, copper and aluminum.  The increase in cost 
of products sold as a percentage of net sales for the six months of 2009 primarily reflects lower sales without a 
proportionate decrease in overhead costs.  Material costs in this segment are generally higher as a percentage of 
net sales than the Company’s other segments and were approximately 60.5% and 62.2% for the second quarter of 
2009 and 2008, respectively, and were approximately 61.2% and 61.6% for the six months of 2009 and 2008, 
respectively.   
 
In the C-HVAC segment, cost of products sold for the second quarter of 2009 was approximately $78.0 million, or 
70.3% of the segment’s net sales, as compared to approximately $113.4 million, or 74.9% of the segment’s net 
sales, for the second quarter of 2008.  In the C-HVAC segment, cost of products sold for the six months of 2009 
was approximately $151.3 million, or 69.0% of the segment’s net sales, as compared to approximately $195.2 
million, or 75.3% of the segment’s net sales, for the six months of 2008.  Direct labor costs in this segment are 
generally higher as a percentage of net sales than the Company’s other segments and were approximately 11.7% 
and 11.0% in the second quarter of 2009 and 2008, respectively, and were approximately 12.3% and 11.2% in the 
six months of 2009 and 2008, respectively.  The decrease in cost of products sold as a percentage of net sales for 
the second quarter and six months of 2009 primarily reflects a decrease in material costs as a percentage of net 
sales resulting primarily from the purchase of steel, copper and aluminum, and to a lesser extent, from price 
increases implemented in 2008, and for the six months of 2009 also reflects the effect of approximately $3.9 million 
of net sales deferred in 2008, under a large contract, and recognized as revenue upon the resolution and collection 
of retainage in the first quarter of 2009 without any associated costs.  Cost of products sold in the C-HVAC segment 
for the second quarter and six months of 2009 also includes a decrease of approximately $4.4 million and $10.7 
million, respectively, related to the effect of changes in foreign currency exchange rates.   
 
Selling, General and Administrative Expense, Net.  Consolidated selling, general and administrative expense, net 
(“SG&A”) was approximately $95.8 million for the second quarter of 2009 as compared to approximately $118.5 
million for the second quarter of 2008 and was approximately $196.8 million for the six months of 2009 as 
compared to approximately $237.0 million for the six months of 2008.  SG&A decreased in the second quarter and 
six months of 2009 as compared to the same periods of 2008, in part, due to cost reduction measures initiated in 
2008 and 2009.  SG&A as a percentage of net sales increased from approximately 18.3% for the second quarter of 
2008 to approximately 19.6% for the second quarter of 2009 and increased from approximately 20.0% for the six 
months of 2008 to approximately 21.2% for the six months of 2009 primarily as a result of the decline in net sales, 
partially offset by the effect of certain expense reduction measures.   
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SG&A for the second quarter of 2009 and 2008 includes, among others, the following items of increase (decrease) 
in expense (see Note C of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements included elsewhere herein): 
 

   For the second quarter of 

   2009  2008  

   (Amounts in millions) 
      

(1) Fees and expenses recorded within the HTP segment in 
connection with the settlement of a dispute with one of its 
former suppliers 

  
 

$    --- 

  
 

$    4.5 
(2) Effect of changes in foreign currency exchange rates  (3.2)  --- 
(3) Income from change in estimate of loss on the Company's 

indemnification related to a lease guarantee 
  

(3.2) 
  

--- 
(4) Gain from the sale of manufacturing facilities within the RVP 

segment 
  

(0.3) 
  

(2.5) 
(5) Charges related to reserves for amounts due from customers in 

all four segments 
  

2.0 
  

--- 
(6) Net foreign exchange losses (gains) related to transactions, 

including intercompany debt not indefinitely invested in 
Nortek’s subsidiaries 

  
 

1.4 

  
 

(1.5) 
(7) Income from a change in estimate related to a product liability 

matter in the C-HVAC segment 
  

(1.0) 
  

--- 
(8) Advisory fees related to the Company's analysis of its capital 

structure 
  

0.9 
  

--- 
(9) Severance charges incurred related to certain reduction in 

workforce initiatives in the RVP segment 
  

0.4 
  

--- 
(10) Decrease in display expense in the RVP segment  (0.3)  --- 

 
SG&A for the six months of 2009 and 2008 includes, among others, the following items of increase (decrease) in 
expense (see Note C of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements included elsewhere herein): 
 

   For the six months of  

   2009  2008  

   (Amounts in millions) 
      

(1) Effect of changes in foreign currency exchange rates  $  (7.0)  $   --- 
(2) Fees and expenses recorded within the HTP segment in 

connection with the settlement of a dispute with one of its 
former suppliers 

  
 

--- 

  
 

4.7 
(3) Income from change in estimate of loss on the Company's 

indemnification related to a lease guarantee 
  

(3.2) 
  

--- 
(4) Charges related to reserves for amounts due from customers in 

all four segments 
  

2.8 
  

--- 
(5) Gain from the sale of manufacturing facilities within the RVP 

segment 
  

(0.3) 
  

(2.5) 
(6) Net foreign exchange losses (gains) related to transactions, 

including intercompany debt not indefinitely invested in 
Nortek’s subsidiaries 

  
 

1.5 

  
 

(1.4) 
(7) Income from a change in estimate related to a product liability 

matter in the C-HVAC segment 
  

(1.0) 
  

--- 
(8) Severance charges incurred related to certain reduction in 

workforce initiatives in the RVP, HTP and R-HVAC segments 
  

0.9 
  

--- 
(9) Advisory fees related to the Company's analysis of its capital 

structure 
  

0.9 
  

--- 
(10) Decrease in display expense within the RVP segment  (0.6)  --- 
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Goodwill Impairment Charge.  During the second quarter of 2009, the Company recorded an approximate $250.0 
million estimated non-cash impairment charge to reduce the carrying amount of its HTP reporting unit’s goodwill to 
the estimated fair value based upon the results of the Company’s interim impairment test.  The Company is in the 
process of finalizing its goodwill impairment analysis and expects to complete this process during the second half of 
2009.  The Company believes that the preliminary estimate of the goodwill impairment loss is reasonable and 
represents the Company’s best estimate of the goodwill impairment loss to be incurred; however, it is possible that 
when the Step 2 tests are completed, the Company may be required to record a material adjustment to this 
preliminary estimate.  See Note A of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements included elsewhere 
herein. 
 
Amortization of Intangible Assets.  Amortization of intangible assets decreased approximately $2.4 million from 
approximately $8.4 million for the second quarter of 2008 to approximately $6.0 million for the second quarter of 
2009 and decreased approximately $3.2 million from approximately $15.1 million for the six months of 2008 to 
approximately $11.9 million for the six months of 2009.  The decrease is primarily the result of higher amortization 
expense in the prior periods as a result of accelerated amortization methods.   
 
Depreciation Expense.  Depreciation expense decreased approximately $0.6 million from approximately $10.2 
million for the second quarter of 2008 to approximately $9.6 million for the second quarter of 2009 and decreased 
approximately $1.7 million from approximately $20.9 million for the six months of 2008 to approximately $19.2 
million for the six months of 2009.  This decrease is primarily attributable to the decrease in the level of capital 
expenditures in the second half of 2008 and the first half of 2009. 
 
Operating (Loss) Earnings.  Consolidated operating (loss) earnings decreased by approximately $262.6 million from 
operating earnings of approximately $46.9 million for the second quarter of 2008 to an operating loss of 
approximately $215.7 million for the second quarter of 2009.  Consolidated operating (loss) earnings decreased by 
approximately $271.4 million from operating earnings of approximately $70.3 million for the six months of 2008 to 
an operating loss of approximately $201.1 million for the six months of 2009 as a result of an approximate $250.0 
million estimated non-cash impairment charge to reduce the carrying amount of its HTP reporting unit’s goodwill to 
the estimated fair value based upon the results of the Company’s interim impairment test for the second quarter of 
2009.  The effect of changes in foreign currency exchange rates decreased the operating loss by approximately 
$0.6 million for the second quarter of 2009.  Excluding the effect of the estimated non-cash goodwill impairment 
charge and changes in foreign currency exchange rates, operating (loss) earnings decreased approximately $13.2 
million and $21.4 million for the second quarter and six months of 2009, respectively, as compared to the same 
periods of 2008.  The remaining decrease in consolidated operating (loss) earnings is primarily due to the factors 
discussed above and that follow.   
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For the second quarter of 2009, the RVP segment had operating earnings of approximately $11.9 million as 
compared to approximately $16.0 million for the second quarter of 2008.  For the six months of 2009, the RVP 
segment had operating earnings of approximately $20.9 million as compared to approximately $31.9 million for the 
six months of 2008.  This decrease is primarily a result of lower sales volume of kitchen range hoods and bathroom 
exhaust fans, partially offset by the effect of a decrease in material costs, and includes the effect of the factors 
discussed previously and that follow.  
 
Operating earnings in the RVP segment for the second quarter of 2009 and 2008 also includes the following other 
expense (income) items: 
 

   Second quarter of 

   2009  2008  

   (Amounts in millions) 
     

(1) Gain from the sale of manufacturing facilities  $   (0.3)  $   (2.5) 
(2) Net foreign exchange losses (gains) related to transactions, including 

intercompany debt not indefinitely invested in Nortek’s subsidiaries 
  

0.7 
  

(1.4) 
(3) Costs and expenses incurred in connection with the start up of a range hood 

facility in Mexico 
  

--- 
  

1.4 
(4) Decreased amortization of intangible assets  (1.3)  --- 
(5) Severance charges incurred related to certain reduction in workforce 

initiatives 
 1.2  --- 

(6) Decreased depreciation expense of property and equipment  (0.4)  --- 
(7) Decrease in display expense  (0.3)  --- 
(8) Increase in product liability expense as compared to the same period of 2008  0.3  --- 
(9) A charge related to reserves for amounts due from customers  0.2  --- 
(10) Effect of changes in foreign currency exchange rates  (0.1)  --- 

 
Operating earnings in the RVP segment for the six months of 2009 and 2008 also includes the following other 
expense (income) items:  
 

   Six months of 

   2009  2008  

   (Amounts in millions) 
     

(1) Gain from the sale of manufacturing facilities  $   (0.3)  $   (2.5) 
(2) Decreased amortization of intangible assets  (1.5)  --- 
(3) Severance charges incurred related to certain reduction in workforce 

initiatives 
 1.5  --- 

(4) Costs and expenses incurred in connection with the start up of a range hood 
facility in Mexico 

  
--- 

  
1.4 

(5) Decreased depreciation expense of property and equipment  (1.2)  --- 
(6) Net foreign exchange losses (gains) related to transactions, including 

intercompany debt not indefinitely invested in Nortek’s subsidiaries 
  

1.1 
  

(0.9) 
(7) Increase in product liability expense as compared to the same period of 2008  1.0  --- 
(8) Decrease in display expense  (0.6)  --- 
(9) A charge related to reserves for amounts due from customers  0.3  --- 
(10) Effect of changes in foreign currency exchange rates  (0.1)  --- 

 
For the second quarter of 2009, the HTP segment had an operating loss of approximately $247.1 million as 
compared to operating earnings of approximately $7.8 million for the second quarter of 2008 and for the six months 
of 2009 had an operating loss of approximately $246.0 million as compared to operating earnings of approximately 
$18.1 million for the six months of 2008.  As noted earlier, during the second quarter of 2009, the Company 
recorded an approximate $250.0 million estimated non-cash impairment charge to reduce the carrying amount of its 
HTP reporting unit’s goodwill to the estimated fair value based upon the results of the Company’s interim 
impairment test.  Excluding the estimated non-cash goodwill impairment charge, the operating results of the HTP 
segment decreased approximately $4.9 million and $14.1 million for the second quarter and six months of 2009, 
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respectively, as compared to the same periods of 2008.  This decrease is primarily as a result of an increase in 
material costs, and to a lesser extent, decreased sales volume without a proportionate decrease in overhead costs. 
 
The operating results of the HTP segment for the second quarter and six months of 2009 also reflect (1) a net 
foreign exchange loss of approximately $0.2 million for the six months of 2009 related to transactions, (2) 
approximately $0.4 million and $0.9 million, respectively, of decreased amortization of intangible assets, (3) a 
charge related to reserves for amounts due from customers of approximately $0.6 million and $1.2 million, 
respectively, (4) approximately $0.4 million of severance charges incurred in the six months of 2009 related to 
certain reduction in workforce initiatives and (5) an increase in operating earnings of approximately $0.2 million and 
$0.4 million, respectively, related to the effect of changes in foreign currency exchange rates.   
 
The operating results of the HTP segment for the second quarter and six months of 2008 also include (1) 
approximately $4.5 million and $4.7 million, respectively, of fees and expenses recorded in connection with the 
settlement of a dispute with one of its former suppliers and (2) net foreign exchange gains of approximately $0.2 
million related to transactions.   
 
For the second quarter of 2009, the R-HVAC segment had operating earnings of approximately $10.6 million as 
compared to approximately $14.6 million for the second quarter of 2008 and had operating earnings of 
approximately $5.3 million for the six months of 2009 as compared to approximately $15.6 million for the six months 
of 2008.  These decreases are primarily the result of decreased sales volume without a proportionate decrease in 
overhead costs, partially offset for the second quarter of 2009 by a decrease in material costs related to the 
purchase of steel, copper and aluminum.   
 
Operating earnings of the R-HVAC segment for the second quarter and six months of 2009 also reflect (1) 
approximately $0.1 million and $0.3 million, respectively, of severance charges incurred related to certain reduction 
in workforce initiatives and (2) a charge of approximately $0.1 million recorded in the second quarter of 2009 related 
to reserves for amounts due from customers. 
 
For the second quarter of 2009, the C-HVAC segment had operating earnings of approximately $13.7 million as 
compared to approximately $15.3 million for the second quarter of 2008 and had operating earnings of 
approximately $29.9 million in the six months of 2009 as compared to approximately $19.0 million for the six 
months of 2008.  This increase in the six months of 2009 as compared to the six months of 2008 is primarily the 
result of a decrease in material costs relating to the purchase of steel, copper and aluminum and to a lesser extent, 
approximately $3.9 million of net sales deferred in 2008, under a large contract, and recognized as revenue upon 
the resolution and collection of retainage in the first quarter of 2009 without any associated costs or expenses and 
from price increases implemented in 2008. 
 
Operating earnings of the C-HVAC segment for the second quarter and six months of 2009 also reflect (1) a charge 
related to reserves for amounts due from customers of approximately $1.1 million and $1.2 million, respectively, (2) 
income from a change in estimate related to a product liability matter of approximately $1.0 million in the second 
quarter of 2009, (3) net foreign exchange loses of approximately $1.1 million and $0.6 million, respectively, related 
to transactions, including intercompany debt not indefinitely invested in Nortek’s subsidiaries and (4) an increase in 
earnings of approximately $0.3 million for the second quarter of 2009 and a decrease in earnings of approximately 
$0.5 million in the six months of 2009 from the effect of changes in foreign currency exchange rates.  Operating 
earnings of the C-HVAC segment for the second quarter and six months of 2008 reflect net foreign exchange 
losses of approximately $0.1 million and net foreign exchange gains of approximately $0.2 million, respectively, 
related to transactions, including intercompany debt not indefinitely invested in Nortek’s subsidiaries. 
 
Excluding the estimated non-cash goodwill impairment charge recorded in the second quarter of 2009, operating 
earnings of foreign operations, consisting primarily of the results of operations of the Company’s Canadian 
subsidiaries, were approximately 3.4% and 6.2% of operating earnings (before unallocated and corporate 
expenses) for the second quarter of 2009 and 2008, respectively, and were approximately 2.4% and 6.2% of 
operating earnings (before unallocated and corporate expenses) for the six months of 2009 and 2008, respectively.  
Net sales and earnings derived from international markets are subject to, among others, the risks of currency 
fluctuations. 
 
Interest Expense.  Interest expense increased approximately $6.4 million, or approximately 20.4%, during the 
second quarter of 2009 as compared to the second quarter of 2008 and increased approximately $17.3 million, or 
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approximately 29.5%, during the six months of 2009 as compared to the six months of 2008.  This increase in the 
second quarter and six months of 2009 is primarily due to the impact of higher interest rates of approximately $0.3 
million and $10.5 million, respectively, as a result of Nortek’s 10% Senior Secured Notes due December 1, 2013 
(the “10% Senior Secured Notes”) and Nortek’s new five year $350.0 million senior secured asset-based revolving 
credit facility (the “ABL Facility”) and higher average principal balances of approximately $5.4 million and $5.0 
million, respectively.  In addition, the Company’s interest expense increased approximately $0.6 million and $1.7 
million in the second quarter and six months of 2009, respectively, related to increased amortization of deferred 
debt expense related to the additional deferred financing costs associated with Nortek’s 10% Senior Secured Notes 
and Nortek’s ABL Facility.   
 
Loss from Debt Retirement.  On May 20, 2008, Nortek sold $750.0 million of its 10% Senior Secured Notes due 
December 1, 2013 (the “10% Senior Secured Notes”) and also entered into a new five year $350.0 million senior 
secured asset-based revolving credit facility (the “ABL Facility”).  The net proceeds from the 10% Senior Secured 
Notes and the ABL Facility were used to repay all of the outstanding indebtedness under Nortek’s existing senior 
secured credit facility, which included approximately $675.5 million outstanding under Nortek’s senior secured term 
loan and approximately $80.0 million outstanding under the revolving portion of the senior secured credit facility.  
The redemption of Nortek’s senior secured term loan resulted in a pre-tax loss of approximately $9.9 million in the 
second quarter of 2008, primarily as a result of writing off unamortized deferred debt expense. 
 
Investment Income.  Investment income for the second quarter of 2009 was approximately $0.1 million as 
compared to approximately $0.2 million for the second quarter of 2008 and was approximately $0.2 million for the 
six months of 2009 as compared to approximately $0.4 million for the six months of 2008. 
 
Provision for Income Taxes.  The benefit from income taxes for the second quarter of 2009 was approximately $7.9 
million as compared to a provision for income taxes of approximately $2.2 million for the second quarter of 2008 
and the provision for income taxes for the six months of 2009 was approximately $1.2 million as compared to 
approximately $2.5 million for the six months of 2008.  The effective income tax rates of approximately (0.4)% and 
119.0% for the six months of 2009 and 2008, respectively, differ from the expected United States federal statutory 
rate of 35% principally as a result of the estimated non-cash goodwill impairment charge recorded in the second 
quarter of 2009, non-deductible expenses, increases in valuation allowances against deferred tax assets, state 
income tax provisions, the effect of foreign operations and interest on uncertain tax positions.  The change in the 
effective income tax rates between the six months of 2009 and 2008 is principally due to increases in valuation 
allowances against deferred tax assets, the estimated non-cash goodwill impairment charge recorded in the second 
quarter of 2009 and interest on uncertain tax positions.  See Note E of the Notes to the Unaudited Financial 
Statements included elsewhere herein. 
 
Net (Loss) Earnings.  The consolidated net (loss) earnings increased by approximately $249.1 million from net 
earnings of approximately $3.7 million for the second quarter of 2008 to a net loss of approximately $245.4 million 
for the second quarter of 2009.  This increase was primarily due to the factors discussed above, which includes a 
decrease of approximately $262.6 million in consolidated operating (loss) earnings primarily related to the estimated 
non-cash goodwill impairment charge recorded in the second quarter of 2009 of approximately $250.0 million, an 
increase of approximately $6.4 million in interest expense and a decrease in investment income of approximately 
$0.1 million, offset by a decrease of approximately $10.1 million in the (benefit) provision for income taxes and a 
decrease in the loss from debt retirement of approximately $9.9 million.   
 
The consolidated net loss increased by approximately $277.7 million from approximately $0.4 million for the six 
months of 2008 to approximately $278.1 million for the six months of 2009.  This increase was primarily due to the 
factors discussed above, which includes a decrease of approximately $271.4 million in consolidated operating 
(loss) earnings primarily related to the estimated non-cash goodwill impairment charge recorded in the second 
quarter of 2009 of approximately $250.0 million, an increase of approximately $17.3 million in interest expense and 
a decrease in investment income of approximately $0.2 million, offset by a decrease of approximately $1.3 million in 
the provision for income taxes and a decrease in the loss from debt retirement of approximately $9.9 million.   
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EBITDA.  The Company uses EBITDA as both an operating performance and liquidity measure.  Operating 
performance measure disclosures with respect to EBITDA are provided below.  Refer to the Liquidity and Capital 
Resources section for liquidity measure disclosures with respect to EBITDA and a reconciliation from net cash flows 
from operating activities to EBITDA.  
 
EBITDA is defined as net earnings (loss) before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization expense.  EBITDA is 
not a measure of operating performance under U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”) and should 
not be considered as an alternative or substitute for GAAP profitability measures such as operating earnings (loss) 
from continuing operations, discontinued operations, extraordinary items and net earnings (loss).  EBITDA as an 
operating performance measure has material limitations since it excludes, among other things, the statement of 
operations impact of depreciation and amortization expense, interest expense and the provision (benefit) for income 
taxes and therefore does not necessarily represent an accurate measure of profitability, particularly in situations 
where a company is highly leveraged or has a disadvantageous tax structure.  The Company uses a significant 
amount of capital assets and therefore, depreciation and amortization expense is a necessary element of the 
Company’s costs and ability to generate revenue and therefore its exclusion from EBITDA is a material limitation.  
The Company has a significant amount of debt and therefore, interest expense is a necessary element of the 
Company’s costs and ability to generate revenue and therefore its exclusion from EBITDA is a material limitation.  
The Company generally incurs significant U.S. federal, state and foreign income taxes each year and the provision 
(benefit) for income taxes is a necessary element of the Company’s costs and therefore its exclusion from EBITDA 
is a material limitation.  As a result, EBITDA should be evaluated in conjunction with net earnings (loss) for a more 
complete analysis of the Company’s profitability, as net earnings (loss) includes the financial statement impact of 
these items and is the most directly comparable GAAP operating performance measure to EBITDA.  As EBITDA is 
not defined by GAAP, the Company’s definition of EBITDA may differ from and therefore may not be comparable to 
similarly titled measures used by other companies, thereby limiting its usefulness as a comparative measure.  
Because of the limitations that EBITDA has as an analytical tool, investors should not consider it in isolation, or as a 
substitute for analysis of the Company’s operating results as reported under GAAP.   
 
Company management uses EBITDA as a supplementary non-GAAP operating performance measure to assist 
with its overall evaluation of Company and subsidiary operating performance (including determining the levels of 
executive compensation and the performance of subsidiary management) relative to outside peer group 
companies.  In addition, the Company uses EBITDA as an operating performance measure in financial 
presentations to the Company’s Board of Directors, shareholders, various banks participating in Nortek’s ABL 
Facility, note holders and Bond Rating agencies, among others, as a supplemental non-GAAP operating measure 
to assist them in their evaluation of the Company’s performance.  The Company is also active in mergers, 
acquisitions and divestitures and uses EBITDA as an additional operating performance measure to assess 
Company, subsidiary and potential acquisition target enterprise value and to assist in the overall evaluation of 
Company, subsidiary and potential acquisition target performance on an internal basis and relative to peer group 
companies.  The Company uses EBITDA in conjunction with traditional GAAP operating performance measures as 
part of its overall assessment of potential valuation and relative performance and therefore does not place undue 
reliance on EBITDA as its only measure of operating performance.   
 
The Company believes EBITDA is useful for both the Company and investors as it is a commonly used analytical 
measurement for comparing company profitability, which eliminates the effects of financing, differing valuations of 
fixed and intangible assets and tax structure decisions.  The Company believes that EBITDA is specifically relevant 
to the Company, due to the different degrees of leverage among its competitors, the impact of purchase accounting 
associated with acquisitions, which impacts comparability with its competitors who may or may not have recently 
revalued their fixed and intangible assets, and the differing tax structures and tax jurisdictions of certain of the 
Company’s competitors.  The Company has included EBITDA as a supplemental operating performance measure, 
which should be evaluated by investors in conjunction with the traditional GAAP performance measures discussed 
earlier in this Results of Operations section for a complete evaluation of the Company’s operating performance. 
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The following table presents a reconciliation from net (loss) earnings, which is the most directly comparable GAAP 
operating performance measure, to EBITDA for the second quarter of 2009 and 2008: 
 

2009 2008

Net (loss) earnings (1), (2) (245.4)$         3.7$                
(Benefit) provision for income taxes (7.9)                2.2                  
Interest expense  (3) 37.7                31.3                
Investment income (0.1)                (0.2)                
Depreciation expense 9.6                  10.2                
Amortization expense 6.5                  8.4                  

EBITDA (199.6)$          55.6$              

For the second quarter of

(Dollar amounts in millions)

 
 

(1) Net loss and EBITDA for the second quarter of 2009 includes: 
• an estimated non-cash goodwill impairment charge of approximately $250.0 million recorded in the 

HTP segment, 
• income from change in estimate of loss on the Company’s indemnification related to a lease 

guarantee of approximately $3.2 million, 
• charges related to reserves for amounts due from customers of approximately $2.0 million in all 

four segments,  
• net foreign exchange losses of approximately $1.4 million related to transactions, including 

intercompany debt not indefinitely invested in Nortek’s subsidiaries,  
• approximately $1.3 million of severance charges incurred related to certain reduction in workforce 

initiatives in the RVP, HTP and R-HVAC segments,  
• advisory fees related to the Company’s analysis of its capital structure of approximately $0.9 

million, and 
• a gain of approximately $0.3 million from the sale of a manufacturing facility in the RVP segment. 

 
(2) Net earnings and EBITDA for the second quarter of 2008 includes: 

• fees and expenses recorded in connection with the settlement of a dispute with one of its former 
suppliers of approximately $4.5 million in the HTP segment, 

• a gain of approximately $2.5 million from the sale of a manufacturing facility in the RVP segment,  
• net foreign exchange gains of approximately $1.5 million related to transactions, including 

intercompany debt not indefinitely invested in Nortek’s subsidiaries, and 
• costs and expenses incurred in the RVP segment in connection with the start up of a range hood 

facility in Mexico of approximately $1.4 million. 
 

(3) Interest expense for the second quarter of 2009 includes cash interest of approximately $35.2 million and 
non-cash interest of approximately $2.5 million.  Interest expense for the second quarter of 2008 includes 
cash interest of approximately $29.4 million and non-cash interest of approximately $1.9 million. 
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The following table presents a reconciliation from net loss, which is the most directly comparable GAAP operating 
performance measure, to EBITDA for the six months of 2009 and 2008: 
 

2009 2008

Net loss (1), (2) (278.1)$         (0.4)$              
Provision for income taxes 1.2                  2.5                  
Interest expense  (3) 76.0                58.7                
Investment income (0.2)                (0.4)                
Depreciation expense 19.2                20.9                
Amortization expense 12.4                15.1                

EBITDA (169.5)$          96.4$              

For the six months of

(Dollar amounts in millions)

 
 

(1) Net loss and EBITDA for the six months of 2009 includes: 
• an estimated non-cash goodwill impairment charge of approximately $250.0 million recorded in the 

HTP segment, 
• income from change in estimate of loss on the Company’s indemnification related to a lease 

guarantee of approximately $3.2 million, 
• charges related to reserves for amounts due from customers of approximately $2.8 million in all 

four segments, 
• approximately $2.2 million of severance charges incurred related to certain reduction in workforce 

initiatives in the RVP, HTP and R-HVAC segments, 
• net foreign exchange losses of approximately $1.5 million related to transactions, including 

intercompany debt not indefinitely invested in Nortek’s subsidiaries, 
• advisory fees related to the Company’s analysis of its capital structure of approximately $0.9 

million, and 
• a gain of approximately $0.3 million from the sale of a manufacturing facility in the RVP segment. 

 
(2) Net loss and EBITDA for the six months of 2008 includes: 

• fees and expenses recorded in connection with the settlement of a dispute with one of its former 
suppliers of approximately $4.7 million in the HTP segment, 

• a gain of approximately $2.5 million from the sale of a manufacturing facility in the RVP segment,  
• net foreign exchange gains of approximately $1.4 million related to transactions, including 

intercompany debt not indefinitely invested in Nortek’s subsidiaries, and 
• costs and expenses incurred in the RVP segment in connection with the start up of a range hood 

facility in Mexico of approximately $1.4 million. 
 

(3) Interest expense for the six months of 2009 includes cash interest of approximately $71.0 million and non-
cash interest of approximately $5.0 million.  Interest expense for the six months of 2008 includes cash 
interest of approximately $55.4 million and non-cash interest of approximately $3.3 million. 
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Liquidity and Capital Resources 
 
The Company announced on June 17, 2009 that it had retained financial and legal advisors (combined, the 
“Advisors”) to assist NTK Holdings and Nortek in the analysis of their capital structures in light of the current 
economic conditions.  NTK Holdings, Nortek and the Advisors have had preliminary discussions and outlined 
preliminary proposals as to potential equity and debt restructuring alternatives for NTK Holdings and Nortek with an 
informal committee comprised of certain holders of NTK Holdings’ 10 ¾% Senior Discount Notes due 2014 and 
Nortek’s 10% Senior Secured Notes due 2013 and 8 ½% Senior Subordinated Notes due 2014 (the “Bondholder 
Committee”).  No definitive agreement has been reached between NTK Holdings, Nortek and the Bondholder 
Committee as to the terms of any potential equity and debt restructuring. The discussions and negotiations are 
continuing and may result in, among other things: (1) a restructuring of the equity and debt of NTK Holdings and 
Nortek pursuant to a negotiated transaction or under a “pre-packaged” plan of reorganization under Title 11 of the 
United States Bankruptcy Code, (2) a change of control of Nortek as discussed further below and (3) events of 
default and cross defaults under certain of NTK Holdings’ and Nortek’s outstanding indebtedness depending on the 
future decisions to be made by NTK Holdings and Nortek, which may or may not result in the acceleration of 
substantially all of the Company’s indebtedness.  The Company has been and continues to be in compliance with 
the terms of all of the obligations that are subject to the Bondholder Committee negotiations.  There can be no 
assurance that NTK Holdings and Nortek will be successful in reaching a definitive agreement with respect to the 
potential equity and debt restructuring and, if not successful, NTK Holdings or Nortek may be compelled to seek 
other financing arrangements or debt restructuring under supervision of an appropriate court proceeding.  NTK 
Holdings and Nortek expect to continue to operate its business in the ordinary course during and following any 
potential equity and debt restructuring. 

 
In the second half of 2009, the Company estimates that it will use up to approximately $20.0 million of cash to pay 
for fees and expenses in connection with a restructuring of its indebtedness which includes approximately $8.0 
million dependent on a successful restructuring. 

 
The Company and its lenders amended the ABL Facility (the “Amendment”) to eliminate the requirement that 
Nortek represent that it is solvent, as defined, when requesting new borrowings under the ABL facility effective as of 
July 4, 2009, and when providing the quarterly compliance certificate effective as of May 20, 2008.  The 
Amendment also provides that the proceeds of any future borrowings under the ABL Facility must be used to 
primarily fund operating expenses and liabilities of Nortek’s operating subsidiaries.  The Company has been and 
continues to be in compliance with the terms of the ABL Facility.   
 
The Company and its parent company, NTK Holdings, have substantial debt service obligations.  During 2010, NTK 
Holdings alone has cash debt service obligations of approximately $162.3 million, including a payment of 
approximately $147.4 million due on March 1, 2010 under its 10 3/4% Senior Discount Notes.  The Company has 
significant cash payments due on its indebtedness and certain other specified obligations in 2009 and thereafter.  
For the second half of 2009, Nortek estimates that it will pay approximately $115.2 million in principal and interest 
payments on its indebtedness.  In the fiscal year ending December 31, 2010, the total of principal and interest 
payments on indebtedness is approximately $146.6 million.  For 2009, the Company’s principal sources of liquidity 
include approximately $124.1 million of unrestricted cash and cash equivalents at July 4, 2009, cash flow from its 
subsidiaries in 2009 and Nortek’s subsidiaries’ unrestricted cash and cash equivalent balances of approximately 
$47.9 million at July 4, 2009. 
 
The ability of NTK Holdings to service its outstanding indebtedness depends on the likelihood of obtaining 
additional capital, restructuring the terms of such indebtedness or obtaining dividends or other payments from 
Nortek.  The ability of NTK Holdings to obtain additional capital is adversely affected by the substantial amount of 
NTK Holdings’ and the Company’s outstanding indebtedness, including indebtedness of Nortek and its subsidiaries, 
which is structurally senior in right of payment to any new debt or equity financing for NTK Holdings.  Although 
Nortek’s 10% Senior Secured Notes due 2013, Nortek’s 8 1/2% Senior Subordinated Notes due 2014 and Nortek’s 
ABL Facility limit Nortek’s ability to make certain payments, including dividends, to NTK Holdings, under the 
indenture that governs Nortek’s 10% Senior Secured Notes due 2013, Nortek has the capacity to make certain 
payments, including dividends, of up to approximately $145.9 million at July 4, 2009 and Nortek may make a 
distribution or other payment to NTK Holdings.  However, Nortek is under no obligation to make any distribution or 
other payment to NTK Holdings even if Nortek has available cash and the making of such a payment is permitted 
by the terms of its existing indebtedness.  In light of Nortek’s own substantial indebtedness and liquidity needs, 
Nortek believes there is a substantial likelihood that it will choose not to make a distribution or other payment to 
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NTK Holdings sufficient to enable NTK Holdings to make the payments due in 2010 on its outstanding 
indebtedness, including the payment due on March 1, 2010 under its 10 3/4% Senior Discount Notes.  If NTK 
Holdings and Nortek are not successful in restructuring their indebtedness, the failure by NTK Holdings to make 
such payments will constitute events of default under the terms of the documentation governing such indebtedness 
and will permit the holders of such indebtedness to accelerate the payment of such indebtedness in full.  Such 
defaults, including cross defaults under NTK Holdings’ senior unsecured loan facility, and any related acceleration 
will likely require additional equity or a restructuring of the indebtedness, whether pursuant to privately negotiated 
transactions or under supervision of an appropriate court proceeding.   
 
A restructuring of or default under the indebtedness of NTK Holdings could result in a change of control of Nortek.  
A change of control may constitute an event of default under Nortek’s ABL Facility and would also require Nortek to 
offer to purchase its 10% Senior Secured Notes due 2013 and 8 1/2% Senior Subordinated Notes due 2014 at 
101% of the principal amount thereof, together with accrued and unpaid interest, and a default of Nortek’s ABL 
Facility would trigger a cross-default under the indentures governing substantially all of NTK Holdings’ and Nortek’s 
indebtedness.  The failure of Nortek to complete the purchase of any notes tendered pursuant to such offer, 
whether due to lack of funds or otherwise, would constitute an event of default under the indentures governing such 
notes.  Such defaults, including cross defaults under substantially all of Nortek’s outstanding indebtedness, and any 
related acceleration will likely require additional equity or a restructuring of the indebtedness, whether pursuant to 
privately negotiated transactions or under supervision of an appropriate court proceeding.   
 
Critical factors affecting the Company’s future performance, including the level of the Company’s sales, profitability 
and cash flows, are the levels of residential remodeling and replacement activity and new residential and non-
residential construction activity.  The level of new residential and non-residential construction activity and, to a 
lesser extent, the level of residential remodeling and replacement activity are affected by seasonality and cyclical 
factors such as interest rates, inflation, consumer spending habits, employment levels and other macroeconomic 
factors, over which the Company has no control.  Any decline in economic activity as a result of these or other 
factors typically results in a decline in new construction and, to a lesser extent, residential remodeling and 
replacement purchases, which would result in a decrease in the Company’s sales, profitability and cash flows.   
 
The severe impact of the worldwide crisis in the credit and financial markets in the second half of 2008 and the first 
half of 2009, the instability in the troubled mortgage market, rising unemployment and decreasing home values 
have had a negative impact on residential new construction activity, consumer disposable income and spending on 
home remodeling and repair expenditures.  These factors have had an adverse effect on the Company’s operating 
results for the first half of 2009 and are expected to continue throughout the remainder of 2009.   
 
During 2008, and continuing into the first half of 2009, the Company instituted cost reduction measures by 
implementing initiatives to significantly reduce discretionary spending and achieve reductions in workforce across 
all of its businesses given the rapidly changing and challenging economic environment.  As a result of these 
initiatives, the Company expects to reduce expense levels by an amount between $50 million and $60 million in 
2009 over 2008 levels, of which the Company estimates approximately $19.7 million and $39.5 million in cost 
reductions were achieved during the second quarter and first half of 2009, respectively, as compared to the same 
periods of 2008.  The Company’s total selling, general and administrative expense, net was approximately $22.7 
million and $40.2 million lower, while overhead expense, including freight costs, charged to cost of products sold 
was approximately $25.6 million and $39.0 million lower for the second quarter and first half of 2009, respectively, 
over the same periods of 2008.  These lower expense levels reflect both reductions in spending levels and lower 
expenses, in part, as a result of a decline in sales volume.  There can be no assurance that these cost reduction 
measures will continue to be successful.   
 
The Company’s outlook for the remainder of 2009 is for the challenging market conditions to continue.  Additionally, 
the weak economy and credit market is expected to continue to impact the level of residential new construction, as 
well as consumer confidence and the related spending on home remodeling and repair expenditures.  The 
Company is looking at its business with a long-term view and a continued focus on its low-cost country sourcing 
strategy and cost reduction initiatives.  Balance sheet management is an extremely important priority for all of the 
Company’s businesses so it can maximize cash flow from operating activities.  During this challenging environment, 
the Company will only fund necessary capital investments that will improve its business operations. 
 
The Company has accumulated significant amounts of cash and its unrestricted cash balances at July 4, 2009 were 
approximately $172.0 million, including approximately $25.8 million held by Nortek’s Canadian subsidiaries.  The 
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ability and timing to transfer cash from Nortek’s foreign subsidiaries to Nortek in a tax efficient manner is dependent 
on circumstances at the time of transfer.  In the second half of 2009, the Company expects to use up to 
approximately $20.0 million, including a potential success fee of approximately $8.0 million, to pay fees and 
expenses in connection with the restructuring of its indebtedness.  In the first half of 2009, the Company spent 
approximately $6.4 million of cash on capital expenditures and expects to spend an additional $8.6 million to $13.6 
million in the second half of 2009.  In addition, in the second half of 2009, the Company expects to repay 
approximately $30.0 million of indebtedness under Nortek’s ABL Facility and accordingly has classified that amount 
as a current maturity of long-term debt in the accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated balance sheet at 
July 4, 2009.  The Company has also instituted certain strategies to significantly reduce spending levels in 2009 in a 
manner to minimize the impact on its customers, suppliers, market shares or their brands.  The Company believes 
that these measures will allow the Company to continue to maintain its business operations through the expected 
downturn in sales activity. 
 
In addition, uncertainties due to the significant instability in the mortgage markets and the resultant impact on the 
overall credit market could continue to adversely impact the Company’s business.  The tightening of credit 
standards and the decrease in home values are expected to result in a decline in consumer spending for home 
remodeling and replacement projects which could continue to adversely impact the Company’s operating results 
and the cash flow from its subsidiaries.  Additionally, increases in the cost of home mortgages and the difficulty in 
obtaining financing for new homes could continue to materially impact the sales of the Company’s products in the 
residential construction market. 
 
There can be no assurance that the Company will generate sufficient cash flow from the operation of its 
subsidiaries or that future financings will be available on acceptable terms or in amounts sufficient to enable the 
Company to service or refinance its indebtedness, or to make necessary capital expenditures.  
 
The agreements that govern the terms of the Company’s debt, including the indentures that govern Nortek’s 10% 
Senior Secured Notes and Nortek’s 8 1/2% senior subordinated notes and the credit agreement that governs 
Nortek’s ABL Facility, contain covenants that restrict the Company’s ability and the ability of its subsidiaries to incur 
additional indebtedness, pay dividends or make other distributions, make loans or investments, incur certain liens, 
enter into transactions with affiliates and consolidate, merge or sell assets. 
 
The indentures that govern Nortek’s 10% Senior Secured Notes and Nortek’s 8 1/2% Senior Subordinated Notes 
limit Nortek’s ability to make certain payments, including dividends, loans or investments or the redemption or 
retirement of any equity interests and indebtedness subordinated to the notes.  These limitations are based on a 
calculation of net income, equity issuances, receipt of capital contributions and return on certain investments (as 
defined by the respective indentures) since August 27, 2004.  The amount of the permitted payments depends in 
part on baskets which are available only if Nortek meets certain financial tests.  No assurance can be given that 
Nortek will have sufficient capacity under these limitations to make payments to NTK Holdings to enable it to satisfy 
its debt service obligations.  As of July 4, 2009, Nortek had the capacity to make certain payments, including 
dividends, of up to approximately $145.9 million.  Nortek is under no obligation to make any distribution or other 
payment to NTK Holdings even if Nortek has available cash and the making of such a payment is permitted by the 
terms of its existing indebtedness (see Note A of the Notes to the Unaudited Financial Statements included 
elsewhere herein).   
 
At December 31, 2008, the Company’s Best subsidiary was not in compliance with a maintenance covenant with 
respect to two loan agreements with aggregate borrowings outstanding of approximately $6.8 million.  Non-
compliance with these two long-term debt agreements would have resulted in non-compliance with two other long-
term debt agreements totaling approximately $5.3 million at December 31, 2008.  The Company’s Best subsidiary 
obtained waivers from the bank, which indicated that the Company’s Best subsidiary was not required to comply 
with the maintenance covenant as of December 31, 2008.  The next measurement date for the maintenance 
covenant is for the year ended December 31, 2009 and the Company believes that it is probable that its Best 
subsidiary will not be in compliance with the maintenance covenant when their assessment of the required 
calculation is completed in the first quarter of 2010.  The Company and its Best subsidiary are currently in 
negotiations to refinance these two loan agreements; however as of July 4, 2009, a definitive agreement was not 
signed.  As a result, the Company has classified approximately $6.1 million and $8.1 million of outstanding 
borrowings under such “long-term debt” agreements as a current liability on its consolidated balance sheet at July 
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4, 2009 and December 31, 2008, respectively.  The Company and its Best subsidiary will continue to negotiate the 
refinancing of these debt obligations; however no assurance can be given that it will be successful in obtaining a 
refinancing, amendment or waiver on terms acceptable to the Company.  Accordingly, Nortek could be required to 
repay the long-term portion of approximately $6.1 million at December 31, 2009 related to these loans in an event 
of non-compliance. 

 
In May 2009, Moody’s affirmed its debt ratings for Nortek and NTK Holdings of “Caa2” and affirmed its negative 
outlook.  Moody’s rating affirmation reflected the Company’s high leverage, reduced financial flexibility and the 
anticipated continuing difficulties in the new home construction market and depressed home values on the 
Company’s 2009 financial performance.  The negative ratings outlook reflects Moody’s concern that the market for 
the Company’s products will remain under significant pressure so long as new housing starts do not rebound and 
that the repair and remodeling market could contract further in 2009.  Additionally, Moody’s was concerned whether 
the Company’s cost cutting initiatives would be successful enough to offset pressure on the Company’s sales. 

 
In April 2009, Standard & Poor's (“S&P”) Ratings Services lowered its corporate credit rating on Nortek and issued 
a negative outlook.  Additionally S&P lowered the issue-level rating on Nortek's 10% senior secured notes due 2013 
and on Nortek’s 8 1/2% senior subordinated notes due 2014.  In addition, S&P lowered the corporate credit rating 
on NTK Holdings and lowered the issue-level rating on NTK Holdings’ 10 3/4% senior discount notes due 2014.  
These rating actions reflect S&P’s expectations that NTK Holdings and Nortek's ability to service its current capital 
structure over the next year will be challenged as difficult operating conditions are likely to continue due to 
depressed new residential construction markets and an expected decline in remodeling and commercial 
construction activity. 
 
T he Company had consolidated debt at July 4, 2009 of approximately $1,598.8 million consisting of the following: 

 (Amounts in millions) 
Nortek’s 10% Senior Secured Notes due 2013, net of 

unamortized discount of approximately $6.5 million  
  

$     743.5 
Nortek’s 8 1/2% Senior Subordinated Notes due 2014 (“8 

1/2% Notes”) 
  

625.0 
Nortek’s ABL Facility  165.0 
Nortek’s long-term notes, mortgage notes and other 

indebtedness 
  

36.9 
Nortek’s short-term bank obligations  18.4 
Nortek’s 9 7/8% Senior Subordinated Notes due 2011, 

including unamortized premium  
  

         10.0 

Consolidated debt at July 4, 2009  $  1,598.8 
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During the six months of 2009, the Company had a net decrease in its consolidated debt of approximately $0.6 
million resulting from: 
 

 (Amounts in millions) 
Non-cash interest activity (1)  $    0.6 
Other debt activity (2)       (1.2) 

  $   (0.6) 
 

(1) Debt activity related to non-cash interest activity is comprised of the following: 
 

 (Amounts in millions) 
Amortization of debt discount, net relating to 

Nortek’s 10% Senior Secured Notes 
  

$    0.6 
 

(2) Other debt activity is comprised of the following: 
 

 (Amounts in millions) 
Borrowings made under Nortek’s ABL Facility  $    20.0 
Principal payments  (17.7) 
Changes in foreign currency exchange rates 

and other 
  

(5.5) 
Additional borrowings related to Nortek’s 

foreign subsidiaries 
  

       2.0 

  $    (1.2) 
 
NTK Holdings and its subsidiaries, including Nortek, affiliates or significant shareholders may from time to time, in 
their sole discretion, purchase, repay, refinance, redeem or retire any of its outstanding debt (including publicly 
issued debt), in privately negotiated or open market transactions, by tender offer or otherwise, which may be 
subject to restricted payment limitations.  Certain executive officers of Nortek and THL Advisors, through limited 
partnerships, purchased for approximately $29.1 million in cash approximately $78.5 million of accreted value at 
December 31, 2008 of NTK Holdings’ senior unsecured loan facility in a negotiated transaction during the fourth 
quarter of 2008. 
 
From time to time, the Company has evaluated and expects to continue to evaluate possible acquisition 
transactions and possible dispositions of certain of its businesses on an ongoing basis and at any given time may 
be engaged in discussions or negotiations with respect to possible acquisitions or dispositions, but does not expect 
to consummate any acquisitions in 2009.  Contingent consideration of approximately $14.1 million related to the 
acquisition of Gefen, Inc., which was accrued for at December 31, 2008, was paid during the first quarter of 2009.  
The remaining estimated total maximum potential amount of contingent consideration that may be paid in the future 
for all completed acquisitions is approximately $11.3 million. 
 
As noted previously, the Company expects to meet its cash flow requirements for fiscal 2009, including debt 
repayments and payments related to acquisitions, from existing cash and cash equivalents and cash from 
operations.  Nortek and its subsidiaries have entered into a number of operating lease obligations, purchase 
obligations and have guaranteed certain obligations of these parties.  With the exception of the Company’s 
indemnification related to a lease guarantee as discussed below, no significant changes to these obligations have 
occurred since December 31, 2008. 
 
At July 4, 2009, the Company’s former subsidiary, Ply Gem, guaranteed approximately $16.2 million of third party 
obligations relating to rental payments through June 30, 2016 under a facility leased by a former subsidiary, which 
was sold on September 21, 2001.  Nortek indemnified these guarantees in connection with the sale of Ply Gem on 
February 12, 2004 and has an estimated liability related to this indemnified guarantee of approximately $0.7 million 
at July 4, 2009 in accordance with FASB Interpretation No. 45, “Guarantor’s Accounting and Disclosure 
Requirements for Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others” (“FIN 45”).  The buyer of 
the former subsidiary provided certain indemnifications and other rights to Nortek for any payments that it might be 
required to make pursuant to this guarantee.  Should the buyer of the former subsidiary cease making payments, or 
fail to make payments in full, then Nortek may be required to make payments on its indemnification.  Should such 
payments be required, the Company cannot be certain that the buyer of the former subsidiary will meet its financial 
obligations with respect to its indemnification of Nortek.  At July 4, 2009, in accordance with SFAS No. 5, 
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“Accounting for Contingencies”, the Company has a contingent loss of approximately $3.3 million recorded in its 
unaudited condensed consolidated balance sheet in connection with this arrangement, representing management’s 
best estimate.  During the second quarter of 2009, the Company reduced its estimate by approximately $3.2 million, 
which resulted in a reduction to selling, general and administrative expense, net in the accompanying unaudited 
condensed consolidated statement of operations. 
 
The Company’s combined short-term and long-term product liability accruals increased from approximately $39.5 
million at December 31, 2008 to approximately $42.8 million at July 4, 2009.  Product liability expense decreased 
from approximately $3.3 million for the second quarter of 2008 to approximately $2.7 million for the second quarter 
of 2009 and increased from approximately $6.2 million for the six months of 2008 to approximately $6.3 million for 
the six months of 2009.  The decrease in expense in the second quarter of 2009 as compared to the second quarter 
of 2008 is primarily as a result of a reduction in estimate of approximately $1.0 million recorded in the second 
quarter of 2009 related to a product liability matter.  The Company records insurance liabilities and related expenses 
for product and general liability losses in accordance with either the contractual terms of its policies or, if self-
insured, the total liabilities that are estimable and probable as of the reporting date (see Note F of the Notes to the 
Unaudited Financial Statements included elsewhere herein).   
 
The Company’s combined short-term and long-term warranty accruals increased from approximately $51.5 million 
at December 31, 2008 to approximately $53.4 million at July 4, 2009.  Warranty expense decreased from 
approximately $8.7 million for the second quarter of 2008 to approximately $7.3 million for the second quarter of 
2009 and decreased from approximately $16.0 million for the six months of 2008 to approximately $14.4 million for 
the six months of 2009.  The decrease in warranty expense is primarily related to a decrease in requirements as a 
result of a decline in sales.  The Company provides for estimated warranty liabilities at the time of sale and 
periodically assesses the adequacy of its recorded warranty liabilities and adjusts the amounts as necessary (see 
Note F of the Notes to the Unaudited Financial Statements included elsewhere herein). 
 
Unrestricted cash and cash equivalents decreased from approximately $182.2 million at December 31, 2008 to 
approximately $172.0 million at July 4, 2009 primarily as a result of interest payments of approximately $72.8 million 
on Nortek’s 8 ½% Notes and other debt, approximately $14.1 million of contingent consideration paid in 2009 which 
was earned in 2008 and principal payments on the Company’s debt of approximately $17.7 million, partially offset 
by additional borrowings by the Company of approximately $22.0 million and cash provided by operating activities 
of Nortek’s subsidiaries.  The Company has classified as restricted, in the accompanying unaudited condensed 
consolidated balance sheet, certain cash and cash equivalents that are not fully available for use in its operations.  
At July 4, 2009, approximately $3.2 million (of which approximately $2.4 million is included in long-term assets) of 
cash and cash equivalents were held primarily as collateral to fund certain benefit obligations relating to 
supplemental executive retirement plans.  
 
Capital expenditures were approximately $3.9 million for the second quarter of 2009 as compared to approximately 
$8.6 million for the second quarter of 2008 and were approximately $6.4 million for the six months of 2009 as 
compared to approximately $15.9 million for the six months of 2008.  Capital expenditures were approximately 
$25.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2008 and are expected to be between approximately $15.0 million 
and $20.0 million in 2009.   
 
The Company’s working capital decreased from approximately $352.7 million at December 31, 2008 to 
approximately $338.2 million at July 4, 2009, while the Company’s current ratio increased from approximately 1.8:1 
at December 31, 2008 to approximately 1.9:1 at July 4, 2009.  This decrease in working capital was primarily due to 
the reclassification of approximately $30.0 million of outstanding borrowings related to Nortek’s ABL Facility to 
current maturities of long-term debt, a decrease in inventories as described below and a decrease in unrestricted 
cash as discussed above, partially offset by decreases in accounts payable, accrued expenses and taxes, net and 
notes payable and other short-term obligations, as described further below and previously.   
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Accounts receivable increased approximately $0.5 million, or approximately 0.2%, between December 31, 2008 
and July 4, 2009, while net sales decreased approximately $12.0 million, or approximately 2.4%, in the second 
quarter of 2009 as compared to the fourth quarter of 2008.  The resolution and collection of retainage under a large 
contract in the C-HVAC segment in the first quarter of 2009 decreased accounts receivable at July 4, 2009 by 
approximately $3.9 million and the effect of changes in foreign currency exchange rates increased accounts 
receivable at July 4, 2009 by approximately $2.3 million.  The rate of change in accounts receivable in certain 
periods may be different than the rate of change in sales in such periods principally due to the timing of net sales.  
Increases or decreases in net sales near the end of any period generally result in significant changes in the amount 
of accounts receivable on the date of the balance sheet at the end of such period, as was the situation on July 4, 
2009 as compared to December 31, 2008.  Accounts receivable from customers related to foreign operations 
decreased approximately $29.4 million, or approximately 32.3%, between December 31, 2008 and July 4, 2009. 
 
Inventories decreased approximately $34.1 million, or approximately 11.5%, between December 31, 2008 and July 
4, 2009 primarily as a result of lower sales levels and a continued focus on working capital reductions during the 
second quarter of 2009 in all four of the Company’s segments.  The effect of changes in foreign currency exchange 
rates increased inventory at July 4, 2009 by approximately $1.5 million.   
 
Accounts payable decreased approximately $16.6 million, or 10.9%, between December 31, 2008 and July 4, 2009 
primarily due to decreases in the RVP and HTP segments, and to a lesser extent in the C-HVAC segment, partially 
offset by an increase in the R-HVAC segment which increased purchasing due to higher sales levels in the second 
quarter and first half of 2009, as compared to, the first quarter of 2009 and the fourth quarter of 2008.  The 
decrease also reflects the effect of changes in foreign currency exchange rates which resulted in an increase to 
accounts payable at July 4, 2009 of approximately $1.1 million. 
 
Accrued expenses and taxes, net decreased approximately $25.6 million, or approximately 12.0%, between 
December 31, 2008 and July 4, 2009 primarily as a result of contingent consideration payments of approximately 
$14.1 million which were accrued at December 31, 2008 and were paid in the first quarter of 2009. 
 
Changes in certain working capital accounts, as noted above, between December 31, 2008 and July 4, 2009, differ 
from the changes reflected in the Company’s consolidated statement of cash flows for such period as a result of the 
specific items mentioned in the four preceding paragraphs and from other non-cash items, including among others, 
the effect of changes in foreign currency exchange rates.  
 
Net cash flows from operating activities decreased approximately $37.9 million from net cash provided by operating 
activities of approximately $44.6 million for the six months of 2008 to approximately $6.7 million for the six months 
of 2009.  This was primarily the net result of an increase in the net loss of approximately $277.7 million, partially 
offset by the estimated non-cash goodwill impairment charge recorded in the second quarter of 2009 of 
approximately $250.0 million.  Net cash flows used in investing activities decreased by approximately $23.1 million 
from approximately $44.3 million for the six months of 2008 to approximately $21.2 million for the six months of 
2009.  This decrease was primarily due to a decrease in payments for acquisitions of approximately $18.6 million 
and a decrease in the level of capital expenditures of approximately $9.5 million.  Net cash flows from financing 
activities decreased by approximately $21.1 million from net cash provided by financing activities of approximately 
$25.4 million for the six months of 2008 to approximately $4.3 million for the six months of 2009 primarily as a result 
of the May 2008 transactions.  As discussed earlier, the Company generally uses cash flows from operations, and 
where necessary borrowings, to finance its capital expenditures and strategic acquisitions, to meet the service 
requirements of its existing indebtedness and for working capital and other general corporate purposes.  
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Unrestricted cash and cash equivalents decreased approximately $10.2 million from December 31, 2008 to July 4, 
2009 and increased approximately $25.7 million from December 31, 2007 to June 28, 2008, principally as a result 
of the following: 
 

2009 2008

Operating Activities:
Cash flow from operations, net 4.2$                     41.7$                   
Change in accounts receivable, net (2.4)                      (44.8)                   
Change in inventories 33.3                     (20.4)                   
Change in prepaids and other current assets (2.1)                      (4.0)                     
Change in accounts payable (12.4)                    53.9                     
Change in accrued expenses and taxes (11.1)                    12.3                     

Investing Activities:
Capital expenditures (6.4)                      (15.9)                   
Net cash paid for businesses acquired (14.1)                    (32.7)                   
Proceeds from the sale of property and equipment 1.9                       6.2                       
Change in restricted cash and marketable securities (0.1)                      ---

Financing Activities:
Change in borrowings, net 4.3                       66.3                     
Net proceeds from the sale of Nortek's 10% Senior

Secured Notes due 2013 --- 742.2                   
Redemption of Nortek's senior secured credit facility --- (755.5)                 
Fees paid in connection with Nortek's new debt facilities --- (31.7)                   
Equity investment by THL-Nortek Investors, LLC --- 4.2                       

Other, net (5.3)                      3.9                       
(10.2)$                  25.7$                   

(Dollar amounts in millions)

 Condensed Consolidated  

 For the six months of 
 Cash Flows (1) 

 
 

(1) Summarized from the Company’s unaudited condensed consolidated statement of cash flows for the six 
months of 2009 and 2008 (see the Unaudited Financial Statements included elsewhere herein).  
The impact of changes in foreign currency exchange rates on cash was not material and has been included in 
Other, net. 
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The Company uses EBITDA as both a liquidity and an operating performance measure.  Liquidity measure 
disclosures with respect to EBITDA are provided below.  Refer to the Results of Operations section for operating 
performance measure disclosures with respect to EBITDA and a reconciliation from net earnings (loss) to EBITDA.  
 
EBITDA is defined as net earnings (loss) before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization expense.  EBITDA is 
not a measure of cash flow under U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”) and should not be 
considered as an alternative or substitute for GAAP cash flow measures such as cash flows from operating, 
investing and financing activities.  EBITDA does not necessarily represent an accurate measure of cash flow 
performance because it excludes, among other things, capital expenditures, working capital requirements, 
significant debt service for principal and interest payments, income tax payments and other contractual obligations, 
which may have a significant adverse impact on a company’s cash flow performance thereby limiting its usefulness 
when evaluating the Company’s cash flow performance.  The Company uses a significant amount of capital assets 
and capital expenditures are a significant component of the Company’s annual cash expenditures and therefore 
their exclusion from EBITDA is a material limitation.   The Company has significant working capital requirements 
during the year due to the seasonality of its business, which require significant cash expenditures and therefore its 
exclusion from EBITDA is a material limitation.  The Company has a significant amount of debt and the Company 
has significant cash expenditures during the year related to principal and interest payments and therefore their 
exclusion from EBITDA is a material limitation.  The Company generally pays significant U.S. federal, state and 
foreign income taxes each year and therefore its exclusion from EBITDA is a material limitation.  As a result, 
EBITDA should be evaluated in conjunction with net cash from operating, investing and financing activities for a 
more complete analysis of the Company’s cash flow performance, as they include the financial statement impact of 
these items.  Although depreciation and amortization are non-cash charges, the assets being depreciated and 
amortized will often have to be replaced in the future and EBITDA does not reflect any cash requirements for 
replacements.  As EBITDA is not defined by GAAP, the Company’s definition of EBITDA may differ from and 
therefore may not be comparable to similarly titled measures used by other companies thereby limiting its 
usefulness as a comparative measure.  Because of the limitations that EBITDA has as an analytical tool, investors 
should not consider it in isolation, or as a substitute for analysis of the Company’s cash flows as reported under 
GAAP.  
 
Company management uses EBITDA as a supplementary non-GAAP liquidity measure to allow the Company to 
evaluate its operating units’ cash-generating ability to fund income tax payments, corporate overhead, debt service, 
capital expenditures and increases in working capital.  EBITDA is also used by management to allocate resources 
for growth among its businesses, to identify possible impairment charges, to evaluate the Company’s ability to 
service its debt and to raise capital for growth opportunities, including acquisitions.  In addition, the Company uses 
EBITDA as a liquidity measure in financial presentations to the Company’s Board of Directors, shareholders, 
various banks participating in Nortek’s ABL Facility, note holders and Bond Rating agencies, among others, as a 
supplemental non-GAAP liquidity measure to assist them in their evaluation of the Company’s cash flow 
performance.  The Company uses EBITDA in conjunction with traditional GAAP liquidity measures as part of its 
overall assessment of cash flow ability and therefore does not place undue reliance on EBITDA as its only measure 
of cash flow performance.   
 
The Company believes EBITDA is useful for both the Company and investors as it is a commonly used analytical 
measurement for assessing a company’s cash flow ability to service and/or incur additional indebtedness, which 
eliminates the impact of certain non-cash items such as depreciation and amortization.  The Company believes that 
EBITDA is specifically relevant to the Company due to the Company’s leveraged position as well as the common 
use of EBITDA as a liquidity measure within the Company’s industries by lenders, investors, others in the financial 
community and peer group companies.  The Company has included EBITDA as a supplemental liquidity measure, 
which should be evaluated by investors in conjunction with the traditional GAAP liquidity measures discussed 
earlier in this Liquidity and Capital Resources section for a complete evaluation of the Company’s cash flow 
performance. 
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The following table presents a reconciliation from net cash (used in) provided by operating activities, which is the 
ost directly comparable GAAP liquidity measure, to EBITDA for the six months of 2009 and 2008: m 

2009 2008

Net cash provided by operating activities 6.7$                44.6$                 
Cash used by working capital and other long-term

asset and liability changes (2.5)                 (2.9)                    
Non-cash interest expense, net (5.0)                 (3.3)                    
Non-cash goodwill impairment charge (250.0)             ---
Deferred federal income tax benefit 4.1                  4.7                     
Loss from debt retirement --- (9.9)                    
Gain on sale of property and equipment 0.3                  2.5                     
Non-cash stock-based compensation expense (0.1)                 (0.1)                    
Provision for income taxes 1.2                  2.5                     
Interest expense (3) 76.0                58.7                   
Investment income (0.2)                 (0.4)                    

EBITDA (1), (2) (169.5)$           96.4$                 

For the six months of

(Dollar amounts in millions)

 
 

(1) EBITDA for the six months of 2009 includes: 
• an estimated non-cash goodwill impairment charge of approximately $250.0 million recorded in the 

HTP segment, 
• income from change in estimate of loss on the Company’s indemnification related to a lease 

guarantee of approximately $3.2 million, 
• charges related to reserves for amounts due from customers of approximately $2.8 million in all 

four segments, 
• approximately $2.2 million of severance charges incurred related to certain reduction in workforce 

initiatives in the RVP, HTP and R-HVAC segments, 
• net foreign exchange losses of approximately $1.5 million related to transactions, including 

intercompany debt not indefinitely invested in Nortek’s subsidiaries, 
• advisory fees related to the Company’s analysis of its capital structure of approximately $0.9 

million, and 
• a gain of approximately $0.3 million from the sale of a manufacturing facility in the RVP segment. 

 
(2) EBITDA for the six months of 2008 includes: 

• fees and expenses recorded in connection with the settlement of a dispute with one of its former 
suppliers of approximately $4.7 million in the HTP segment, 

• a gain of approximately $2.5 million from the sale of a manufacturing facility in the RVP segment,  
• net foreign exchange gains of approximately $1.4 million related to transactions, including 

intercompany debt not indefinitely invested in Nortek’s subsidiaries, and 
• costs and expenses incurred in the RVP segment in connection with the start up of a range hood 

facility in Mexico of approximately $1.4 million. 
 

(3) Interest expense for the six months of 2009 includes cash interest of approximately $71.0 million and non-
cash interest of approximately $5.0 million.  Interest expense for the six months of 2008 includes cash 
interest of approximately $55.4 million and non-cash interest of approximately $3.3 million. 
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Inflation, Trends and General Considerations 
 
From time to time, the Company has evaluated and expects to continue to evaluate possible acquisition 
transactions and the possible dispositions of certain of its businesses on an ongoing basis and at any given time 
may be engaged in discussions or negotiations with respect to possible acquisitions or dispositions.  The Company 
does not expect to consummate any acquisitions in 2009. 
 
The demand for the Company’s products is seasonal, particularly in the Northeast and Midwest regions of the 
United States where inclement weather during the winter months usually reduces the level of building and 
remodeling activity in both the home improvement and new construction markets.  The Company’s lower sales 
levels usually occur during the first and fourth quarters.  Since a high percentage of the Company’s manufacturing 
overhead and operating expenses are relatively fixed throughout the year, operating income and net earnings tend 
to be lower in quarters with lower sales levels.  In addition, the demand for cash to fund the working capital of 
Nortek’s subsidiaries is greater from late in the first quarter until early in the fourth quarter. 
 
The severe impact of the worldwide crisis in the credit and financial markets in the second half of 2008 and the first 
half of 2009, the instability in the troubled mortgage market, rising unemployment and decreasing home values 
have had a negative impact on residential new construction activity, consumer disposable income and spending on 
home remodeling and repair expenditures.  Total industry housing starts in the United States declined 46% and 
48% in the second quarter and six months of 2009, respectively, over the same periods of 2008, while residential 
improvement spending increased 3% in the second quarter of 2009 and declined 2% in the six months of 2009 over 
the same periods of 2008.  In addition, industry central air conditioning and heat pump shipments declined 15% and 
18% in the second quarter and six months of 2009, respectively, over the same periods of 2008.  These factors 
have had an adverse effect on the Company’s operating results for the first half of 2009 and are expected to 
continue throughout the remainder of 2009.   
 
During 2008, and continuing into the first half of 2009, the Company instituted cost reduction measures by 
implementing initiatives to significantly reduce discretionary spending and achieve reductions in workforce across 
all of its businesses given the rapidly changing and challenging economic environment.  As a result of these 
initiatives, the Company expects to reduce expense levels by an amount between $50 million and $60 million in 
2009 over 2008 levels, of which the Company estimates approximately $19.7 million and $39.5 million in cost 
reductions were achieved during the second quarter and first half of 2009, respectively, as compared to the same 
periods of 2008.  The Company’s total selling, general and administrative expense, net was approximately $22.7 
million and $40.2 million lower, while overhead expense, including freight costs, charged to cost of products sold 
was approximately $25.6 million and $39.0 million lower for the second quarter and first half of 2009, respectively, 
over the same periods of 2008.  These lower expense levels reflect both reductions in spending levels and lower 
expenses, in part, as a result of a decline in sales volume.  There can be no assurance that these cost reduction 
measures will continue to be successful. 
 
The Company is subject to the effects of changing prices and the impact of inflation which could have a significant 
adverse effect on its results of operations for the periods presented.  In some circumstances, market conditions or 
customer expectations may prevent the Company from increasing the prices of its products to offset the inflationary 
pressures that may increase costs in the future.  During the second quarter and six months of 2009, the Company 
experienced decreased material costs as compared to the same periods of 2008 related primarily to purchases of 
steel, copper and aluminum and related purchased components, such as compressors and fans/blowers.  
Additionally, during the six months of 2009, the Company experienced decreased freight costs primarily due to 
decreased fuel surcharges as compared to the same period of 2008.  Continued strategic sourcing initiatives and 
improvements in manufacturing efficiency, as well as sales price increases, help to mitigate fluctuations in these 
costs. 
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As of July 4, 2009, approximately 7.6% of the Company’s workforce was subject to various collective bargaining 
agreements.   
 
On August 17, 2009, the Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary Cleanpak International, Inc. announced plans to shut 
down manufacturing operations at its Clackamas, Oregon plant, including termination of all 163 workers, and to 
relocate such operations to the Huntair, Inc. plant in Tualatin, Oregon.  The Company will be meeting with the Sheet 
Metal Workers Local 16 Union to discuss the effects of the plant shutdown.  It is anticipated that the manufacturing 
operations at Clackamas will cease by the end of 2009.  The costs of the shutdown, including any severance, 
relocation expenses and facility lease costs are estimated to be between $3.0 million and $4.0 million and have not 
been reflected in the Company’s Unaudited Financial Statements as of or for the periods ended July 4, 2009. 
 
A work stoppage at one of the Company’s facilities that lasts for a significant period of time could cause the 
Company to lose sales, incur increased costs and adversely affect its ability to meet customers’ needs.  A plant 
shutdown or a substantial modification to a collective bargaining agreement could result in material gains or losses 
or the recognition of an asset impairment.  As agreements expire and until negotiations are completed, the 
Company does not know whether it will be able to negotiate collective bargaining agreements on the same or more 
favorable terms as the current agreements or at all and without production interruptions, including labor stoppages.   
 
Market Risk 
 
As discussed more specifically below, the Company is exposed to market risks related to changes in interest rates, 
foreign currencies and commodity pricing.  The Company does not use derivative financial instruments, except, on 
a limited basis to periodically mitigate certain economic exposures.  The Company does not enter into derivative 
financial instruments or other financial instruments for trading purposes. 
 
A. Interest Rate Risk 
 
The Company is exposed to market risk from changes in interest rates primarily through its investing and borrowing 
activities.  In addition, the Company’s ability to finance future acquisition transactions may be impacted if the 
Company is unable to obtain appropriate financing at acceptable interest rates. 
 
The Company’s investing strategy, to manage interest rate exposure, is to invest in short-term, highly liquid 
investments and marketable securities.  Short-term investments primarily consist of federal agency discount notes, 
treasury bills and bank issued money market instruments with original maturities of 90 days or less.  At July 4, 
2009, the fair value of the Company’s unrestricted and restricted investments and marketable securities was not 
materially different from their cost basis. 
 
The Company manages its borrowing exposure to changes in interest rates by optimizing the use of fixed rate debt 
with extended maturities.  At July 4, 2009, approximately 88.8% of the carrying value of the Company’s long-term 
debt was at fixed interest rates.  The remaining portion of the Company’s long-term debt is at variable interest rates.  
Based upon interest rates in effect at July 4, 2009, an overall unfavorable change in interest rates of 100 basis 
points would result in an additional charge to interest expense for the remaining six months of 2009 of 
approximately $0.9 million. 
 
B. Foreign Currency Risk 
 
The Company’s results of operations are affected by fluctuations in the value of the U.S. dollar as compared to the 
value of currencies in foreign markets primarily related to changes in the Euro, the Canadian Dollar and the British 
Pound.  In the six months of 2009, the net impact of changes in foreign currency exchange rates was not material to 
the Company’s financial condition or results of operations.  The impact of changes in foreign currency exchange 
rates related to translation resulted in an increase in stockholder’s investment of approximately $5.5 million and 
$3.8 million for the second quarter and six months of 2009, respectively.  The Company manages its exposure to 
foreign currency exchange risk principally by trying to minimize the Company’s net investment in foreign assets, 
including, the use of strategic short and long-term borrowings at the foreign subsidiary level.  Consistent with this 
strategy, notes payable and other short-term obligations at July 4, 2009 consist primarily of short-term borrowings 
by certain of the Company’s foreign subsidiaries.  The Company generally does not enter into derivative financial 
instruments to manage foreign currency exposure.  At July 4, 2009, the Company did not have any significant 
outstanding foreign currency hedging contracts. 
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C. Commodity Pricing Risk 
 
The Company is subject to significant market risk with respect to the pricing of its principal raw materials, which 
include, among others, steel, copper, aluminum, plate mirror glass, various chemicals, paints, plastics, motors and 
compressors.  If prices of these raw materials were to increase dramatically, the Company may not be able to pass 
such increases on to its customers and, as a result, gross margins could decline significantly.  The Company 
manages its exposure to commodity pricing risk by continuing to diversify its product mix, strategic buying programs 
and vendor partnering.  
 
The Company generally does not enter into derivative financial instruments to manage commodity-pricing exposure.  
At July 4, 2009, the Company did not have any material outstanding commodity forward contracts. 
 
Forward-Looking Statements 
 
This document contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform 
Act of 1995.  When used in this discussion and throughout this document, words, such as “intends”, “plans”, 
“estimates”, “believes”, “anticipates” and “expects” or similar expressions are intended to identify forward-looking 
statements. These statements are based on the Company’s current plans and expectations and involve risks and 
uncertainties, over which the Company has no control, that could cause actual future activities and results of 
operations to be materially different from those set forth in the forward-looking statements.  Important factors that 
could cause actual future activities and operating results to differ include the availability and cost of certain raw 
materials, (including, among others, steel, copper, packaging materials, plastics and aluminum) and purchased 
components, the level of domestic and foreign construction and remodeling activity affecting residential and 
commercial markets, interest rates, employment, inflation, foreign currency fluctuations, consumer spending levels, 
exposure to foreign economies, the rate of sales growth, price, and product and warranty liability claims. Readers 
are cautioned not to place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements, which speak only as of the date 
hereof.  The Company undertakes no obligation to update publicly any forward-looking statements, whether as a 
result of new information, future events or otherwise.  All subsequent written and oral forward-looking statements 
attributable to the Company or persons acting on its behalf are expressly qualified in their entirety by these 
cautionary statements.  Readers are also urged to carefully review and consider the various disclosures made by 
the Company, in this document, as well as the Company’s periodic reports on Forms 10-K, 10-Q and 8-K, filed with 
the SEC. 
 
Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk 
 
Quantitative and qualitative disclosure about market risk is set forth in Management’s Discussion and Analysis of 
Financial Condition and Results of Operations – Market Risk. 
 
Item 4. Controls and Procedures 
 
As of the end of the period covered by this report, the Company carried out an evaluation, under the supervision 
and with the participation of the Company’s management, including the Company’s Chairman and Chief Executive 
Officer along with the Company’s Vice President and Chief Financial Officer and the Company’s Corporate 
Disclosure and Controls Committee, of the effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures as 
defined in Rule 13a–15e and 15d-15e under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.  Based upon that 
evaluation, the Company’s Chairman and Chief Executive Officer along with the Company’s Vice President and 
Chief Financial Officer concluded that as of the end of such period, the Company’s disclosure controls and 
procedures are effective to ensure that information relating to the Company (including its consolidated subsidiaries) 
required to be disclosed in the Company’s periodic SEC filings is recorded, processed, summarized and reported 
within the time periods specified by the SEC’s rules and forms.  There have been no significant changes in the 
Company’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the period covered by this report that have 
materially affected, or that are reasonably likely to materially affect the Company’s internal control over financial 
reporting. 
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PART II.  OTHER INFORMATION 

 
Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds 
 
The Company and its subsidiaries, affiliates or significant shareholders may from time to time, in their 
sole discretion, purchase, repay, redeem or retire any of the Company’s outstanding debt (including 
publicly issued debt), in privately negotiated or open market transactions, by tender offer or otherwise. 
 
Item 5. Other Information 
 
The Company and its lenders amended the ABL Facility (the “Amendment”) to eliminate the requirement 
that Nortek represent that it is solvent, as defined, when requesting new borrowings under the ABL facility 
effective as of July 4, 2009, and when providing the quarterly compliance certificate effective as of May 
20, 2008.  The Amendment also provides that the proceeds of any future borrowings under the ABL 
Facility must be used to primarily fund operating expenses and liabilities of Nortek’s operating 
subsidiaries.  The Company has been and continues to be in compliance with the terms of the ABL 
Facility.   
 
Item 6. Exhibits  
 
The items marked with an asterisk are filed herewith. 
 
 3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Nortek, Inc. (Exhibit 3.1 to Nortek 

Form S-4 filed October 22, 2004). 
   
 3.2 By-Laws of Nortek, Inc. (Exhibit 3.2 to Nortek Form S-4 filed October 22, 2004). 
   
 3.3 Certificate of Incorporation of NTK Holdings (Exhibit 3.1 to NTK Holdings S-4 filed July 5, 

2005). 
   
 3.4 By-Laws of NTK Holdings, Inc. (Exhibit 3.2 to NTK Holdings S-4 filed July 5, 2005). 
   
* 10.1 Collateral Agreement dated as of May 20, 2008 among Nortek, Inc., the Guarantors and 

U.S. Bank National Association, as Collateral Agent. 
   
* 10.2 Lien Subordination and Intercreditor Agreement dated as of May 20, 2008, among Bank of 

America, N.A., as Collateral Agent, U.S. Bank National Association, as Trustee and 
Noteholder Collateral Agent, Nortek, Inc. and the Subsidiaries of Nortek, Inc. named 
therein. 

   
* 10.3 U.S. Guaranty dated as of May 20, 2008 from the Guarantors named therein and the 

Additional Guarantors referred to therein as Guarantors in favor of the Secured Parties 
referred to in the Credit Agreement referred to therein. 

   
* 10.4 U.S. Security Agreement dated as of May 20, 2008 by Nortek, Inc., the other Persons 

listed on the signatures pages thereof and the Additional Guarantors, to Bank of America, 
N.A., as administrative agent. 

   
* 10.5 Amendment No. 1 to the Credit Agreement, dated as of August 21, 2009, among Nortek, 

Inc., Ventrol Air Handling Systems, Inc., the other borrowers named therein, Bank of 
America, N.A., as Administrative Agent, Collateral Agent, U.S. Swing Line Lender and U.S. 
L/C Issuer, Bank of America, N.A. (acting through its Canada Branch), as Canadian Swing 
Line Lender and Canadian L/C Issuer, the other Lenders Party thereto. 
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* 31.1 Certificate of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 

2002. 
   
* 31.2 Certificate of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 

2002. 
   
* 32 Certificate of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Section 1350, 

Chapter 63 of Title 18, United States Code, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the 
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. 
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SIGNATURE 
 
 
 
 

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this 
report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized. 
 
 
 NORTEK, INC. 
 (Registrant) 
 
 
 
 
 /s/ Almon C. Hall  

Almon C. Hall,  
Authorized Officer, Vice President, Chief 
Financial Officer and Chief Accounting Officer 

 
 
 
 
 
August 24, 2009 
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